

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW APPLICATION

STAFF CONTACT Myers	For Office Use Only PROJECT NO(S). CUP-21-02, DR-2	1-04, WRG-21-02,	PRE-APPLICATION NO.
NON-REELINDARIE FEES	VAR-21-06, MISC-21-04, VAR	R-21-01, LLA-21-02	PA-20-15
\$4,100	\$27,250	\$31,3	350
Type of Review (Please check all that apply	y):		
	oric Review	Subdivision (SUB)	
	slative Plan or Change .ine Adjustment (LLA)	Temporary Uses	
X Design Review (DR)	or Partition (MIP) (Preliminary Plat or Pla		
	Conforming Lots, Uses & Structures		a Protection/Single Lot (WAP)
	ned Unit Development (PUD) Application Conference (PA)		ea Protection/Wetland (WAP) atin River Greenway (WRG)
	et Vacation	Zone Change	
Hillside Protection & Erosion Control			
Home Occupation, Pre-Application, Sidewalk Us additional application forms, available on the City	e, Sign Review Permit, and Tempor website or at City Hall.	ary Sign Permit applicati	ons require different or
Site Location/Address:		Assessor's Map No.:	21334C 31E34DC
945 Dollar Street		Tax Lot(s): 600 1900 ar	id 1001
		Total Land Area: 22	2.11 acres
Brief Description of Proposal:			
The West Linn-Wilsonville School District prop and seeks concurrent approval of a Type III C			
A pplication	onutional Ose Fermit, Design Nev	new Application, valian	ce, and Lot Consolidation
Applicant Name: West Linn-Wilsonville Sch (please print)	ool District	Phone 503-673	-7988
Address: 2755 SW Borland Road		Email: douglasr	@wlwv.k12.or.us
City State Zip: Tualatin, OR 97062			
Owner Name (required): West Linn-Wilsonvil (please print)	le School District	Phone 503-673	3-7988
Address: 2755 SW Borland Road		Email: douglasr	@wlwv.k12.or.us
City State Zip: Tualatin, OR 97062			
Consultant Name: 3J Consulting, Inc.		Phone 503-94	6-9365 x211
Address: 9600 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite	100	Email: mercede	s.serra@3j-consulting.con
City State Zip: Beaverton, OR 97008			
1.All application fees are non-refundable (ex	cluding deposit). Any overruns to	o deposit will result in	additional billing.
2. The owner/applicant or their representativ			and a
3.A decision may be reversed on appeal. No 4.One complete hard-copy set of application			rea.
One complete digital set of application m			ormat.
If large sets of plans are required in appli	cation please submit one set.		
The undersigned property owner(s) hereby authors	orizes the filing of this application, an	d authorizes on site revie	w by authorized staff. I
hereby agree to comply with all code requirement			
complete submittal. All amendments to the Com approved shall be enforced where applicable. Ap			
in place at the time of the initial application.	seq		β
	$\left(\right) $		3-17-21
Applicant's signature	Date Owner's si	gnature (required)	Date
		Received 3/18/21	
		by LSchroder	





IBI

kpff w∣M





ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL DOLLAR STREET | WEST LINN, OREGON

APPLICANT'S REPRESENTATIVE

3] CONSULTING, INC. 9600 NW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100 **BEAVERTON, OR 97008** CONTACT: MERCEDES SERRA PHONE: (503) 946-9365

OWNER | APPLICANT:

WEST LINN-WILSONVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT 2755 SW BORLAND ROAD TUALATIN, OR 97062 CONTACT: REMO DOUGLAS PHONE: (503) 673-7988

APPLICATION TYPE

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT **TYPE II DESIGN REVIEW CLASS II VARIANCES**

SUBMITTAL DATE

MARCH 18, 2021



To: Chris Myers, Associate Planner, City of West Linn

From: Remo Douglas, Capital Construction Program Manager

Subject: Proposed Athey Creek Middle School at 840/945 Dollar Street Conditional Use Permit

Date: April 30,2021

The West Linn – Wilsonville School District proposes the construction of an 850 student middle school on District-Owned property in West Linn.

On August 5th, 2019, having considered safety advisory committee recommendations, high school study group recommendations, enrollment projections and bond summit feedback, the West Linn – Wilsonville School District Board of Directors adopted Board Resolution #2019-2. This resolution directed staff to file for a measure election. West Linn – Wilsonville voters approved Measure #3-554 in the November 5, 2019 election. The text provided to voters included: "Construct an enlarged Athey Creek Middle School on District-owned property in West Linn to meet enrollment needs". The community supported the expenditure of public funds to pursue this project and the selected property offers the only suitably sized site that will fulfill this mandate set by the voters.

The 2019 Capital Bond Program not only included the construction of this proposed new Athey Creek Middle School on Dollar Street, but also contemplated the following benefits: addressing excess enrollment at the high school level, including West Linn High School, and providing unique educational programming. The District committed to voters that it will "Relocate and expand Arts and Technology High School to the Athey Creek Middle School site". The students drawn to this new Third Option High School at the existing Athey Creek Middle School building on Borland Road, with its unique program pathways, will relieve enrollment pressure on the two comprehensive high schools.

The proposed new Athey Creek Middle School on Dollar Street will bring a second middle school to West Linn, within walking and biking distance of many students. That will match the two middle schools serving Wilsonville. The new Third Option High School (at the existing Athey Creek Middle School on Borland Road) will provide a central third school at the high school level, in the same way that Athey Creek did for middle schools for many years. The third high school will also be well positioned in the event that development expands into the central area of the District in the coming decades.

Further, this is not the first time that this property has been considered for use as a middle school. In 1994, the City Planning Commission granted conditional use approval for a middle school on this property. However, due in part to the location of the then-new Athey Creek Middle School and the areas targeted for development by the City, the location of Rosemont Ridge Middle School was deemed preferable and the approval was denied on appeal. The site is suitable in 2020 for multiple reasons, including improved infrastructure in the area and the balance of middle schools across the District. A



more complete history of this decision is provided in a response to question 1 of 129 from the Frequently Asked Questions document in Appendix C of this application, which was posted to the District website. Additional context for the siting of the new middle school, and other aspects of the application, is provided throughout the land use narrative and the 129 community questions answered.

This project location, siting and design represents the culmination of years of study and community conversation. The District's 2019 Long Range Facilities Plan, included in Appendix D of this application, describes the basis for the selection of projects for construction. A brief outline of this document, which is broken into two parts, is provided below:

"Part 1 – West Linn-Wilsonville School District Long Range Plan" provides a summary of the District's framework for facilities planning in three sections:

- A FRAMEWORK FOR EXCELLENCE: Describes the values, themes and educational needs and approaches that are the basis of facility planning and maintenance decisions.
- B SCHOOL FACILITIES: Identifies the existing school capacity, potential growth and educational trends and factors that could impact the future facility needs.
- C CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS: Outlines the capital improvement planning process and identifies criteria for identifying future capital improvement projects.

"Part 2 – West Linn-Wilsonville School District Capital Improvement Program" supports consideration of a capital bond measure in the near future by providing background information relating to issues facing the District over the next 10-years and the potential improvements that could address them. The report is organized to answer four questions:

- OVERVIEW: What is the District's mission, what are the challenges, and what is the Capital Improvement Program?
- EXCELLENCE IN EDUCATION: Why does the District's goal for excellence in education serve as the basis for the Capital Improvement Program?
- CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLANNING PROCESS: How is the Capital Improvement Program developed and how will the proposed projects support the District's commitment to excellence?
- CAPITAL PROJECTS LIST AND NEXT STEPS: When will the Capital Improvement Program projects be prioritized and implemented?

The design process included community outreach, student feedback, staff and administrator conversations and study of lessons learned from recent school projects in the area. It was led by a dedicated team of construction, architecture, engineering, education and land use professionals.

The six community meetings are listed below by date, and host organization:

- January 8, 2020 Willamette Falls Neighborhood Association
- May 14, 2020 West Linn Wilsonville School District
- June 25, 2020 West Linn Wilsonville School District
- October 20, 2020 West Linn Wilsonville School District
- November 18, 2020 Willamette Falls Neighborhood Association
- January 27, 2021 West Linn Wilsonville School District

Department of Operations 503-673-7977 • www.wlwv.k12.or.us 2755 SW Borland Road, Tualatin, Oregon 97062



Conceptual drawings were not presented until the third community meeting to provide the opportunity to hear from the community before narrowing the design options. This was in direct response to community feedback received during and after the January 8, 2020 meeting. The District considered the feedback received alongside the needs for the school and regulatory requirements as the conceptual plan solidified over the rest of the year. Specialty consultants were brought in to address technical topics at select meetings. Numerous details in the design are direct responses to the feedback received, including:

- Traffic calming measures
- Lowering the building
- Lowering site improvements
- Pickup/drop-off drive location
- Pickup/drop-off zone capacity
- Vehicle queueing capacity on site
- Parking lot locations
- Retaining and replacing trees

- Native plantings
- Balancing retaining walls, slopes
- Setback distances
- Vegetative buffering
- Fencing along Dollar Street
- Traditional building exterior
- Personal scale at entries
- "Homestead" feel at entries

The design was further informed by a variety of supporting technical studies included in this application, which have also been made publicly available on the District website. The technical reports confirm the suitability of the site and proposed improvements, and are found in Appendix D of the application:

- Exhibit 10: Transportation Impact Study, DKS and Associates October 21, 2020
- Exhibit 11: Supplemental Traffic Memo, DKS and Associates January 27, 2021
- Exhibit 12: Preliminary Drainage Report, KPFF Consulting January 2021
- Exhibit 13: Geotechnical Report, GeoDesign Inc. October 20, 2020
- Exhibit 14: Phase 1 Environmental Report, PBS, April 2019
- Exhibit 15: Phase 2 Environmental Report, PBS, August 2020
- Exhibit 16: Soil Management Recommendation Memo, PBS, September 28, 2020
- Exhibit 17: Natural Resource Review, Pacific Habitat Services, March 16, 2021
- Exhibit 18: Bald Eagle and Raptor Assessment, Pacific Habitat Services, August 27, 2020
- Exhibit 19: Pacific Resource Group Arborist Report, March 5, 2021
- Exhibit 20: Listen Acoustics Noise Study Memo, February 25, 2021
- Exhibit 21: West Linn-Wilsonville Long Range Facilities Plan 2019 Edition

In addition to these more formal community engagement efforts, a series of 35 listening sessions were held with individual neighbors wishing to speak in a smaller setting. In March 2021, I personally knocked on the door of each residence directly adjacent to or directly across Dollar Street from the subject property. I spoke with each neighbor that answered their door if they wished, listening to concerns and answering questions they still had regarding the proposed project. I also left a copy of a letter offering to set a time to speak individually them. The majority of the neighbors that responded were supportive of the project. Lastly, at the request of a few of these community members the District posted an online survey for feedback regarding the proposed planting plan. The results served as the basis for modest adjustments in response.

The proposed design directly benefits the neighborhood and West Linn – Wilsonville community. Restoring the connection between Willamette Falls Drive and Dollar Street provides improved access for



emergency responders as well as additional egress for the neighborhood. The existing Athey Creek Middle School on Borland Road has no Safe Routes to School due to unimproved county roads. The proposed project will bring the school closer to students and includes street improvements along Dollar Street, Willamette Falls Drive and the Brandon Place extension, providing safe access. The application includes a Safe Routes to School Map as part of Exhibit 11 in Appendix D. The map contemplates sidewalk infill opportunities to further expand the Safe Routes to School. District and City staff have traditionally worked together to consider these additional improvements, which are prioritized by City Council.

Each West Linn – Wilsonville school provides a series of amenities available to the community. The proposed playground, track and field and pathways will be available for community use outside of school hours. Spaces within the proposed facility will also be made available for use. These amenities are expected to encourage pursuit of performing and visual arts, STEM, and recreation among other activities.

The documents compiled in this application demonstrate that the proposed project meets all applicable land use criteria, is responsive to community feedback received within the bounds of functional needs and regulatory requirements, and that it provide material benefits to the neighborhood and community. The District looks forward to answering any questions that may arise related to the application.

Table of Contents

GENERAL INFORMATION
SITE INFORMATION5
INTRODUCTION
APPLICANT'S REQUEST
SITE DESCRIPTION/SURROUNDING LAND USE6
PROPOSAL
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING
APPLICABLE CRITERIA9
WEST LINN COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE9
Chapter 11 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DETACHED, R-109
Chapter 28 WILLAMETTE AND TUALATIN RIVER PROTECTION11
Chapter 32 WATER RESOURCE AREA PROTECTION20
Chapter 34 ACCESSORY STRUCTURES, ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS, AND ACCESSORY USES21
Chapter 41 BUILDING HEIGHT, STRUCTURES ON STEEP LOTS, EXCEPTIONS
Chapter 41 BUILDING HEIGHT, STRUCTURES ON STEEP LOTS, EXCEPTIONS
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS24Chapter 44 FENCES24Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS26Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION40Chapter 52 SIGNS47
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS24Chapter 44 FENCES24Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS26Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION40Chapter 52 SIGNS47Chapter 54 LANDSCAPING51
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS24Chapter 44 FENCES24Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS26Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION40Chapter 52 SIGNS47Chapter 54 LANDSCAPING51Chapter 55 DESIGN REVIEW57
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS24Chapter 44 FENCES24Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS26Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION40Chapter 52 SIGNS47Chapter 54 LANDSCAPING51Chapter 55 DESIGN REVIEW57Chapter 60 CONDITIONAL USES85
Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS24Chapter 44 FENCES24Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS26Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION40Chapter 52 SIGNS47Chapter 54 LANDSCAPING51Chapter 55 DESIGN REVIEW57Chapter 60 CONDITIONAL USES85Chapter 75 VARIANCES AND SPECIAL WAIVERS94

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Land Use Application Form

Appendix B – Pre-Application Meeting Notes - November 18, 2020

- Appendix C Neighborhood Meeting Information November 18, 2020
 - Exhibit 1: Certified Letter to Neighborhood Association with Return Receipt
 - Exhibit 2: Letter to Property Owners within 500 Feet
 - Exhibit 3: Affidavit of Mailing Notice
 - Exhibit 4: Mailing List
 - Exhibit 5: Copy of Posted Notice
 - Exhibit 6: Affidavit of Posting Notice
 - Exhibit 7: Willamette Neighborhood Association Meeting Minutes
 - Exhibit 8: Recording of Meeting
 - Exhibit 9: Frequently Asked Questions
- Appendix D Technical Reports
 - Exhibit 10: Transportation Impact Study, DKS and Associates October 21, 2020
 - Exhibit 11: Supplemental Traffic Memo, DKS and Associates January 27, 2021
 - Exhibit 12: Preliminary Drainage Report, KPFF Consulting January 2021
 - Exhibit 13: Geotechnical Report, GeoDesign Inc. October 20, 2020
 - Exhibit 14: Phase 1 Environmental Report, PBS, April 2019
 - Exhibit 15: Phase 2 Environmental Report, PBS, August 2020
 - Exhibit 16: Soil Management Recommendation Memo, PBS, September 28, 2020
 - Exhibit 17: Natural Resource Review, Pacific Habitat Services, March 16, 2021
 - Exhibit 18: Bald Eagle and Raptor Assessment, Pacific Habitat Services, August 27, 2020
 - Exhibit 19: Pacific Resource Group Arborist Report, March 5, 2021
 - Exhibit 20: Listen Acoustics Noise Study Memo, February 25, 2021
 - Exhibit 21: West Linn-Wilsonville Long Range Facilities Plan 2019 Edition

Appendix E – Land Use Plan

Civil Drawings:

LU1.000 Overall Site Analysis and Land Types

LU1.00 Overall Site Analysis

LU1.01-LU1.07 Site Analysis

LU1.10 Overall Site Plan

LU1.11-LU1.17 Site Plan

- LU1.20 Overall Grading and Storm Plan
- LU1.21-LU1.27 Grading and Storm Plan
- LU1.30 Overall Utility Plan

LU1.31-LU1.37 Utility Plan

Landscape Drawings:

LU1001-LU1002 Tree Removal Plan

LU1100 Materials Plan Overall

LU1101-LU1107 Materials Plan

LU1400A Overall Planting Plan

LU1400B Planting Schedule

LU1401-LU1407 Planting Plan

Architectural Drawings:

LU3.01 Floor Plan Level 01

LU3.02 Floor Plan Level 02

LU3.03 Exterior Elevations

LU3.04 Building Sections & Site Plan

LU3.05 PV Canopies & Site Plan

LU3.06 Monument and Building Signage

LU3.07 Exterior Materials

Photometric Drawings:

LU4.01 Light Coverage Plan (Onsite)

LU4.01 Illumination Legend (Offsite)

LU4.02-LU4.06 Illumination Plan (Offsite)

Easement Drawings:

E-1 Easement Map

E-2 Easement Map

GENERAL INFORMATION

Property Owner:	West Linn-Wilsonville School District 2755 SW Borland Rd Tualatin, OR 97062 Contact: Remo Douglas Phone: 503-673-7988 Email: douglasr@wlwv.k12.or.us
Planning Consultant:	3J Consulting, Inc. 9600 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 100 Beaverton, OR 97008 Contact: Mercedes Serra Phone: 503-946-9365 x211 Email: mercedes.serra@3j-consulting.com
Architect:	IBI Group 907 SW Harvey Milk Street Portland, OR 97205 Contact: Jim Fitzpatrick Phone: 503-226-6950 Email: jim.fitzpatrick@IBIGroup.com
Civil Engineer:	KPFF Consulting 111 SE Fifth Avenue, Suite 2500 Portland, Oregon 97204 Contact: Mark Wharry Phone: 503-542-3860 Email: mark.wharry@kpff.com
Landscape Architect:	Walker Macy 111 SW Oak Street, Suite 200 Portland, OR 97204 Contact: Mike Zilis Phone: 503-228-3122 Email: mzilis@walkermacy.com

SITE INFORMATION

Parcel Numbers:	21E34C00600, 21E34DC00900 and 21E34DC01001
Address:	945 Dollar Street
Gross Site Area:	22.11 acres
Zoning Designation:	Single Family R10
Existing Use:	Vacant
Surrounding Zoning:	The properties to the north are zoned R10, R7 and NC. The properties to the east are zoned R10 and R4.5. The properties to the south are zoned R10, R20 and R-5.
Street Classification:	Willamette Falls Drive is classified as a minor arterial. Dollar Street is classified as a local street.

INTRODUCTION

APPLICANT'S REQUEST

The West Linn-Wilsonville School District ("the District") proposes to construct a new Athey Creek Middle School on the Dollar Street property and seeks concurrent approval of a Type III Conditional Use Permit, Design Review Application, Variance, and Lot Consolidation Application. This narrative has been prepared to describe the proposed development and to document compliance with the relevant sections of West Linn's Community Development Code (CDC). This narrative describes the proposed development and demonstrates compliance with the relevant approval standards of West Linn's Community Development Code ("CDC")

A Conditional Use Permit application and a Design Review application are evaluated under the Type III quasi-judicial decision process. The City's Planning Commission will render the Type III decision after a public hearing on the application is held.

SITE DESCRIPTION/SURROUNDING LAND USE

The proposed middle school will be located at 945 Dollar Street within the City of West Linn (the "City"). The site consists of three tax lots 21E34C00600, 21E34DC00900 and 21E34DC01001. The site is approximately 22.11 acres in gross size and is zoned Single Family R-10. The site has frontage on Dollar Street to the north, a local street. To the south, the site has frontage on Willamette Drive, a minor arterial street. The site generally slopes from Dollar Street to the southwest.

The properties to the north of Dollar Street are zoned Single-Family R-10, Single-Family R-7 and Neighborhood Commercial NC and developed with residential homes. The properties to the west are located in unincorporated Clackamas County and zoned RRFF-5. The properties to the east are zoned Single-Family R-4.5 and Single-Family R-10 and developed with residential homes. The properties to the south of Willamette Drive are zoned Single-Family R-5, Single-Family R-10, Single-Family R-20 and developed with residential homes and Fields Bridge Park.

PROPOSAL

The West Linn-Wilsonville School District is proposing to construct a new 110,972 square-foot middle school on the District's vacant 22.11-acre Dollar Street site. The project was approved by District voters under Ballot Measure #3-554. The new facility will relocate the existing Athey Creek Middle School currently located in unincorporated Clackamas County.

The new school building will have 25 standard classrooms and capacity for 850 students and staff. The proposed building will be two stories in height with a maximum height of 48 feet. The building has been designed to step down with the natural topography of the site. Site improvements will include both a west and east entry plaza, soft and hard surface play areas, a running track, a turf athletic field, and outdoor learning areas. Staff parking and bus loading will be accessed from Dollar Street and will be located southeast of the building. Visitor Parking will be accessed from a newly

6 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

constructed extension of Brandon Place and will be located west of the building. A total of 186 parking stalls will be provided on site. Pedestrian pathways will connect the main school building with site facilities and surrounding pedestrian infrastructure. The site will include pedestrian level lighting within the parking lot and around the building for safety. The track and field will also include LED lighting for sporting and special events.

The proposed development will include frontage and offsite improvements to Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. An extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive, consistent with the West Linn's 2016 Transportation System Plan is proposed to meet the City's access standards. A roundabout is proposed at the new intersection of Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place. Sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension of Brandon Place will include sidewalks on both sides, providing a pedestrian connection between Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. There will also be a path constructed off of Brandon Place to provide connection to the City walking path below Fields Bridge, to the park. Other offsite improvements include frontage improvements on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive, including pavement replacement, planter strips and street trees.

As part of the proposed development, the District is proposing to consolidate the three tax lots that property is comprised of into a single tax lot.

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

In accordance with the Governor's Executive Order 20-12 requiring social distancing, a web-based virtual meeting was held with neighboring property owners within 500 feet of the site and members of the Willamette Neighborhood Association. Included within this application is a copy of the certified letter sent to the neighborhood association board members, a copy of the return mail receipts, a copy of the letter sent to neighbors, a mailing list, a copy of the required posting, affidavits of mailing and posting, the neighborhood association meeting minutes, and an audiotape of the meeting. In addition to the required notices, the District posted notice of the meeting on the District website and distributed notice to the project's ListServ email list. The ListServ currently has 442 subscribers.

The required neighborhood meeting was held November 18th, 2020. This was the fifth of six total community meetings held regarding the project. In addition to these meetings, 35 listening sessions were held with community members that requested them. The presentations, recordings and technical studies discussed in the community meetings were made publicly available on the District website. The question and answer page for the project addresses 129 questions raised by community members during community meetings, listening sessions and through online surveys posted after community meetings.

Community Meetings:

Community Meeting #1 held on January 8, 2020 with Willamette Falls Neighborhood Association Community Meeting #2 held on May 14, 2020 Community Meeting #3 held on June 25, 2020 Community Meeting #4 held on October 20, 2020 Community Meeting #5 held on November 18, 2020 with Willamette Falls Neighborhood Association Community Meeting #6 held on January 27, 2021

APPLICABLE CRITERIA

The following sections of West Linn's Community Development Code have been extracted as they have been deemed to be applicable to the proposal. Following each **bold** applicable criteria or design standard, the Applicant has provided a series of draft findings. The intent of providing code and detailed responses and findings is to document, with absolute certainty, that the proposed development has satisfied the approval criteria for a Type III Conditional Use Permit, Design Review Application, and Lot Consolidation.

WEST LINN COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CODE

DIVISION 2. ZONING PROVISIONS

Chapter 11 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DETACHED, R-10

11.060 CONDITIONAL USES

The following are conditional uses which may be allowed in this zoning district subject to the provisions of Chapter 60 CDC, Conditional Uses.

7. Schools.

Finding: Schools are conditional use, subject to the conditional use standards of CDC Chapter 60. Chapter 60 is addressed below.

11.070 DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS, USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT AND USES PERMITTED UNDER PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS

Except as may be otherwise provided by the provisions of this code, the following are the requirements for uses within this zone:

- 1. The minimum lot size shall be 10,000 square feet for a single-family detached unit.
- 2. The minimum front lot line length or the minimum lot width at the front lot line shall be 35 feet.
- 3. The average minimum lot width shall be 50 feet.
- 4. Repealed by Ord. 1622.
- **Finding:** The minimum lot size for conditional uses per CDC 11.080 shall be determined by the approval authority at the time of consideration of the application based on the criteria in CDC 60.070 (A) and (B). Chapter 60 has been addressed within this narrative. As a result, the requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed conditional use.
 - 5. Except as specified in CDC 25.070(C)(1) through (4) for the Willamette Historic District, the minimum yard dimensions or minimum building setback area from the lot line shall be:
 - a. For the front yard, 20 feet; except for steeply sloped lots where the provisions of CDC 41.010 shall apply.
 - b. For an interior side yard, seven and one-half feet.

c. For a side yard abutting a street, 15 feet.

d. For a rear yard, 20 feet.

Finding: The minimum setback and yard requirements of this section have been met by the proposed development. The City considers public schools to be government buildings. Government buildings have additional applicable setback and yard provisions under CDC Chapter 41.040.B. The provisions of CDC 41.040 have been addressed within this narrative.

6. The maximum building height shall be 35 feet, except for steeply sloped lots in which case the provisions of Chapter 41 CDC shall apply.

Finding: The City considers public schools to be government buildings. Government buildings have a maximum building height of 50 feet per the provisions of CDC 41.040. The provisions of CDC 41.040 have been addressed within this narrative. As a result, the requirements of this provision are not applicable.

7. The maximum lot coverage shall be 35 percent.

Finding: The City's definition of lot coverage is the area covered by a building or buildings. The subject site has a total net area of 932,184 square feet. The building lot coverage of the site is 77,670 square feet. The total lot coverage of the site is 8.3 percent. The extension of Brandon Place will create a small area of the site west of Brandon Place which will not be developed. Excluding this area from the lot coverage standards, the total site area is 914,760 square feet. The building lot coverage of the site is 77,670 square feet. The total lot coverage of the site is 8.5 percent. The building lot coverage is provided on the Building Sections & Site Plan (Sheet LU3.04). This standard is met.

8. The minimum width of an accessway to a lot which does not abut a street or a flag lot shall be 15 feet.

Finding: The subject site is not flag lot. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

- 9. The maximum floor area ratio shall be 0.45. Type I and II lands shall not be counted toward lot area when determining allowable floor area ratio, except that a minimum floor area ratio of 0.30 shall be allowed regardless of the classification of lands within the property. That 30 percent shall be based upon the entire property including Type I and II lands. Existing residences in excess of this standard may be replaced to their prior dimensions when damaged without the requirement that the homeowner obtain a non-conforming structures permit under Chapter 66 CDC.
- **Finding:** The total net area of the site is 932,184 square feet or 21.4 acres. A total area of 3.6 acres of Type I and II lands have been mapped on the site, excluding the area of Type I and II lands within the right-of-way dedication areas. Type I, II, III and IV lands have been mapped on the site and have been shown on the Overall Site Analysis Land Types Plan (Sheet LU1.000) included under Appendix E.

The total lot area for the purpose of the floor area ratio calculation is 775,368 square feet. The total building floor area is 110,972 square feet. Based on the area of the site and the building, the FAR is 0.14, which does not exceed the maximum allowed. The FAR is provided on the Building Sections & Site Plan (Sheet LU3.04). The requirements of this section have been met.

10. The sidewall provisions of Chapter 43 CDC shall apply.

Finding: While the provisions listed in Chapter 43 CDC are specific to residential homes, the design of the proposed elevations is subject to the provisions of Chapter 55, which has been addressed within this narrative. Several steps have been utilized to reduce bulk of the school and the impact of the sidewall elevations of the school on surrounding homes. These include setbacks exceeding 20 feet on all sides, the use of projections and recessions, roof plane changes, material changes, and a planted buffer area along the frontage of Dollar Street.

11.080 DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS, CONDITIONAL USES

Except as may otherwise be established by this code, the appropriate lot or parcel size for a conditional use shall be determined by the approval authority at the time of consideration of the application based upon the criteria set forth in CDC 60.070(A) and (B).

Finding: Schools are conditional use in the R-10 zone. The criteria in CDC 60.070 (A) and (B). Chapter 60 has been addressed within this narrative.

Chapter 28 WILLAMETTE AND TUALATIN RIVER PROTECTION

28.030 APPLICABILITY

A. The Willamette and Tualatin River Protection Area is an overlay zone. The zone boundaries are identified on the City's zoning map, and include:

- 1. All land within the City of West Linn's Willamette River Greenway Area.
- 2. All land within 200 feet of the ordinary low water mark of the Tualatin River, and all land within the 100-year floodplain of the Tualatin River.
- 3. In addition to the Willamette Greenway and Tualatin River Protection Area boundaries, this chapter also relies on the HCA Map to delineate where development should or should not occur. Specifically, the intent is to keep out of, or minimize disturbance of, the habitat conservation areas (HCAs). Therefore, if all, or any part, of a lot or parcel is in the Willamette Greenway and Tualatin River Protection Area boundaries, and there are HCAs on the lot or parcel, a Willamette and Tualatin River Protection Area permit shall be required unless the development proposal is exempt per CDC 28.040.

B. At the confluence of a stream or creek with either the Tualatin or Willamette River, the standards of this chapter shall apply only to those portions of the lot or parcel fronting the river. Meanwhile, development in those portions of the property facing or adjacent to the stream or creek shall meet the transition, setbacks and other provisions of Chapter 32 CDC, Water Resource Area Protection.

C. All uses permitted under the provisions of the underlying base zone and within the Willamette and Tualatin River Protection Area zone are allowed in the manner prescribed by the base zone subject to applying for and obtaining a permit issued under the provisions of this chapter unless specifically exempted per CDC 28.040.

D. The construction of a structure in the HCA or the expansion of a structure into the HCA when the new intrusion is closer to the protected water feature than the pre-existing structure.

Finding: In accordance with WLCDC 28.030(A)(2), All land within 200 feet of the ordinary low water mark of the Tualatin River, and all land within the 100-year floodplain of the Tualatin River are within the Tualatin River Protection Area. PHS mapped the ordinary high-water mark of the Tualatin River adjacent to the project area. A 200' foot buffer was applied to the ordinary high-water mark to determine the Tualatin River Protection Area within the project site. The Tualatin River protection area is portrayed on Figure 5 within the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17). A total of 10,980 sf of the protection area will be impacted to facilitate the construction of the school campus.

28.090 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS: APPLICATION

A. An application for a protection area permit shall be initiated by the property owner or the owner's authorized agent. Evidence shall be provided to demonstrate that the applicant has the legal right to use the land above the OLW. The property owner's signature is required on the application form.

B. A prerequisite to the filing of an application is a pre-application conference at which time the Planning Director shall explain the provisions of this chapter and provide appropriate forms as set forth in CDC 99.030(B).

- C. An application for a protection area permit shall include the completed application and:
 - 1. Narrative which addresses the approval criteria of CDC 28.110.
- **Finding:** A detailed narrative addressing the requirements of CDC 28.110 has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17). CDC 28.110 has also been addressed within this narrative.
 - 2. A site plan, with HCA boundaries shown and by low, moderate, high type shown (CDC 28.120).
- **Finding:** A site plan with HCA boundaries (Figures 6-6G) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

3. A grading plan if applicable (CDC 28.130).

Finding: A grading plan (Figures 7-7G) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

4. Architectural drawings if applicable (CDC 28.140).

Finding: Architectural Drawings (Figures 10-10C) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

5. A landscape plan if applicable (CDC 28.150).

Finding: A Landscape Plan (Figures 9A-9L) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

6. A mitigation plan if applicable (CDC 28.160).

Finding: A Mitigation Plan (Figures 11A-11D) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

7. A storm detention and treatment plan and narrative statement pursuant to CDC 92.010(E).

Finding: A Preliminary Drainage Report (Exhibit 12) has been provided under Appendix D.

One original application form must be submitted. One copy at the original scale and one copy reduced to 11 inches by 17 inches or smaller of all drawings and plans must be submitted. One copy of all other items, including the narrative, must be submitted. The applicant shall also submit one copy of the complete application in a digital format acceptable to the city. When the application submittal is determined to be complete, additional copies may be required as determined by the Planning Director.

Finding: An application form has been provided under Appendix A.

D. The applicant shall pay the requisite fees.

Finding: The applicant has paid all requisite fees.

E. The applicant shall be responsible for, and shall apply for, all applicable State and/or federal permits.

Finding: The proposed development does not require state or federal permits. This standard is not applicable.

F. The applicant shall include a map, approved or acknowledged by DSL, of the preference rights and authorized areas if a water surface structure is proposed.

Finding: A Letter of Concurrence from DSL (Attachment C) has been included within the Habitat Conservation Area Report which has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17).

28.110 APPROVAL CRITERIA

No application for development on property within the protection area shall be approved unless the decision-making authority finds that the following standards have been met or can be met by conditions of approval. The development shall comply with the following criteria as applicable:

- A. Development: All sites.
 - 1. Sites shall first be reviewed using the HCA Map to determine if the site is buildable or what portion of the site is buildable. HCAs shall be verified by the Planning Director

per CDC 28.070 and site visit. Also, "tree canopy only" HCAs shall not constitute a development limitation and may be exempted per CDC 28.070(A). The municipal code protection for trees and Chapters 55 and 85 CDC tree protection shall still apply.

- **Finding:** The HCA map is attached as Figure 5 in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17). The applicant is requesting HCA map verification in this submittal. Slopes within the mapped HCA areas do not exceed 25%, and these areas are located more than 150' from the nearest surface stream or wetland. As such, PHS has determined that HCA areas identified on the HCA map have been assigned by Metro based on presence of tree canopy within 150 feet of a mapped flood area. Previous construction and disturbance has fragmented the mapped HCAs from the floodway of the Tualatin River, minimizing the functions provided by the HCA. The HCAs onsite total 36,955 sf, or approximately 4% of the nearly 22-acre project site. The remainder of the project site contains similar habitat as the mapped HCAs; however, The City of West Linn in accordance with Metro Title 13 recommendations, has determined that these forested areas are buildable and can allow development. Due to the abundance of similar habitat on-site, it is appropriate to revise the HCA designation in accordance with WLCDC.
 - 2. HCAs shall be avoided to the greatest degree possible and development activity shall instead be directed to the areas designated "Habitat and Impact Areas Not Designated as HCAs," consistent with subsection (A)(3) of this section.
- **Finding:** HCAs have been avoided to the extent practicable. Impacts to HCAs are associated with construction of a roundabout, and new roadways to connect Dollar Street and Borland Road.
 - 3. If the subject property contains no lands designated "Habitat and Impact Areas Not Designated as HCAs" and development within HCA land is the only option it shall be directed towards the low HCA areas first, then medium HCA areas and then to high HCA as the last choice. The goal is to, at best, avoid or, at least, minimize disturbance of the HCAs. (Water-dependent uses are exempt from this provision.)
- **Finding:** HCAs have been avoided to the extent practicable. Impacts to HCAs are associated with construction of a roundabout, and new roadways to connect Dollar Street and Borland Road. Due to the existing locations of these roads, impacts to HCAs cannot be avoided.
 - 4. All development, including exempted activities of CDC 28.040, shall have approved erosion control measures per Clackamas County Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual, rev. 2008, in place prior to site disturbance and be subject to the requirements of CDC 32.070 and 32.080 as deemed applicable by the Planning Director.
- Finding:An Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Plan prepared in accordance with CDC
28.040 will be submitted for review prior to site disturbance. This standard is met.

B. Single-family or attached residential. Development of single-family homes or attached housing shall be permitted on the following HCA designations and in the following order of preference with "a" being the most appropriate and "d" being the least appropriate:

Finding: The proposed development is not residential. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

C. Setbacks from top of bank.

Finding: The proposed development is not residential. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

D. Development of lands designated for industrial, commercial, office, public and other non-residential uses.

- 1. Development of lands designated for industrial, multi-family, mixed use, commercial, office, public and other non-single-family residential uses shall be permitted on the following land designations and in the following order of preference with "a" being the most appropriate for development and "d" being the least appropriate:
 - a. "Habitat and Impact Areas Not Designated as HCAs"
 - b. Low HCA
 - c. Moderate HCA
 - d. High HCA
- 2. Developing HCA land.
 - a. Where non-HCA or areas designated as "Habitat and Impact Areas Not Designated as HCAs" are lacking or are in such limited supply as to render uses allowed by the underlying zone (e.g., general industrial) functionally impractical, the HCA may be utilized and built upon but shall emphasize "b" and "c" designations.
 - b. Where it is proposed that a "d" or high HCA classification be used, the property owner must demonstrate that the proposed use is clearly a water-dependent use. Proximity to the river for the purpose of views is not valid grounds. However, public interpretive facilities of historic facilities such as the government locks will be permitted as well as wildlife interpretive facilities and ADA-accessible platforms.
- **Finding:** Impacts to high and moderate HCA land is proposed; however, the impacts to the HCA is the minimum necessary to construct a roundabout and surface street connection between Borland Road, Dollar Street and Brandon Place. Given the location of the existing roadways, no practicable alternative exists which would not result in impacts to the HCAs. This impact is allowable in accordance with CDC 28.110 L.

E. Hardship provisions and non-conforming structures.

Finding: The applicant is not proposing hardship provisions or non-conforming structures. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

F. <u>Access and property rights</u>.

- 1. Private lands within the protection area shall be recognized and respected.
- 2. Where a legal public access to the river or elsewhere in the protection area exists, that legal public right shall be recognized and respected.
- **Finding:** No public access to the protection area exists within the project area. A connection to existing trails is proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

- 3. To construct a water-dependent structure such as a dock, ramp, or gangway shall require that all pre-existing legal public access or similar legal rights in the protection area be recognized and respected. Where pre-existing legal public access, such as below the OLW, is to be obstructed by, for example, a ramp, the applicant shall provide a reasonable alternate route around, over or under the obstruction. The alternate route shall be as direct as possible. The proposed route, to include appropriate height clearances under ramps/docks and specifications for safe passage over or around ramps and docks, shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Director for adequacy.
- **Finding:** Work is not proposed below the OLW. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 4. Any public or private water-dependent use or facility shall be within established DSLauthorized areas.
- **Finding:** The proposed development is not water dependent. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 5. Legal access to, and along, the riverfront in single-family residential zoned areas shall be encouraged and pursued especially when there are reasonable expectations that a continuous trail system can be facilitated. The City recognizes the potential need for compensation where nexus and proportionality tests are not met. Fee simple ownership by the City shall be preferred. The trail should be dimensioned and designed appropriate to the terrain it traverses and the user group(s) it can reasonably expect to attract. The City shall be responsible for signing the trail and delineating the boundary between private and public lands or access easements.
- **Finding:** The proposed development is not single-family residential. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

G. Incentives to encourage access in industrial, multi-family, mixed use, commercial, office, public and non-single-family residential zoned areas.

- 1. For all industrial, multi-family, mixed use, commercial, office, public and other nonsingle-family residential zones, this section encourages the dedication or establishment of access easements to allow legal public access to, and along, the river. Support for access may be found in the Parks Master Plan, a neighborhood plan or any applicable adopted sub-area plans. The emphasis will be upon locating paths where there is a reasonable expectation that the path can be extended to adjacent properties to form a connective trail system in the future, and/or where the trail will provide opportunities for appreciation of, and access to, the river.
- **Finding:** A connection between the existing trail system and the new Brandon Place extension will be constructed to maintain opportunities for appreciation of, and access to, the river. This standard is met.
 - 2. Height or density incentives may be available to developers who provide public access. Specifically, commercial, industrial, multi-family, mixed use, and public projects may be constructed to a height of 60 feet. No variance is required for the 60-

foot height allowance regardless of the underlying zone height limitations; however, the following conditions must be met:

- a. Provide a minimum 20-foot-wide all-weather public access path along the project's entire river frontage (reduced dimensions would only be permitted in response to physical site constraints such as rock outcroppings, significant trees, etc.); and
- b. Provide a minimum 10-foot-wide all-weather public access path from an existing public right-of-way to that riverfront path or connect the riverfront path to an existing riverfront path on an adjoining property that accesses a public right-of-way.
- c. Fencing may be required near steep dropoffs or grade changes.
- **Finding:** The proposed development does not require a height or density incentive. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

H. Partitions, subdivisions and incentives.

Finding: The proposed development is not a land division. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

I. Docks and other water-dependent structures.

J. Joint docks.

K. Non-conforming docks and other water-related structures.

Finding: The proposed development does not include docks or water-dependent structures. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

L. Roads, driveways, utilities, or passive use recreation facilities.

Finding: Impacts to high and moderate HCA land is proposed; however, the impacts to the HCA is the minimum necessary to construct a roundabout and surface street connection between Borland Road, Dollar Street and Brandon Place. Given the location of the existing roadways, no practicable alternative exists which would not result in impacts to the HCAs.

M. <u>Structures</u>.

Finding: The proposed development does not include structures within the HCA. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

N. <u>Water-permeable materials for hardscapes</u>. The use of water-permeable materials for parking lots, driveways, patios, and paths as well as flow-through planters, box filters, bioswales and drought tolerant plants are strongly encouraged in all "a" and "b" land classifications and shall be required in all "c" and "d" land classifications. The only exception in the "c" and "d" classifications would be where it is demonstrated that water-permeable driveways/hardscapes could not structurally support the axle weight of vehicles or equipment/storage load using those areas. Flow through planters, box filters, bioswales, drought tolerant plants and other measures of treating and/or detaining runoff would still be required in these areas.

Finding: Water-permeable materials are not proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

O. <u>Signs and graphics</u>. No sign or graphic display inconsistent with the purposes of the protection area shall have a display surface oriented toward or visible from the Willamette or Tualatin River. A limited number of signs may be allowed to direct public access along legal routes in the protection area.

Finding: Signage, if necessary, will be consistent with the purposes of the protection area.

P. <u>Lighting</u>. Lighting shall not be focused or oriented onto the surface of the river except as required by the Coast Guard. Lighting elsewhere in the protection area shall be the minimum necessary and shall not create off-site glare or be omni-directional. Screens and covers will be required.

Finding: The proposed site lighting will not be oriented onto the surface of the river. The proposed lighting has been shown on the Light Coverage Plan (Onsite) (Sheet LU4.01)

Q. <u>Parking</u>. Parking and unenclosed storage areas located within or adjacent to the protection area boundary shall be screened from the river in accordance with Chapter <u>46</u> CDC, Off-Street Parking, Loading and Reservoir Areas. The use of water-permeable material to construct the parking lot is either encouraged or required depending on HCA classification per CDC <u>28.110(N)(4)</u>.

Finding: Parking is not proposed within the HCA. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

R. <u>Views</u>. Significant views of the Willamette and Tualatin Rivers shall be protected as much as possible as seen from the following public viewpoints: Mary S. Young Park, Willamette Park, Cedar Oak Park, Burnside Park, Maddox Park, Cedar Island, the Oregon City Bridge, Willamette Park, and Fields Bridge Park.

Where options exist in the placement of ramps and docks, the applicant shall select the least visually intrusive location as seen from a public viewpoint. However, if no options exist, then the ramp, pilings and dock shall be allowed at the originally proposed location.

Finding: The proposed development will not impact significant views of the Willamette and Tualatin River. This standard is met.

S. <u>Aggregate deposits</u>. Extraction of aggregate deposits or dredging shall be conducted in a manner designed to minimize adverse effects on water quality, fish and wildlife, vegetation, bank stabilization, stream flow, visual quality, noise and safety, and to promote necessary reclamation.

Finding: Extraction of aggregate deposits and dredging are not proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

T. Changing the landscape/grading.

1. Existing predominant topographical features of the bank line and escarpment shall be preserved and maintained except for disturbance necessary for the construction or establishment of a water related or water dependent use. Measures necessary to reduce potential bank and escarpment erosion, landslides, or flood hazard conditions shall also be taken.

Any construction to stabilize or protect the bank with rip rap, gabions, etc., shall only be allowed where there is clear evidence of erosion or similar hazard and shall be the minimum needed to stop that erosion or to avoid a specific and identifiable hazard.

A geotechnical engineer's stamped report shall accompany the application with evidence to support the proposal.

- **Finding:** The proposed development does not include the construction of a water related or water dependent use. A Geotechnical Report prepared by GeoDesign has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. This standard is met.
 - 2. The applicant shall establish to the satisfaction of the approval authority that steps have been taken to minimize the impact of the proposal on the riparian environment (areas between the top of the bank and the low water mark of the river including lower terrace, beach and river edge).
- **Finding:** The river protection zone extends onto the project area; however, lower terraces and the River edge are located off-site on adjacent tax lots. No disturbance to these features will occur as a result of the project. This standard is met.
 - 3. The applicant shall demonstrate that stabilization measures shall not cause subsequent erosion or deposits on upstream or downstream properties.
- Finding:An Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Plan prepared in accordance with CDC
28.040 will be submitted for review prior to site disturbance. This standard is met.
 - 4. Prior to any grading or development, that portion of the HCA that includes wetlands, creeks, riparian areas and water resource area shall be protected with an anchored chain link fence (or approved equivalent) at its perimeter and shall remain undisturbed except as specifically allowed by an approved Willamette and Tualatin River Protection and/or water resource area (WRA) permit. Such fencing shall be maintained until construction is complete. That portion of the HCA that includes wetlands, creeks, riparian areas and water resource area shall be identified with City-approved permanent markers at all boundary direction changes and at 30- to 50-foot intervals that clearly delineate the extent of the protected area.
- **Finding:** Anchored chain link fencing will be installed along undisturbed portions of the Tualatin River protection area. This standard is met.
 - 5. Full erosion control measures shall be in place and approved by the City Engineer prior to any grading, development or site clearing.
- Finding:An Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Plan prepared in accordance with CDC
28.040 will be submitted for review prior to site disturbance. This standard is met.
- U. <u>Protect riparian and adjacent vegetation</u>. Vegetative ground cover and trees upon the site shall be preserved, conserved, and maintained according to the following provisions:
 - 1. Riparian vegetation below OHW removed during development shall be replaced with indigenous vegetation, which shall be compatible with and enhance the riparian environment and approved by the approval authority as part of the application.
- **Finding:** The proposed development will not require the disturbance of vegetation below the OHW. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 2. Vegetative improvements to areas within the protection area may be required if the site is found to be in an unhealthy or disturbed state by the City Arborist or their designated expert. "Unhealthy or disturbed" includes those sites that have a

combination of native trees, shrubs, and groundcover on less than 80 percent of the water resource area and less than 50 percent tree canopy coverage in the primary and secondary habitat conservation area to be preserved. "Vegetative improvements" will be documented by submitting a revegetation plan meeting CDC <u>28.160</u> criteria that will result in the primary and secondary habitat conservation area to be preserved having a combination of native trees, shrubs, and groundcover on more than 80 percent of its area, and more than 50 percent tree canopy coverage in its area. The vegetative improvements shall be guaranteed for survival for a minimum of two years. Once approved, the applicant is responsible for implementing the plan prior to final inspection.

- **Finding:** Vegetation improvements to HCAs will occur in accordance with the Mitigation Plan (Figures 11A-11D) has been provided in the Natural Resource Review (Exhibit 17). This standard is met.
 - 3. Tree cutting shall be prohibited in the protection area except that:
 - a. Diseased trees or trees in danger of falling may be removed with the City Arborist's approval; and
 - b. Tree cutting may be permitted in conjunction with those uses listed in CDC <u>28.030</u> with City Arborist approval; to the extent necessary to accommodate the listed uses;
 - c. Selective cutting in accordance with the Oregon Forest Practices Act, if applicable, shall be permitted with City Arborist approval within the area between the OHW and the greenway boundary provided the natural scenic qualities of the greenway are maintained.

Finding: The proposed development will not require tree cutting within the protected areas The requirements of this section are not applicable.

Chapter 32 WATER RESOURCE AREA PROTECTION

32.020 APPLICABILITY

A. This chapter applies to all development, activity or uses within WRAs identified on the WRA Map. It also applies to all verified, unmapped WRAs. The WRA Map shall be amended to include the previously unmapped WRAs.

B. The burden is on the property owner to demonstrate that the requirements of this chapter are met, or are not applicable to the land, development activity, or other proposed use or alteration of land. The Planning Director may make a determination of applicability based on the WRA Map, field visits, and any other relevant maps, site plans and information, as to:

- 1. The existence of a WRA;
- 2. The exact location of the WRA; and/or
- 3. Whether the proposed development, activity or use is within the WRA boundary. In cases where the location of the WRA is unclear or disputed, the Planning Director may require a survey, delineation, or sworn statement prepared by a natural resource professional/wetland biologist or specialist that no WRA exists on the site. Any required survey, delineation, or statement shall be prepared at the applicant's sole expense.

Finding: A wetland delineation has been prepared by Pacific Habitat Services showing the location of the proposed water resource area in the northeast corner of the site. The Wetland Delineation Report has been provided under Appendix D. The District will connect to an existing sanitary sewer line located within the WRA by connecting to an existing manhole. A franchise telecom utility connection will be provided at the east property line. The utility connections will not be located within the delineated WRA boundary. The proposed development will not include any work within the WRA boundary. This standard is met.

Chapter 34 ACCESSORY STRUCTURES, ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS, AND ACCESSORY USES 34.020 ACCESSORY USES

Accessory uses are permitted uses which are customary and incidental to principal uses permitted in the zone and shall be permitted outright, or by prescribed conditions as identified below, and may be either attached or separated from the principal dwelling. Accessory uses on designated historic resources are subject to additional regulations in CDC 25.060(B).

A. A greenhouse may be a maintained accessory to a dwelling provided the activity does not exceed that which requires a license under Chapter 571 of the Oregon Revised Statutes, Nurseries.

Finding: The school site will include accessory structures consistent with the school use. The accessory structures proposed include a greenhouse, a concession stand and a track and field storage building. The proposed greenhouse will not be used for commercial purposes and will not require a license pursuant to Chapter 571 of the Oregon Revised Statutes.

34.060 SETBACK PROVISIONS FOR ACCESSORY STRUCTURES (NON-DWELLING)

A. Accessory structures shall comply with all requirements for the principal use except as provided in CDC 34.040 and where specifically modified by this code as follows.

Finding: The three proposed accessory structures comply with the requirements of the principle use of the site as a school site, allowed as a conditional use in the R-10 zone. The accessory structures meet the minimum setback requirements of the R-10 zone, as provided below.

	Structure Area	Side Yard Setback	Building Height
Greenhouse	1,200 sq. ft.	89 ft. 5in.	14 ft. 3 in.
Concession Stand	720 sq. ft.	24 ft. 6 in.	12 ft. 5 in.
Track and Field Storage	667 sq. ft.	41 ft.	10 ft.

Compliance with all applicable standards has been demonstrated within this narrative.

B. A side yard or rear yard requirement may be reduced to three feet for an accessory structure except for a side or rear yard abutting a street, with the exception of alleys platted and dedicated prior to September 30, 1984, as defined in this code; provided, that:

- 1. The structure is erected more than 60 feet from the front lot line;
- 2. The structure does not exceed one story or 15 feet in height;
- 3. The structure does not exceed an area of 500 square feet; and
- 4. The structure does not violate any existing utility easements.
- **Finding:** The three accessory structures have not been located in the required side or rear yard setbacks. A reduction in the required setback has not been requested for any of the proposed accessory structures.

C. Attached accessory structures. When an accessory structure is attached to the main structure (wall to wall or by any permanent attachment), including via a covered walkway, such accessory structure shall be considered as part of the main structure.

Finding: Attached accessory structures are not proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

Chapter 41 BUILDING HEIGHT, STRUCTURES ON STEEP LOTS, EXCEPTIONS 41.005 DETERMINING HEIGHT OF BUILDING

A. For all zoning districts, building height shall be the vertical distance above a reference datum measured to the highest point of a flat roof or to the deck line of a mansard roof or to the highest gable, ridgeline or peak of a pitched or hipped roof, not including projections above roofs such as cupolas, towers, etc. The reference datum shall be selected by either of the following, whichever yields a greater height of building.

- 1. For relatively flat sites where there is less than a 10-foot difference in grade between the front and rear of the building, the height of the building shall be measured from grade five feet out from the exterior wall at the front of the building; or
- 2. For steeper lots where there is more than a 10-foot difference in grade between the front and rear of the building, the height of the building is measured from grade at a point five feet out from the exterior wall on the lowest side (front or rear) of the building. One then measures vertically to the peak or ridgeline of the roof to determine the height.
- 3. Buildings on cross slopes or side slopes are measured at either the front or rear of the building using methods described in subsections (A)(1) and (2) of this definition only. Even if the cross slope creates a tall elevation on the side, the method of determining height is not modified.
- **Finding:** The subject site has more than a 10-foot difference in grade. The grade elevation of the building along the frontage of Dollar Street is 198.34 feet. The grade elevation of the building along Willamette Falls Drive is 175.00 feet. The total grade change across the building is 23.34 feet. The building height has been measured from grade at a point five feet out from the exterior wall on the lowest side of the building. The City

considers public schools to be government buildings, as noted in the pre-application conference notes provided under Appendix B of this application.

The school has a maximum height of 48 feet, which does not exceed the 50-foot maximum height allowed for government buildings per CDC 41.040. The table below provides the height of the principal structure at each corresponding yard. Where the height exceeds 35 feet, the minimum height allowance of the underlying zone, the required yard dimension has been calculated as two-thirds of the building height of the principal structure at the corresponding yard. The required yard dimension has been met and exceeded.

	Building Height	Required Yard Dim.	Proposed Yard Dim.
Front Yard (Brandon Pl)	48 ft. 0 in.	32 ft.	466.6 ft.
Rear Yard	44 ft. 9 in.	29 ft. 10 in.	639.2 ft.
Street Side Yard (Dollar St.)	33 ft. 3 in.	15 ft.	40.1 ft.
Street Side Yard (Willamette Falls Dr)	44 ft. 9 in.	29 ft. 10 in.	89.0 ft.

The height requirements of section 41.040 are applicable. Section 41.040 has been addressed within this narrative.

41.040 PLACES OF WORSHIP OR GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS

The height of a place of worship or governmental building may be built to a maximum height of 50 feet provided:

A. The total floor area of the building does not exceed one and one-half times the area of the site;

B. The yard dimensions in each case are equal to at least two-thirds of the building height of the principal structure; and

C. The approval of this exception is a part of the approval of the conditional use allowed under Chapter 60 CDC.

Finding: The school has a maximum height of 48 feet, which does not exceed the 50-foot maximum height allowed for government buildings. The total floor area for the school site is 110,972 square feet. The site has a total net area excluding Type I and II lands of 775,368 square feet. The total floor area of the buildings on site is approximately 14.3 percent of the site. The floor area does not exceed one and one-half times the area of the site.

The table below provides the height of the principal structure at each corresponding yard. Where the height exceeds 35 feet, the minimum height allowance of the underlying zone, the required yard dimension has been calculated as two-thirds of the building height of the principal structure at the corresponding yard. The required yard dimension has been met and exceeded.

	Building Height	Required Yard Dim.	Proposed Yard Dim.
Front Yard (Brandon Pl)	48 ft. 0 in.	32 ft.	466.6 ft.
Rear Yard	44 ft. 9 in.	29 ft. 10 in.	639.2 ft.
Street Side Yard (Dollar St.)	33 ft. 3 in.	15 ft.	40.1 ft.
Street Side Yard (Willamette Falls Dr)	44 ft. 9 in.	29 ft. 10 in.	89.0 ft.

The building heights have been illustrated on the Building Sections (Sheet LU3.04) submitted under Appendix E. The proposed yard dimensions have been shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This proposed school is a Conditional Use subject to Chapter 60. The requirements of this section have been met.

Chapter 42 CLEAR VISION AREAS

42.020 CLEAR VISION AREAS REQUIRED, USES PROHIBITED

A. A clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all property adjacent to an intersection as provided by CDC 42.040 and 42.050.

B. A clear vision area shall contain no planting, fence, wall, structure or temporary or permanent obstruction (except for an occasional utility pole or tree) exceeding three feet in height, measured from the top of the curb, or, where no curb exists, from the street centerline grade, except that trees exceeding this height may be located in this area, provided all branches below eight feet are removed.

Finding: A clear vision area will be maintained at the intersection of Brandon Place and Dollar Street, at the intersection of Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive and at the proposed parking lot accessways on Dollar Street and Brandon Place. The clear vision area will not contain plantings, fences, walls, or structures exceeding three feet in height. Clear Vision Triangles have been shown at all intersections on the Overall Site Plan (SheetLU1.10). The proposed monument sign has been located outside of the vision clearance triangle areas. This requirement is met.

42.050 COMPUTATION; ACCESSWAY LESS THAN 24 FEET IN WIDTH

The clear vision area for street and accessway intersections (accessways having less than 24 feet in width) shall be that triangular area whose base extends 30 feet along the street rightof-way line in both directions from the centerline of the accessway at the front setback line of a single-family and two-family residence, and 30 feet back from the property line on all other types of uses.

Finding: The proposed parking lot accessways are 24 feet wide measured curb-to-curb. Clear vision area triangles consistent with the requirements of this section have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.

Chapter 44 FENCES

44.020 SIGHT-OBSCURING FENCE; SETBACK AND HEIGHT LIMITATIONS

24 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

A. A sight- or non-sight-obscuring fence may be located on the property line or in a yard setback area subject to the following:

- 1. The fence is located within:
 - a. A required front yard area, and it does not exceed three feet, except pillars and driveway entry features subject to the requirements of Chapter 42 CDC, Clear Vision Areas, and approval by the Planning Director;
 - b. A required side yard which abuts a street and it is within that portion of the side yard which is also part of the front yard setback area and it does not exceed three feet;
 - c. A required side yard which abuts a street and it is within that portion of the side yard which is not also a portion of the front yard setback area and it does not exceed six feet provided the provisions of Chapter 42 CDC are met;
 - d. A required rear yard which abuts a street and it does not exceed six feet; or
 - e. A required side yard area which does not abut a street or a rear yard and it does not exceed six feet.
- **Finding:** The proposed development will include a chain-link fence within the street side yard along Dollar Street. The proposed fencing will be four feet in height. The location of the proposed fencing has been shown on the Landscape Materials Plans (Sheets L1102, L1103, L1105 and L1106). This standard is met.

B. Fence or wall on a retaining wall. When a fence is built on a retaining wall or an artificial berm, the following standards shall apply:

- 1. When the retaining wall or artificial berm is 30 inches or less in height from finished grade, the maximum fence or wall height on top of the retaining wall shall be six feet.
- 2. When the retaining wall or earth berm is greater than 30 inches in height, the combined height of the retaining wall and fence or wall from finished grade shall not exceed eight and one-half feet.
- 3. Fences or walls located on top of retaining walls or earth berms in excess of 30 inches above finished grade may exceed the total allowed combined height of eight and onehalf feet; provided, that the fence or wall is located a minimum of two feet from the retaining wall and the fence or wall height shall not exceed six feet.
- **Finding:** The District is not proposing retaining walls within the yard setbacks. The service yard retaining wall will have a wall of eight feet in height above finished grade as measured on the north side of the wall along Dollar Street. The proposed wall will act as noise buffer for the school generator. The retaining wall located at the hard-scaped play area will have a wall height of 31.2 inches and a fence height of 42 inches above finished grade, as measured from the north side of the wall along Dollar Street. Both wall and fence combinations are consistent with the requirements of subsection 2 above. The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20). This standard is met.

44.040 LANDSCAPING

Landscaping which is located on the fence line and which impairs sight vision shall not be located within the clear vision area as provided in Chapter 42 CDC.

Finding: Landscaping which impairs sight vision will not be located in the clear vision areas. This standard is met.

44.050 STANDARDS FOR CONSTRUCTION

- A. The structural side of the fence shall face the owner's property; and
- B. The sides of the fence abutting adjoining properties and the street shall be maintained.
- **Finding:** The structural side of all proposed fences will face the owner's property. The sides of the fence abutting adjoining properties and the street will be maintained. This standard is met.

Chapter 46 OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND RESERVOIR AREAS 46.020 APPLICABILITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. At the time a structure is erected or enlarged, or the use of a structure or unit of land is changed within any zone, parking spaces, loading areas and reservoir areas shall be provided in accordance with the requirements of this chapter unless other requirements are otherwise established as a part of the development approval process.

Finding: The parking requirement for the new school has been calculated under CDC 46.090 based on the floor area of the building and the number of full-time employees. A total of 186 parking spaces is required. The site will provide a total of 186 parking spaces. Parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the requirements of this chapter. This standard is met.

B. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking and loading spaces are the continuing obligation of the property owner.

Finding: The applicant acknowledges that the provision and maintenance of off-street parking and loading spaces are the continuing obligation of the property owner. This standard is met.

C. No building or other permit shall be issued until plans are approved that show the property that is and will remain available for exclusive use as off-street parking and loading space as required by this chapter.

Finding: The applicant acknowledges that no building or other permits will be issued until plans are approved that show the property that is and will remain for the exclusive use as off-street parking. This standard is met.

D. Required parking spaces and loading areas shall be improved to the standards contained in this chapter and shall be available for use at the time of the final building inspection except as provided in CDC 46.150.

Finding: All proposed parking stalls have been designed to meet the City's requirements for 90- degree parking. The standard parking stalls are 9 feet wide and 18 feet long, with

a minimum drive aisle width of 24 feet. The compact parking stalls are 8 feet wide and 16 feet long. Based on the floor area of the school, two loading berths are required. A double loading berth that is approximately 40 feet wide and 30 feet long has been provided in the northwest corner of the school. All proposed parking spaces will be improved to the standards contained in this chapter. This standard is met.

46.030 SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS

For any application requiring design review approval, which includes parking areas, the applicant shall submit, within the design review package, a plan drawn to scale showing all the elements necessary to indicate that the requirements of Chapter 55 CDC are met and it shall include but not be limited to:

- A. The delineation of individual parking and loading spaces and their dimensions;
- B. The identification of compact parking spaces;
- C. The location of the circulation area necessary to serve spaces;
- D. The access point(s) to streets, alleys, and properties to be served;
- E. The location of curb cuts;
- F. The location and dimensions of all landscaping, including the type and size of plant material
- to be used, as well as any other landscape material incorporated into the overall plan;
- G. The proposed grading and drainage plans and the slope (percentage) of parking lot;
- H. Specifications as to signs and bumper guards;
- I. Identification of disabled parking spaces;
- J. Location of pedestrian walkways and crossings; and
- K. Location of bicycle racks.
- **Finding:** An Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10), as well as detailed Site Plans (Sheets LU1.11-LU1.17), an Overall Grading And Storm Plan (Sheet LU1.20) as well as detailed Grading and Storm Plans (Sheets LU1.21-LU1.27), and a landscape Materials Plan Overall (Sheet L1100) as well as detailed landscape Materials Plans (Sheets L1101-LU1107), have been submitted illustrating requirements A-K above. This standard is met.

46.040 APPROVAL STANDARDS

Approval shall be based on the standards set forth in this chapter and Chapter 48 CDC, Access, Egress and Circulation; Chapter 52 CDC, Signs; and Chapter 54 CDC, Landscaping.

Finding:Chapter 48 CDC, Access, Egress and Circulation; Chapter 52 CDC, Signs; and Chapter
54 CDC, Landscaping has been addressed within this narrative. This standard is met.

46.050 JOINT USE OF A PARKING AREA

A. Joint use of required parking spaces may occur where two or more uses on the same or separate sites are able to share the same parking spaces because their parking demands occur at different times. Joint use of required parking spaces is allowed if the following documentation is submitted in writing to the Planning Director as part of a building or zoning permit application or land use review:

- 1. The names and addresses of the owners or tenants that are sharing the parking and the uses at those locations;
- 2. The location and number of parking spaces that are being shared;
- 3. An analysis showing that the peak parking times of the uses occur at different times and that the parking area will be large enough for the anticipated demands of both uses; and
- 4. A legal instrument such as an easement or deed restriction that guarantees access to the parking for all uses.

B. If a joint use arrangement is subsequently terminated, the requirements of this chapter will apply to each use separately.

Finding: The school does not utilize a joint parking agreement. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

46.060 STORAGE IN PARKING AND LOADING AREAS PROHIBITED

Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of passenger automobiles of residents, customers, patrons and employees only, and the required parking spaces shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of trucks connected with the business or use with the exception of small (under one-ton) delivery trucks or cars.

Finding: The school will not use required parking spaces for storage of vehicles or materials. This standard is met.

46.070 MAXIMUM DISTANCE ALLOWED BETWEEN PARKING AREA AND USE

A. Off-street parking spaces for single- and two-family dwellings shall be located on the same lot with the dwelling.

B. Off-street parking spaces for uses not listed in subsection A of this section shall be located not farther than 200 feet from an entryway to the building or use they are required to serve, measured in a straight line from the building, with the following exceptions:

- 1. Shared parking areas for commercial uses which require more than 40 parking spaces may provide for the spaces in excess of the required 40 spaces up to a distance of 300 feet from the entryway to the commercial building or use.
- 2. Industrial and manufacturing uses which require in excess of 40 spaces may locate the required spaces in excess of the 40 spaces up to a distance of 300 feet from the entryway to the building.
- 3. Employee parking areas for carpools and vanpools shall be located closer to the entryway to the building than general employee parking.
- 4. Stacked or valet parking is allowed if an attendant is present to move vehicles. If stacked parking is used for required parking spaces, the applicant shall ensure that an attendant will always be present when the lot is in operation. The requirements for minimum or maximum spaces and all parking area development standards continue to apply for stacked parking.

- 5. All disabled parking shall be placed closest to building entrances than all other parking. Appropriate ADA curb cuts and ramps to go from the parking lot to the ADA-accessible entrance shall be provided unless exempted by ADA code.
- **Finding:** The school campus consists of a main school building with multiple entrances, recreation facilities, and outdoor learning spaces to serve the students and teachers. There are two parking areas on site.

The west parking lot will primarily serve parents and visitors to the school. All parking stalls within the parking lot are located within 200 feet of the main covered entryway, or within 200 feet of the entryway to the band and choir rooms as measured from the nearest point of each parking space.

The east parking lot will primarily serve as a bus loading zone and staff parking lot, with parking for special events on site associated with the recreation facilities. The majority of the parking stalls within the east parking lot are located within 200 feet of the entrance to the multi-use track and field, located on the south side of the field, or within 200 feet of the building entrance to the southern classroom wing. A total of three parking stalls in the east parking lot are not compliant with the maximum 200 - foot spacing requirement of this section. These three parking stalls are located within 230 feet of the southern classroom wing, and 225 feet of the multi-use track and field entrance.

A class II variance has been requested for the off-street parking lot spacing. The class II variance criteria have been addressed within this narrative.

46.080 COMPUTATION OF REQUIRED PARKING SPACES AND LOADING AREA

A. Where several uses occupy a single structure or unit of land, a combination of uses is included in one business, or a combination of uses in the same or separate buildings share a common parking area as in the case of a shopping center, the total off-street parking spaces and loading area shall be the sum of the requirements of the several uses, computed separately. For example, parking for an auto sales and repair business would be calculated using the "retail-bulky" calculation for the sales area and the "service and repair" calculation for the repair area. In another example, parking for a shopping center with a grocery store, a restaurant, and a medical office would be calculated using the "general retail store" calculation for the grocery store, the "restaurant" calculation for the restaurant, and the "medical/dental clinics" calculation for the medical office. The total number of required parking spaces may be reduced by up to 10 percent to account for cross-patronage (when a customer visits several commercial establishments during one visit to the commercial center) of adjacent businesses or services in a commercial center with five or more separate commercial establishments.

B. To calculate building square footage as a basis for determining how many parking spaces are needed, the area measured shall be gross floor area under the roof measured from the faces of the structure, including all habitable floors and excluding only space devoted to covered off-street parking or loading.

C. Where employees are specified, the employees counted are the persons who work on the premises including proprietors, executives, professional people, production, sales, and distribution employees, during the largest shift.

D. Fractional space requirements shall be counted as a whole space.

E. On-street parking along the immediate property frontage(s) may be counted toward the minimum parking requirement with approval from the City Engineer.

F. When an office or commercial development is proposed which has yet to identify its tenants, the parking requirement shall be based upon the "office" or "general retail" categories, respectively.

G. As permitted uses are replaced with new permitted uses within an existing commercial or business center, modification of the number of parking spaces relative to the new mix of uses is not required unless other modifications of the site which require design review approval pursuant to Chapter 55 CDC are proposed.

46.090 MINIMUM OFF-STREET PARKING SPACE REQUIREMENTS

B. Public and semi-public buildings/uses.

6. Primary school, middle school, or	One space for every employee, plus 1 space
equivalent private or parochial school.	for each 1,000 square feet of floor area.

Finding: The floor area of the new middle school is 110,972 square feet and will have 75 employees. A total of 186 parking spaces is required. The site will provide a total of 186 parking spaces. The minimum parking requirement is met.

F. Maximum parking. Parking spaces (except for single-family and two-family residential uses) shall not exceed the minimum required number of spaces by more than 10 percent.

Finding: Based on a minimum requirement of 186 stalls, the maximum number of parking stalls allowed on the site is 205 stalls. A total of 186 parking stalls are provided. This standard is met.

G. Parking reductions. An applicant may reduce parking up to 10 percent for development sites within one-quarter mile of a transit corridor or within a mixed-use commercial area, and up to 10 percent for commercial development sites adjacent to multi-family residential sites with the potential to accommodate more than 20 dwelling units.

Finding: A reduction in parking spaces is not requested. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

H. For office, industrial, and public uses where there are more than 20 parking spaces for employees on the site, at least 10 percent of the required employee parking spaces shall be reserved for carpool use before 9:00 a.m. on weekdays. The spaces will be the closest to the building entrance, except for any disabled parking and those signed for exclusive customer use. The carpool/vanpool spaces shall be clearly marked "Reserved – Carpool/Vanpool Before 9:00 a.m."
Finding: The school parking lot will have 75 employee parking spaces. A total of eight parking spaces will be designated as carpool/vanpool spaces. The carpool spaces are in the east parking lot and have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.14). This standard is met.

I. Existing developments along transit streets or near transit stops may redevelop up to 10 percent of the existing parking spaces to provide transit-oriented facilities, including bus pullouts, bus stops and shelters, park and ride stations, and other similar facilities.

Finding: A reduction in parking spaces is not requested. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

J. Development in water resource areas may reduce the required number of parking spaces by up to 25 percent. Adjacent improved street frontage with curb and sidewalk may also be counted towards the parking requirement at a rate of one parking space per 20 lineal feet of street frontage adjacent to the property.

Finding: Development is not proposed in a water resource area. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

46.120 DRIVEWAYS REQUIRED ON SITE

Any school or other meeting place which is designed to accommodate more than 25 people at one time shall provide a 15-foot-wide driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading passengers. Depending on functional requirements, the width may be increased with Planning Director approval.

Finding: The driveways for the proposed parking lots have been designed for two direction travel with a 24-foot wide paved area. The travel lane at the western parking lot widens to 30 feet along the student drop-off area for 457 feet of curb length to allow for the continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading and unloading passengers. The eastern parking lot will be utilized for staff parking and buses. The travel lane from Dollar Street has been designed for two direction travel with 24-foot wide paved areas. The travel lane widens to 34 feet along the bus loading areas for 595 feet of curb length to allow for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles. The proposed driveway widths have been shown on the Site Plans (Sheet LU1.11-LU1.17). This standard is met.

46.130 OFF-STREET LOADING SPACES

Buildings or structures to be built or substantially altered, which receive and distribute material or merchandise by truck, shall provide and maintain off-street loading and maneuvering space. The dimensional standard for loading spaces is a minimum of 14 feet wide by 20 feet long or proportionate to accommodate the size of delivery trucks that typically serve the proposed use as follows:

Land Use

Gross Floor Area

Institutional: At Which First Berth Is Required		At Which Second Berth Is Required		
Schools	10,000	100,000		

Finding: The new middle school has a gross floor area of 110,972 square feet; therefore, two loading berths are required. A double loading berth that is approximately 40 feet wide and 30 feet long has been provided in the northwest corner of the school. The loading area has been shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.12) and the Level 01 Floor Plan (Sheet LU3.01). This standard is met.

46.140 EXEMPTIONS TO PARKING REQUIREMENTS

To facilitate the design requirements of Chapter 58 CDC, properties in the Willamette Falls Drive Commercial Design District, located between 10th and 16th Streets, shall be exempt from the minimum parking and off-street loading requirements as identified in this chapter. Any off-street parking or loading spaces voluntarily provided shall be designed and installed per the dimensional standards of this code.

46.150 DESIGN AND STANDARDS

The following standards apply to the design and improvement of areas used for vehicle parking, storage, loading, and circulation:

A. Design standards.

- "One standard parking space" means a minimum for a parking stall of eight feet in width and 16 feet in length. These stalls shall be identified as "compact." To accommodate larger cars, 50 percent of the required parking spaces shall have a minimum dimension of nine feet in width and 18 feet in length (nine feet by 18 feet). When multi-family parking stalls back onto a main driveway, the stalls shall be nine feet by 20 feet. Parking for development in water resource areas may have 100 percent compact spaces.
- **Finding:** All proposed standard parking stalls meet a minimum dimension of nine feet in width and 18 feet in length. All proposed compact parking stalls will meet a minimum dimension of eight feet in width and 16 feet in length. Of the 186 parking stalls on site, a total of 70, or 37.6 percent will be compact. Compact parking spaces have been labeled on the Site Plans (Sheet LU1.11-LU1.17). This standard is met.
- 2. Disabled parking and maneuvering spaces shall be consistent with current federal dimensional standards and subsection B of this section and placed nearest to accessible building entryways and ramps.
- **Finding:** All proposed disabled parking and maneuvering spaces have been designed to be consistent with current federal dimensional standards. The location of the accessible parking spaces has been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This requirement is met.

Finding: The proposed development is not located within the Willamette Falls Drive Commercial Design District. This standard does not apply.

- 3. Repealed by Ord. 1622.
- 4. Service drives shall be designed and constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic, provide maximum safety of traffic access and egress, and maximum safety of pedestrians and vehicular traffic on the site.
- **Finding:** All service drives have been designed to facilitate the flow of traffic, provide maximum safety of traffic access and egress, and maximum safety of pedestrians and vehicular traffic on site. The two access drives to the school building have been designed with queuing areas for drop-off and pick-up to allow for the continuous flow of traffic on site and within the surrounding neighborhood. The parking areas and drop off areas on site have been separated to provide a parent parking and drop-off and pick-up zone in the west parking lot and bus loading and staff parking in the east parking lot. The separation of the parking functions on site will help to minimize neighborhood impacts during drop-off and pick-up times. The west and east parking lots have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.
- 5. Each parking and/or loading space shall have clear access, whereby the relocation of other vehicles to utilize the parking space is not required.

Finding: Each proposed parking space will have clear access. This standard is met.

- 6. Except for single- and two-family residences, any area intended to be used to meet the off-street parking requirements as contained in this chapter shall have all parking spaces clearly marked using a permanent paint. All interior drives and access aisles shall be clearly marked and signed to show direction of flow and maintain vehicular and pedestrian safety. Permeable parking surface spaces may have an alternative delineation for parking spaces.
- **Finding:** All proposed areas intended to be used to meet the off-street parking requirements will have all parking spaces clearly marked using permanent paint. All interior drives and access aisles will be clearly marked and signed to show direction of flow and maintain vehicular and pedestrian safety. This standard is met.
- 7. Except for residential parking, and parking for public parks and trailheads, at least 50 percent of all areas used for the parking and/or storage and/or maneuvering of any vehicle, boat and/or trailer shall be improved with asphalt or concrete surfaces according to the same standards required for the construction and acceptance of City streets. The remainder of the areas used for parking may use a permeable paving surface designed to reduce surface runoff. Parking for public parks or trailheads may use a permeable paving surface designed to reduce surface and unpaved areas, the paved areas shall be located closest to the use which they serve.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking areas will be improved with asphalt according to the same standard required for the construction and acceptance of City streets. This standard is met.

- 8. Off-street parking spaces for single- and two-family residences shall be improved with an asphalt or concrete surface, or a permeable parking surface designed to reduce surface runoff, to specifications as approved by the Building Official. Other parking facilities for two- and single-family homes that are to accommodate additional vehicles, boats, recreational vehicles, and trailers, etc., need not be paved. All parking for multifamily residential development shall be paved with concrete or asphalt. Driveways shall measure at least 20 feet from the back of sidewalk to garage or the end of the parking pad to accommodate cars and sport utility vehicles without the vehicles blocking the public sidewalk.
- **Finding:** The proposed development is an institutional use. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed development.
- 9. Access drives from the street to off-street parking or loading areas shall be designed and constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic and provide maximum safety for pedestrian and vehicular traffic on the site. The number of access drives shall be limited to the minimum that will allow the property to accommodate and service the anticipated traffic. Access drives shall be clearly and permanently marked and defined through use of rails, fences, walls, or other barriers or markers on frontage not occupied by service drives.
- **Finding:** All proposed access drives have been designed and will be constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic to provide maximum safety for pedestrian and vehicular traffic on the site. The number of access drives will be limited to the minimum to accommodate and service the anticipated traffic. All access drives will be clearly and permanently marked. The length of the access drives has been maximized to the extent possible on the site and will provide for additional car queuing length on the site to minimize traffic backing up onto City streets. The access drives have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10) included under Appendix E. A Transportation Impact Analysis and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates has been prepared for the site and has been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.
- 10. Access drives shall have a minimum vision clearance as provided in Chapter 42 CDC, Clear Vision Areas.
- **Finding:** Clear vision area triangles consistent with Chapter 42 have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.
- 11. Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot or adjacent to interior landscaped areas or sidewalks shall be provided with a wheel stop at least four inches high located two feet back from the front of the parking stall. Such parking spaces may be provided without wheel stops if the sidewalks or landscaped areas adjacent the parking stalls are two feet wider than the minimum width.

- **Finding:** Wheel stops have not been proposed within the parking areas. Where parking spaces abut sidewalks, the sidewalks have been widened to eight feet. Where parking spaces abut interior landscaping, a minimum landscape island width of 10 feet has been provided. This standard is met.
- 12. Off-street parking and loading areas shall be drained in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the City Engineer. Storm drainage at commercial sites may also have to be collected to treat oils and other residue.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking areas will be drained in accordance with the City's plans and specifications. The Preliminary Storm Water Report submitted under Appendix D provides a detailed analysis of the proposed stormwater management system. This standard is met.
- 13. Artificial lighting on all off-street parking facilities shall be designed to deflect all light downward away from surrounding residences and so as not to create a hazard to the public use of any road or street.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lot lighting has been designed to deflect all light downward away from surrounding residences. The parking lot lighting for the site has been designed to meet ASHRAE 90.1 code standards. Compliance with the ASHRAE lighting standards and the parking lot lighting coverage has been demonstrated on the Light Coverage Plan (Sheet LU4.01). This standard is met.
- 14. Directional arrows and traffic control devices which are placed on parking lots shall be identified.
- **Finding:** All traffic control devices in the proposed parking lot will be identified. This standard is met.
- 15. The maximum driveway grade for single-family housing shall be 15 percent. The 15 percent shall be measured along the centerline of the driveway only. Grades elsewhere along the driveway shall not apply. Variations require approval of a Class II variance by the Planning Commission pursuant to Chapter 75 CDC. Regardless, the last 18 feet in front of the garage must maintain a maximum grade of 12 percent as measured along the centerline of the driveway only. Grades elsewhere along the driveway shall not apply.
- **Finding:** The proposed development is not residential. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

16. Visitor or guest parking must be identified by painted "GUEST" or "VISITOR."

Finding: The school parking lot does not have specific parking spaces designated as visitor or guest parking. The west parking lot is for the primary use of guests and visitors of the school. This standard is met.

- 17. The parking area shall have less than a five percent grade. No drainage across adjacent sidewalks or walkways is allowed.
- **Finding:** An Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20) as well as detailed Grading and Drainage Plans (Sheets LU1.21-LU1.27) showing the proposed parking lot grading has been provided under Appendix E. The requirements of this section are met.
- 18. Commercial, office, industrial, and public parking lots may not occupy more than 50 percent of the main lot frontage of a development site. The remaining frontage shall comprise buildings or landscaping. If over 50 percent of the lineal frontage comprises parking lot, the landscape strip between the right-of-way and parking lot shall be increased to 15 feet wide and shall include terrain variations (e.g., one-foot-high berm) plus landscaping. The defensible space of the parking lot should not be compromised.
- **Finding:** The total site frontage on Dollar Street is approximately 1,692 linear feet. The west parking lot has been located approximately 15 feet from the property line on Dollar Street at its closest point and has a total frontage length on Dollar Street of 188 linear feet, or 11.5 percent of the total frontage. The site has a total frontage of approximately 1680 feet on Willamette Falls Drive. The east parking lot has been located approximately 89 feet from the property line along Willamette Falls Drive and has a total frontage on Willamette Falls Drive of 370 linear feet, or 22 percent of the total frontage. This standard is met.
- 19. Areas of the parking lot improved with asphalt or concrete surfaces shall be designed into areas of 12 or less spaces through the use of defined landscaped area. Groups of 12 or less spaces are defined as:
 - a. Twelve spaces in a row, provided there are no abutting parking spaces, as in the case when the spaces are abutting the perimeter of the lot; or
 - b. Twelve spaces in a group with six spaces abutting together; or
 - c. Two groups of 12 spaces abutting each other, but separated by a 15-foot-wide landscape area including a six-foot-wide walkway.
 - d. Parking areas improved with a permeable parking surface may be designed using the configurations shown in subsections (A)(19)(a), (b) and (c) of this section except that groups of up to 18 spaces are allowed.
 - e. The requirements of this chapter relating to total parking lot landscaping, landscaping buffers, perimeter landscaping, and landscaping the parking lot islands and interior may be waived or reduced pursuant to CDC 32.110(F) in a WRA application without a variance being required.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lot has been designed with groups of 12 or less parking spaces, defined by landscape islands consistent with the requirements of this section. The western parking lot seems to meet subsection c with a parallel 15' wide landscape island separating the stall groups. The eastern parking lot meets this with a 22' wide landscape island that is perpendicular to the stalls. The parking lot landscaping has been shown on the Planting Plans (Sheet LU1400A-LU1407). This standard is met.

- 20. Pedestrian walkways shall be provided in parking areas having 20 or more spaces. Walkways or sidewalks shall be constructed between major buildings/activity areas (an example in multi-family housing: between recreation center, swimming pool, manager's office, park or open space areas, parking lots, etc.) within a development, between adjacent developments and the new development, as feasible, and between major buildings/activity areas within the development and adjacent streets and all adjacent transit stops. Internal parking lot circulation and design should maintain ease of access for pedestrians from streets and transit stops. Walkways shall be constructed using a material that visually contrasts with the parking lot and driveway surface. Walkways shall be further identifiable to pedestrians and motorists by grade separation, walls, curbs, surface texture (surface texture shall not interfere with safe use of wheelchairs, baby carriages, shopping carts, etc.), and/or landscaping. Walkways shall be six feet wide. The arrangement and layout of the paths shall depend on functional requirements.
- **Finding:** The school will feature new walking pathways on site which will connect the school facilities to new and existing sidewalks along Dollar Street, Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive. The District has provided a Safe-Routes to School improvements analysis with recommended improvements, including sidewalk infill, crossing improvements and bicycle route improvements, in the Traffic Impact Analysis completed by DKS and Associates and included in Appendix D. All walkways will be constructed with a material that contrasts with the parking lot and driveway surface. This standard is met.
- 21. The parking and circulation patterns are easily comprehended and defined. The patterns shall be clear to minimize traffic hazards and congestion and to facilitate emergency vehicles.
- **Finding:** The parking and circulation pattern on the school site has been designed and will be constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic to provide maximum safety for pedestrian and vehicular traffic on the site. The number of access drives will be limited to the minimum to accommodate and service the anticipated traffic. All access drives will be clearly and permanently marked. The length of the access drives has been maximized to the extent possible on the site will provide for additional car queuing length on the site to minimize traffic backing up onto City streets. Pedestrian crossings within the vehicle circulation and parking areas have been minimized to the extent possible and will be clearly marked. The parking and vehicle circulation areas have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10) included under Appendix E. A Transportation Impact Analysis and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates has been prepared for the site and has been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.

22. The parking spaces shall be close to the related use.

- **Finding:** The proposed parking areas will be located on the school site and serve Athey Creek Middle School and the associated school facilities. This standard is met.
 - 37 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

23. Permeable parking spaces shall be designed and built to City standards.

Finding: The proposed parking area has not been designed using permeable surfaces. The requirements of this standard are not applicable.

B. Accessible parking standards for persons with disabilities. If any parking is provided for the public or visitors, or both, the needs of the people with disabilities shall be based upon the following standards or current applicable federal standards, whichever are more stringent:

1. Minimum number of accessible parking space requirements (see following table):

MINIMUM	TOTAL NUMBER OF	NUMBER OF VAN-	SPACES SIGNED
REQUIRED NUMBER	ACCESSIBLE SPACES	ACCESSIBLE SPACES	"WHEELCHAIR
OF TOTAL PARKING		REQUIRED, OF TOTAL	USE ONLY"
SPACES			
151-200	6	-	1

- 2. Location of parking spaces. Parking spaces for the individual with a disability that serve a particular building shall be located on the shortest possible accessible circulation route to an accessible entrance to a building. In separate parking structures or lots that do not serve a particular building, parking spaces for the persons with disabilities shall be located on the shortest possible circulation route to an accessible pedestrian entrance of the parking facility.
- 3. Accessible parking space and aisle shall meet ADA vertical and horizontal slope standards.
- 4. Where any differences exist between this section and current federal standards, those standards shall prevail over this code section.
- 5. One in every eight accessible spaces, but not less than one, shall be served by an access aisle 96 inches wide.
- 6. Van-accessible parking spaces shall have an additional sign marked "Van Accessible" mounted below the accessible parking sign. A van-accessible parking space reserved for wheelchair users shall have a sign that includes the words "Wheelchair Use Only." Van-accessible parking shall have an adjacent eight-foot-wide aisle. All other accessible stalls shall have a six-foot-wide aisle. Two vehicles may share the same aisle if it is between them. The vertical clearance of the van space shall be 96 inches.
- **Finding:** The site has a total of 186 parking stalls; therefore, six ADA stalls are required. A total of nine ADA stalls, including two van stalls have been provided on site. The west parking lot has been designed with three ADA parking stalls, including one van stall. The east parking lot has been designed with six ADA parking stalls, including one van stall. The ADA parking stalls have been located on the shortest possible accessible circulation route to an accessible entrance to the building. This standard is met.

C. Landscaping in parking areas. Reference Chapter 54 CDC, Landscaping.

38 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

D. Bicycle facilities and parking.

- 1. Provisions shall be made for pedestrian and bicycle ways if such facilities are shown on an adopted plan.
- 2. Bicycle parking facilities shall either be lockable enclosures in which the bicycle is stored, or secure stationary racks which accommodate bicyclist's locks securing the frame and both wheels. The bicycle parking shall be no more than 50 feet from the entrance to the building, well-lit, observable, and properly signed.
- 3. Bicycle parking must be provided in the following amounts:

LAND USE CATEGORY	MINIMUM REQUIRED BICYCLE PARKING SPACES	MINIMUM COVERED AMOUNT
Schools – Jr. High or Middle Schools		50%

Finding: The proposed school will have a total of 25 classrooms. Based on the number of classrooms, 100 bicycle parking stalls are required, with 50 covered bicycle parking stalls. A total of 102 bicycle parking stalls have been provided on the school campus, with 50 covered. Three bicycle parking areas have been dispersed on the site to provide bicycle parking adjacent to both the west entrance and the east entrance as well as the recreation facilities on site.

WEST BUILDING ENTRANCE

The bicycle parking area located at the west entrance provides 36 bicycle parking stalls and is located within 50 feet of the main covered entryway as shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.12) and Landscape Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A).

EAST BUILDING ENTRANCES

The bicycle parking area located at the east entrance provides 36 bicycle parking stalls, including 20 covered stalls, and is located within 50 feet from the main covered entryway and auxiliary gym entryway as shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.13) and Landscape Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A).

SITE RECREATION AREAS

The school use of the site provides several site amenities and facilities for use by students and visitors during and after school hours. A bicycle parking area of 30 covered parking stalls has been centrally located within the recreation area of the school campus. This bicycle parking area has been located within 50 feet of a building entrance located within the classroom wing and within 50 feet of recreation areas that include basketball courts and hardscape play areas as illustrated on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.13) and Landscape Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A).

This standard is met.

39 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

E. Office or industrial developments shall be allowed a 10 percent reduction in the number of required parking spaces when the property owner agrees to a demand management program that includes three or more of the following measures:

ANGLE OF	DIRECTION	AISLE WIDTH		DIMENSION 'A'		DIMENSION 'B'	
PARKING	OF	STALL WIDTH		STALL WIDTH		STALL WIDTH	
	PARKING	9.0′	8.0'	9.0′	8.0′	9.0′	8.0′
30°	DRIVE-IN	12.5′	12.5′	16.8′	13.8′	18.0′	16.0′
45°	DRIVE-IN	12.5′	12.5′	19.1′	17.0′	12.7′	11.3′
60°	DRIVE-IN	19.0′	18.0′	20.1′	17.8′	10.4′	9.2′
60°	BACK-IN	17.0′	17.0′	20.1′	17.8′	10.4′	9.2′
90°	DRIVE-IN	23.0′	23.0′	18.0′	16.0′	9.0′	8.0′
90°	BACK-IN	22.0′	22.0′	18.0′	16.0′	9.0′	8.0′

Finding: The proposed development is not an office or industrial development. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

F. (See Figures 1 and 2 below.)

Finding: All proposed stalls will be 90 degrees. The standard stalls have been designed to be 9.0 feet in width, 18.0 feet in length with 24.0-foot minimum drive aisles. The compact stalls have been designed to be 8.0 feet in width, 16.0 feet in length with 23.0-foot minimum drive aisles. The parking lot stall dimensions have been illustrated on the detailed Site Plans (Sheet LU1.12, LU1.14 and LU1.15). This standard is met.

Chapter 48 ACCESS, EGRESS AND CIRCULATION

48.020 APPLICABILITY AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. The provisions of this chapter do not apply where the provisions of the Transportation System Plan or land division chapter are applicable and set forth differing standards.

Finding: The provisions of this chapter have been addressed as they are applicable to the proposed development. Where sections of the City's 2016 Transportation System Plan relating capital projects, access spacing, roadway design standards, frontage improvements and the Safe Routes to School Program are applicable, they have been addressed within this narrative and within the Traffic Impact Study and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates included under Appendix E. This standard is met.

B. All lots shall have access from a public street or from a platted private street approved under the land division chapter.

Finding: The subject site has access from the extension of Brandon Place and from Dollar Street, both public streets. This standard is met.

C. No building or other permit shall be issued until scaled plans are presented to the City and approved by the City as provided by this chapter, and show how the access, egress, and

circulation requirements are to be fulfilled. Access to State or County roads may require review, approval, and permits from the appropriate authority.

Finding: As demonstrated within this narrative, the access, egress and circulation requirements of this section have been met.

D. Should the owner or occupant of a lot, parcel or building enlarge or change the use to which the lot, parcel or building is put, resulting in increasing any of the requirements of this chapter, it shall be unlawful and a violation of this code to begin or maintain such altered use until the provisions of this chapter have been met, and, if required, until the appropriate approval authority under Chapter 99 CDC has approved the change.

Finding: The provisions of this chapter have been addressed as applicable to the proposed school. The proposed development is subject to quasi-judicial review under Chapter 99 CDC. This standard is met.

E. Owners of two or more uses, structures, lots, parcels, or units of land may agree to utilize jointly the same access and egress when the combined access and egress of both uses, structures, or parcels of land satisfies the requirements as designated in this code; provided, that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the City Attorney in the form of deeds, easements, leases, or contracts to establish joint use. Copies of said instrument shall be placed on permanent file with the City Recorder.

F. Property owners shall not be compelled to access their homes via platted stems of flag lots if other driveways and easements are available and approved by the City Engineer.

Finding: The site is used solely for the purpose of a middle school and the associated activities related to the operation of the middle school. The standards in Subsections E. and F. are not applicable to the proposed development.

48.025 ACCESS CONTROL

A. Purpose. The following access control standards apply to public, industrial, commercial and residential developments including land divisions. Access shall be managed to maintain an adequate level of service and to maintain the functional classification of roadways as required by the West Linn Transportation System Plan.

B. Access control standards.

- 1. Traffic impact analysis requirements. The City or other agency with access jurisdiction may require a traffic study prepared by a qualified professional to determine access, circulation and other transportation requirements. (See also CDC 55.125, Transportation Impact Analysis.)
- **Finding:** A Traffic Impact Analysis for the site prepared by DKS Associates has been submitted under Appendix D. In addition, a supplementary memo was provided by DKS Associates in response to community questions and concerns regarding traffic. This memo has been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.

- 2. The City or other agency with access permit jurisdiction may require the closing or consolidation of existing curb cuts or other vehicle access points, recording of reciprocal access easements (i.e., for shared driveways), development of a frontage street, installation of traffic control devices, and/or other mitigation as a condition of granting an access permit, to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the street and highway system. Access to and from off-street parking areas shall not permit backing onto a public street.
- **Finding:** As a result of a coordinated effort between City Staff and expert guidance from DKS and Associates, the development will include right-of-way improvements to Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive, and an extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension of Brandon Place will provide a needed secondary emergency access route to the neighborhood. Vehicular access to the site will be provided on Dollar Street and on Brandon Place Drive. All required traffic control devices will be installed. The proposed parking lot access will not require backing onto Dollar Street or Brandon Place. This standard is met.
 - 3. Access options. When vehicle access is required for development (i.e., for off-street parking, delivery, service, drive-through facilities, etc.), access shall be provided by one of the following methods (planned access shall be consistent with adopted public works standards and TSP). These methods are "options" as approved by the City Engineer.
 - a) Option 1. Access is from an existing or proposed alley or mid-block lane. If a property has access to an alley or lane, direct access to a public street is not permitted.
 - b) Option 2. Access is from a private street or driveway connected to an adjoining property that has direct access to a public street (i.e., "shared driveway"). A public access easement covering the driveway shall be recorded in this case to assure access to the closest public street for all users of the private street/drive.
 - c) Option 3. Access is from a public street adjacent to the development lot or parcel. If practicable, the owner/developer may be required to close or consolidate an existing access point as a condition of approving a new access. Street accesses shall comply with the access spacing standards in subsection (B)(6) of this section.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lots will take access from Dollar Street and Brandon Place, both public streets. Other existing vehicular access to the site will be eliminated as shown on the plans. This standard is met.
 - 4. Subdivisions fronting onto an arterial street. New residential land divisions fronting onto an arterial street shall be required to provide alleys or secondary (local or collector) streets for access to individual lots. When alleys or secondary streets cannot be constructed due to topographic or other physical constraints, access may be provided by consolidating driveways for clusters of two or more lots (e.g., includes flag lots and mid-block lanes).

- **Finding:** The proposed development is not a subdivision. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 5. Double-frontage lots. When a lot or parcel has frontage onto two or more streets, access shall be provided first from the street with the lowest classification. For example, access shall be provided from a local street before a collector or arterial street. When a lot or parcel has frontage opposite that of the adjacent lots or parcels, access shall be provided from the street with the lowest classification.
- **Finding:** The subject property has frontage on Willamette Falls Drive, an arterial street, Dollar Street, and the proposed extension of Brandon Place. The proposed parking lots will take access from Brandon Place and Dollar Street, which are classified as local streets. This standard is met.
 - 6. Access spacing.
 - a. The access spacing standards found in the adopted Transportation System Plan (TSP) shall be applicable to all newly established public street intersections and non-traversable medians. Deviation from the access spacing standards may be granted by the City Engineer if conditions are met as described in the access spacing variances section in the adopted TSP.
 - b. Private drives and other access ways are subject to the requirements of CDC 48.060.
- **Finding:** Dollar Street is classified as a local street with an intersection spacing requirement of 150 feet. The distance between intersection of Brandon Place and Dollar Street and the intersection of River Heights Circle and Dollar Street is approximately 260 feet.

Willamette Falls Drive is classified as an arterial street with an intersection spacing requirement of 500 feet. The extension of Brandon Place to Willamette Falls Drive will align with a secondary driveway to Fields Bridge Park, via a proposed roundabout. The primary access to Fields Bridge Park is located approximately 730 feet east from the proposed intersection of Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive. The access spacing standards have been met.

The proposed access drives have been addressed within this narrative under the requirements of CDC 48.060.

7. Number of access points. For single-family (detached and attached), two-family, and duplex housing types, one street access point is permitted per lot or parcel, when alley access cannot otherwise be provided; except that two access points may be permitted corner lots (i.e., no more than one access per street), subject to the access spacing standards in subsection (B)(6) of this section. The number of street access points for multiple family, commercial, industrial, and public/institutional developments shall be minimized to protect the function, safety and operation of the street(s) and sidewalk(s) for all users. Shared access may be required, in conformance with subsection (B)(8) of

this section, in order to maintain the required access spacing, and minimize the number of access points.

- **Finding:** The school is classified as a public/institutional development. The proposed access points for the new parking lots are the minimum number to serve the needs of the school and have been located to protect the function, safety and operation of the street and sidewalk for all users. The access spacing standards for a local street have been met. This standard is met.
 - 8. Shared driveways. The number of driveway and private street intersections with public streets shall be minimized by the use of shared driveways with adjoining lots where feasible. The City shall require shared driveways as a condition of land division or site design review, as applicable, for traffic safety and access management purposes in accordance with the following standards:
 - a. Shared driveways and frontage streets may be required to consolidate access onto a collector or arterial street. When shared driveways or frontage streets are required, they shall be stubbed to adjacent developable parcels to indicate future extension. "Stub" means that a driveway or street temporarily ends at the property line, but may be extended in the future as the adjacent lot or parcel develops. "Developable" means that a lot or parcel is either vacant or it is likely to receive additional development (i.e., due to infill or redevelopment potential).
 - b. Access easements (i.e., for the benefit of affected properties) shall be recorded for all shared driveways, including pathways, at the time of final plat approval or as a condition of site development approval.
 - c. Exception. Shared driveways are not required when existing development patterns or physical constraints (e.g., topography, lot or parcel configuration, and similar conditions) prevent extending the street/driveway in the future.
- **Finding:** A shared driveway is not proposed or feasible for the proposed development. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed development.

C. Street connectivity and formation of blocks required. In order to promote efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation throughout the City, land divisions and large site developments shall produce complete blocks bounded by a connecting network of public and/or private streets, in accordance with the following standards:

- 1. Block length and perimeter. The maximum block length shall not exceed 800 feet or 1,800 feet along an arterial.
- 2. Street standards. Public and private streets shall also conform to Chapter 92 CDC, Required Improvements, and to any other applicable sections of the West Linn Community Development Code and approved TSP.
- 3. Exception. Exceptions to the above standards may be granted when blocks are divided by one or more pathway(s), in conformance with the provisions of CDC 85.200(C), Pedestrian and Bicycle Trails, or cases where extreme topographic (e.g., slope, creek,

wetlands, etc.) conditions or compelling functional limitations preclude implementation, not just inconveniences or design challenges.

Finding: The proposed development will include the extension of Brandon Place from the intersection at Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive, aligning with a secondary driveway for Fields Bridge Park. The proposed street connection will provide through access from Dollar Street, which is currently a dead-end street. The Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive intersection is located approximately 1,780 feet from the intersection of Willamette Falls Drive and Epperly Way. The block length standards for an arterial have been met by the proposed Brandon Place extension. Chapter 92 has been addressed within this narrative. This standard is met.

48.040 MINIMUM VEHICLE REQUIREMENTS FOR NON-RESIDENTIAL USES

Access, egress, and circulation system for all non-residential uses shall not be less than the following:

A. Service drives for non-residential uses shall be fully improved with hard surface pavement:

- 1. With a minimum of 24-foot width when accommodating two-way traffic; or
- 2. With a minimum of 15-foot width when accommodating one-way traffic. Horizontal clearance shall be two and one-half feet wide on either side of the driveway.
- 3. Meet the requirements of CDC 48.030(E)(3) through (6).
- 4. Pickup window driveways may be 12 feet wide unless the Fire Chief determines additional width is required.

B. All non-residential uses shall be served by one or more service drives as determined necessary to provide convenient and safe access to the property and designed according to CDC 48.030(A). In no case shall the design of the service drive or drives require or facilitate the backward movement or other maneuvering of a vehicle within a street, other than an alley.

C. All on-site maneuvering and/or access drives shall be maintained pursuant to CDC 46.130. D. Gated accessways to non-residential uses are prohibited unless required for public safety or security.

Finding: All on-site maneuvering and access drives have been designed to provide convenient and safe access to the property, with a minimum of 24-foot wide hard surface pavement to provide two-way traffic. This standard is met.

48.050 ONE-WAY VEHICULAR ACCESS POINTS

Where a proposed parking facility plan indicates only one-way traffic flow on the site, it shall be accommodated by a specific driveway serving the facility, and the entrance drive shall be situated closest to oncoming traffic, and the exit drive shall be situated farthest from oncoming traffic.

Finding: The proposed parking facilities will provide for two-way traffic flow on site. The requirements of this section are not appliable.

48.060 WIDTH AND LOCATION OF CURB CUTS AND ACCESS SEPARATION REQUIREMENTS

45 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

A. Minimum curb cut width shall be 16 feet.

B. Maximum curb cut width shall be 36 feet, except along Highway 43 in which case the maximum curb cut shall be 40 feet. For emergency service providers, including fire stations, the maximum shall be 50 feet.

Finding: The proposed driveway on Brandon Place has a width of 24 feet. The driveway has been designed to meet Brandon Place with a curb return with a 28-foot radius rather than a driveway apron to accommodate both bus and fire truck traffic into the site. The proposed driveway on Dollar Street has a width that tapers from 28 feet to 24 feet. The driveway has been designed with a curb return with a 28-foot radius rather than a driveway apron to accommodate both bus and fire truck traffic into the site. The proposed driveway is preferred by the District to prevent buses from having to oversteer into oncoming traffic to turn into the site. The width of the curb cut at Brandon Place is 71.2 feet. The width of the curb cut at Dollar street is 83.8 feet.

C. No curb cuts shall be allowed any closer to an intersecting street right-of-way line than the following:

- 1. On an arterial when intersected by another arterial, 150 feet
- 2. On an arterial when intersected by a collector, 100 feet.
- 3. On an arterial when intersected by a local street, 100 feet.
- 4. On a collector when intersecting an arterial street, 100 feet
- 5. On a collector when intersected by another collector or local street, 35 feet.
- 6. On a local street when intersecting any other street, 35 feet.
- **Finding:** Brandon Place is classified as a local street. The proposed curb cut on Brandon Place is 39 feet from the right-of-way on Dollar Street, and 242 feet from Willamette Falls Drive. Dollar Street is classified as a local street. The proposed curb cut is located 358 feet from River Heights Circle and 139 feet from Fields Drive. The curb cut spacing for both driveways exceeds the minimum requirement for a local street of 35 feet. This standard is met.

D. There shall be a minimum distance between any two adjacent curb cuts on the same side of a public street, except for one-way entrances and exits, as follows:

- 1. On an arterial street, 150 feet.
- 2. On a collector street, 75 feet.
- 3. Between any two curb cuts on the same lot or parcel on a local street, 30 feet.
- **Finding:** The proposed driveway on Dollar Street is located 210 feet from the nearest curb cut on the same side of the street, which exceeds the minimum requirement of 30 feet on a local road. The proposed driveway on Brandon Place will be the only driveway on the block. This standard is met.

E. A rolled curb may be installed in lieu of curb cuts and access separation requirements.

Finding: A rolled curb is not proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

F. Curb cuts shall be kept to the minimum, particularly on Highway 43. Consolidation of driveways is preferred. The standard on Highway 43 is one curb cut per business if consolidation of driveways is not possible.

Finding: The site will have two access drives, one on Brandon Place and one on Dollar Street, both local roads. The number of curb cuts has been kept to a minimum. The site is not located on Highway 43. This standard is met.

G. Adequate line of sight pursuant to engineering standards should be afforded at each driveway or accessway.

Finding: A clear vision area will be maintained at the intersection of Brandon Place and Dollar Street, at the intersection of Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive and at the proposed parking lot accessways on Dollar Street and Brandon Place. The clear vision area will not contain plantings, fences, walls, or structures exceeding three feet in height. Clear Vision Triangles have been shown at all intersections on the Overall Site Plan (SheetLU1.10). The proposed monument sign has been located outside of the vision clearance triangle areas. This requirement is met.

48.080 BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION

A. Within all multi-family developments (except two-family/duplex dwellings), each residential dwelling shall be connected to vehicular parking stalls, common open space, and recreation facilities by a pedestrian pathway system having a minimum width of six feet and constructed of an all-weather material. The pathway material shall be of a different color or composition from the driveway. (Bicycle routes adjacent to the travel lanes do not have to be of different color or composition.)

B. Bicycle and pedestrian ways within a subdivision shall be constructed according to the provisions in CDC 85.200(A)(3).

C. Bicycle and pedestrian ways at commercial or industrial sites shall be provided according to the provisions of Chapter 55 CDC, Design Review.

Finding: The proposed development is a public institutional use. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

Chapter 52 SIGNS

52.210 APPROVAL STANDARDS

All signs shall meet the following standards:

A. The scale of the sign and its components shall be appropriate for its location and consistent with the applicable design standards.

- **Finding:** The District is proposing one monument sign at the driveway on Brandon Place. The sign will be setback from the right-of-way five feet and will meet the City's dimensional requirements for a Public Use, as demonstrated in the response to CDC Chapter 52.300 within this narrative. The monument sign elevation has been shown on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (LU3.06). The District is requesting a Class II variance for size of the proposed on-wall sign. The Class II Variance and Sign Variance criteria has been addressed within this narrative.
 - 47 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

B. The size, location, or manner of illumination shall not create a traffic hazard and shall not hide from view any traffic or street sign or signal.

Finding: The proposed monument sign has been located five feet from the right-of-way on Brandon Place Drive. The sign will not be located in the clear vision area and will not create a traffic hazard or hide from view any traffic or street signs and signals, as demonstrated on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10).

C. The sign shall be located in compliance with Chapter 42 CDC, Clear Vision Area.

Finding: The proposed monument sign has been located outside of the Clear Vision Area, as described in Chapter 42 CDC. Clear Vision Triangles have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10).

D. Signs and sign structures located over vehicular driveways and pedestrian walkways shall allow at least 15 feet of clearance over driveways and eight feet of clearance over walkways.

Finding: The District is not proposing signs or sign structures over vehicular driveways or pedestrian walkways. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

E. The light from any illuminated sign shall be shaded, fully shielded such that no light is emitted above the horizontal plane, and directed or reduced so that glare is minimized.

Finding: The monument sign will feature a manual diffused backlit message board. The light illuminated from the sign will minimize glare. This standard is met.

F. Signs shall be located to preserve existing trees, topography and natural drainage, to the extent possible consistent with the installation of the sign.

Finding: The extension of Brandon Place will require the removal of several trees on the site. The monument sign located along Brandon Place will not require the removal of any additional trees on site. The monument sign has been located to preserve existing trees, topography, and natural drainage to the extent possible. A Tree Removal Plan (Sheet LU1001) has been included under Appendix E. This standard is met.

G. All permanent signs shall be located within a landscaped area or installed on a wood, stone, or other base structure that meets the following standards:

- Signs shall be installed on a base with a maximum height of two feet, a minimum width at least one-half as wide as the sign face, and a depth equal to or greater than the depth of the sign. The sign height includes any portion of the base located above street grade (also refer to Sign Definitions – Grade).
- In the event a sign is erected on a multiple-pole or piling structure, the base required by subsection (G)(1) of this section shall be apportioned among each of the upright members.
- 3. Any wood used in a base shall be treated against water damage and insect assault.

Finding: The proposed monument sign will be located in a landscaped area and installed on a masonry brick base structure. The base of the proposed sign is 1.7 feet in height, including the concrete pad foundation. The sign face is five feet wide, with a sign base of six feet seven inches. The sign base will have a depth equal to the depth of the sign. This standard is met.

H. Manual changeable copy signs shall be designed to minimize the opportunity for unauthorized personnel to change the sign copy.

Finding: A manual changeable copy sign will have a lockable cover that has been designed to minimize the opportunity for unauthorized personnel to change the sign copy. This standard is met.

I. Electronic changeable copy signs are permitted in business centers only, either as separate signs or as part of a larger sign. The approval authority may impose conditions of approval regarding the frequency of copy change, the hours of operation, and the methods by which the message is changed in order to assure compliance with the standards of this section and this chapter. Electronic changeable copy signs are subject to the following requirements:

- 1. The sign face for the electronic changeable copy sign or portion of a sign may not exceed 24 square feet; provided, however, that electronic changeable copy signs with greater than 24 square feet may be approved through the conditional use process.
- 2. The design and placement of the sign shall not adversely affect vehicular and pedestrian safety.
- 3. The sign shall comply with all other requirements of this chapter.

Finding: Electronic changeable copy signs are not proposed. This standard is not applicable.

J. Where both sides of a sign may be viewed from a right-of-way, the signs shall be double-faced.

Finding: The proposed monument sign will be double faced. This standard is met.

			Freestanding Signs			On-Wall Signs			
	City	Illumination	No.	Max.	Max.	ROW	No.	Max.	Max.
	Apprl.		Allowed	Sq.	Ht.	Setback	Allowed	Sq.	Ht.
	Reqd.			Ft.	(Ft.)			Ft.	(ft.)
Public	Yes	Yes	1 ⁵	24	20	5	No	18	25
Uses							Limit	total	

52.300 PERMANENT SIGN DESIGN STANDARDS

⁵Parks may have two signs per frontage. Signs in parks directed at pedestrians or cyclists within the parks are not limited in number or size. Schools may have two signs.

Finding: The District is proposing one illuminated monument sign at the driveway on Brandon Place. The sign will be setback from the right-of-way five feet, with a maximum height of six feet seven inches and a total sign area of 16.24 square feet.

The monument sign has been shown on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (Sheet LU3.06).

The District is proposing one on-wall sign, located on the west face of the building. The on-wall sign will have a combined area of 110 square feet, which exceeds the maximum allowed square footage. The building sign lettering has a total area of 21 square feet. The proposed wall sign has been illustrated on Monument and Building Signage Plan (LU3.06). A Class II variance has been requested for the proposed onwall sign. The Class II variance criteria have been addressed within this narrative.

52.110 VARIANCES

A. Sign height and sign area variances shall be a Class II variance, and shall be reviewed pursuant to the provisions of subsection C of this section and Chapter 75 CDC.

B. All other sign variances shall be treated as Class I variance, and shall be reviewed pursuant to the provisions of subsection C of this section and CDC 75.050.

Finding: The proposed on-wall sign exceeds the allowable maximum area of 18 square feet for public uses. A Class II variance is required. The provisions of subsection C of this section and Chapter 75 CDC have been addressed within this narrative.

C. The granting authority may grant a variance from the requirements of this chapter if it is established that:

- The architectural design of a building, the location of a building site or location of building thereon, or some other circumstance relating to the sign proposal, is unusual or unique and that, because of this, a hardship will be created in that the applicant will be denied an opportunity to identify their business or location relatively equal to the opportunity accorded other members of the community not burdened with such unusual or unique architectural design, building site, or other circumstance;
- **Finding:** The proposed on-wall sign will be located on the west face of the building at the primary building entrance for students, parents, and visitors. The access for visitors to the school from Brandon Place is approximately 466.6 feet from the west face of the building. The proposed sign variance to increase the size of the sign to 110 square feet is necessary for readability for vehicles and pedestrians traveling from Brandon Place. An 18-square foot sign area is not readable from Brandon Place and would create a hardship for the applicant to identify the school building, which has unique architectural and site needs as a community building. The building signage has been illustrated on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (LU3.06). This standard is met.
 - 2. The design is consistent with the request and will not be injurious to the neighborhood in which the property is located or to property established to be affected by the request; and

Finding: The proposed on-wall sign will be oriented towards the west and will not be visible from the residential neighborhoods to the north and east. The sign will consist of individual metal letter type, mounted to the wall of the west façade without a continuous sign backing. This will reduce the overall visual impact of the larger sign, allowing for readability while reducing the overall mass of the sign. This standard is met.

3. The request is the minimum variance necessary to provide reasonable signage for the property affected.

Finding: The proposed sign variance to increase the size of the sign to 110 square feet is necessary for readability for vehicles and pedestrians traveling from Brandon Place. An 18-square foot sign area is not readable from Brandon Place and would create a hardship for the applicant to identify the school building, which has unique architectural and site needs as a community building. The building signage has been illustrated on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (LU3.06). This standard is met.

Chapter 54 LANDSCAPING

54.020 APPROVAL CRITERIA

A. Every development proposal requires inventorying existing site conditions which include trees and landscaping. In designing the new project, every reasonable attempt should be made to preserve and protect existing trees and to incorporate them into the new landscape plan. Similarly, significant landscaping (e.g., bushes, shrubs) should be integrated. The rationale is that saving a 30-foot-tall mature tree helps maintain the continuity of the site, they are qualitatively superior to two or three two-inch caliper street trees, they provide immediate micro-climate benefits (e.g., shade), they soften views of the street, and they can increase the attractiveness, marketability, and value of the development.

Finding: A Tree Removal Schedule (Sheet L1000A-L1000C), Tree Removal Plan (Sheet L1001-L1002) and Arborist Report have been provided in the land use application. The District has preserved existing trees on site to the extent possible for the proposed development. Tree preservation has been concentrated particularly along Willamette Falls Drive and the eastern property line. The proposed landscaping on site will provide an enhanced planting buffer along Dollar Street, where trees will need to be removed. This standard is met.

B. To encourage tree preservation, the parking requirement may be reduced by one space for every significant tree that is preserved in the parking lot area for a maximum reduction of 10 percent of the required parking. The City Parks Supervisor or Arborist shall determine the significance of the tree and/or landscaping to determine eligibility for these reductions.

Finding: The District has considered the needs of the school and surrounding neighborhood with regards to on-site parking. The school will meet the parking requirements of the City's code. A reduction in required parking is not requested. The District has considered natural site features in the design and placement of site improvements

to maximize the preservation of natural features of the site, while balancing the need for parking at the school. This standard is met.

C. Developers must also comply with the municipal code chapter on tree protection.

Finding: The District will comply with all municipal code requirements for tree protection. An Arborist Report has been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.

D. Heritage trees. Heritage trees are trees which, because of their age, type, notability, or historical association, are of special importance. Heritage trees are trees designated by the City Council following review of a nomination. A heritage tree may not be removed without a public hearing at least 30 days prior to the proposed date of removal. Development proposals involving land with heritage tree(s) shall be required to protect and save the tree(s). Further discussion of heritage trees is found in the municipal code.

Finding: The District and City's arborist performed an in-person evaluation of the trees on site. No heritage trees have been identified on this site. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

E. Landscaping – By type, location and amount.

- 1. Residential uses (non-single-family). A minimum of 25 percent of the gross area including parking, loading and service areas shall be landscaped, and may include the open space and recreation area requirements under CDC 55.100. Parking lot landscaping may be counted in the percentage.
- 2. Non-residential uses. A minimum of 20 percent of the gross site area shall be landscaped. Parking lot landscaping may be counted in the percentage.
- **Finding:** The site has a gross area of 962,676 square feet. The total landscape area at full build out of the site, including parking lot landscaping for the site is 488,861 square feet, or 50.8 percent of the gross site area. This standard is met.

3. All uses (residential uses (non-single-family) and non-residential uses):

a. The landscaping shall be located in defined landscaped areas which are uniformly distributed throughout the parking or loading area. There shall be one shade tree planted for every eight parking spaces. These trees shall be evenly distributed throughout the parking lot to provide shade. Parking lots with over 20 spaces shall have a minimum 10 percent of the interior of the parking lot devoted to landscaping. Pedestrian walkways in the landscaped areas are not to be counted in the percentage. The perimeter landscaping, explained in subsection (E)(3)(d) of this section, shall not be included in the 10 percent figure. Parking lots with 10 to 20 spaces shall have a minimum five percent of the interior of the parking lot devoted to landscaping. The perimeter landscaping, as explained above, shall not be included in the five percent. Parking lots with fewer than 10 spaces shall have the standard perimeter landscaping and at least two shade trees. Non-residential parking areas paved with a permeable parking surface may reduce the required

minimum interior landscaping by one-third for the area with the permeable parking surface only.

Finding: Parking on the school site will exceed 20 parking spaces, therefore a minimum of 10 percent of the interior of the parking lot is required to be landscaped. The west parking lot has 71 parking stalls and a total area of 38,067 square feet. The west parking lot has a total of 14 shade trees located within the interior parking area, or one shade tree per 5 parking spaces. This exceeds the minimum requirement of one shade tree per 8 parking spaces. The total interior landscape area for the west parking lot is 5,177 square feet, or 13.5 percent.

The east parking lot has 115 parking stalls and a total area of 58,604 square feet. The east parking lot has a total of 24 shade trees located within the interior parking area, or one shade tree per 4.8 parking stalls. This exceeds the minimum requirement of one shade tree per 8 parking spaces. The total interior landscape area for the east parking lot is 7,922 square feet, or 13.5 percent. The parking lot landscaping has been shown on the Planting Plans (Sheets L1400A-L1407). The requirements of this section have been met.

b. The landscaped areas shall not have a width of less than five feet.

- **Finding:** All proposed parking lot landscape areas have a width of at least five feet. This standard is met.
 - c. The soils, site, proposed soil amendments, and proposed irrigation system shall be appropriate for the healthy and long-term maintenance of the proposed plant species.
- **Finding:** The soils, site, proposed soil amendments, and proposed irrigation system are appropriate for the healthy and long-term maintenance of the proposed plant species. This standard is met.
 - d. A parking, loading, or service area which abuts a street shall be set back from the right-of-way line by perimeter landscaping in the form of a landscaped strip at least 10 feet in width. When a parking, loading, or service area or driveway is contiguous to an adjoining lot or parcel, there shall be an intervening five-footwide landscape strip. The landscaped area shall contain:
 - 1) Street trees spaced as appropriate to the species, not to exceed 50 feet apart on the average;
 - 2) Shrubs, not to reach a height greater than three feet, six inches, spaced no more than five feet apart on the average; or
 - 3) Vegetative ground cover such as grass, wildflowers, or other landscape material to cover 100 percent of the exposed ground within two growing seasons. No bark mulch shall be allowed except under the canopy of low level shrubs.

- **Finding:** The western parking lot abuts Dollar Street at one end. The parking lot is located more than 15 feet away from Dollar Street and will be landscaped with a minimum five-foot landscape strip along the perimeter abutting Dollar Street. In addition to the street trees proposed along Dollar Street, the proposed landscape strip will be planted with trees, shrubs, and vegetative ground cover consistent with the requirements of this section. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the eastern parking lot as it is located more than 80 feet from the property line along Willamette Falls Drive.
 - e. If over 50 percent of the lineal frontage of the main street or arterial adjacent to the development site comprises parking lot, the landscape strip between the right-of-way and parking lot shall be increased to 15 feet in width and shall include terrain variations (e.g., one-foot-high berm) plus landscaping. This extra requirement only applies to one street frontage.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lots do not exceed 50 percent of the lineal frontage on the streets abutting the property. The parking lots have been located at least 15 feet from all street frontages abutting the property. The requirements of this section are met.
 - f. A parking, loading, or service area which abuts a property line shall be separated from the property line by a landscaped area at least five feet in width and which shall act as a screen and noise buffer, and the adequacy of the screen and buffer shall be determined by the criteria set forth in CDC 55.100(C) and (D), except where shared parking is approved under CDC 46.050.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lots are not abutting any neighboring residential property lines. The west parking lot is located along Dollar Street and has been separated from the property line by a minimum 15-foot wide landscape buffer. The eastern parking lot is located 80 feet from Willamette Falls Drive and 130 feet from the nearest residential property line. Existing landscaping along the eastern and southern property lines will buffer the east parking lot from view. The proposed loading area is located 26 feet from the property line on Dollar Street be sunk down from Dollar Street and will be surrounding by a 13-foot-tall retaining wall which will act as a screen and noise buffer. This standard is met.
 - g. All areas in a parking lot not used for parking, maneuvering, or circulation shall be landscaped.
- **Finding:** All proposed parking lot areas not used for parking, maneuvering and circulation will be landscaped. This standard is met.
 - h. The landscaping in parking areas shall not obstruct lines of sight for safe traffic operation.
- **Finding:** The proposed parking lot landscaping will not obstruct lines of sight for safe traffic operation. A vision clearance triangle has been provided on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.

- i. Outdoor storage areas, service areas (loading docks, refuse deposits, and delivery areas), and above-ground utility facilities shall be buffered and screened to obscure their view from adjoining properties and to reduce noise levels to acceptable levels at the property line. The adequacy of the buffer and screening shall be determined by the criteria set forth in CDC 55.100(C)(1).
- **Finding:** Outdoor storage areas, service areas, and above-ground utility facilities will be buffered and screened to obscure their view from adjoining properties and to reduce noise levels to acceptable levels at the property line. The proposed loading area is located 26 feet from the property line on Dollar Street be sunk down from Dollar Street and will be surrounding by a 13-foot-tall retaining wall which will act as a screen and noise buffer. The track and field storage building will be not located within the required street side yard setback. The storage building will be sunk down into the site and shield from view with the proposed plantings. A Noise Study was conducted for the proposed school and has been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.
 - j. Crime prevention shall be considered and plant materials shall not be located in a manner which prohibits surveillance of public and semi-public areas (shared or common areas).
- **Finding:** Crime prevention and natural surveillance of the site has been considered in the layout and design of the school building and site facilities. The location main office at the western building entrance will allow for natural surveillance of the site and those within the parking facilities. The plantings adjacent to the main office will be low to allow for views across the site. The proposed plant materials have been located in a manner that will not prohibit the surveillance of public and semi-public areas. This standard is met.
 - k. Irrigation facilities shall be located so that landscaped areas can be properly maintained and so that the facilities do not interfere with vehicular or pedestrian circulation.
- **Finding:** The irrigation facilities will be located so that landscaped areas can be properly maintained and so that the facilities do not interfere with vehicular or pedestrian circulation. The irrigation facilities have been described on the Materials Plan Overall (Sheet LU1100) and noted on the Planting Schedule (Sheet 1400B). This standard is met.
 - I. For commercial, office, multi-family, and other sites, the developer shall select trees that possess the following characteristics:
 - 1) **Provide generous "spreading" canopy for shade.**
 - 2) Roots do not break up adjacent paving.
 - 3) Tree canopy spread starts at least six feet up from grade in, or adjacent to, parking lots, roads, or sidewalks unless the tree is columnar in nature.
 - 4) No sticky leaves or sap-dripping trees (no honey-dew excretion).

- 5) No seed pods or fruit-bearing trees (flowering trees are acceptable).
- 6) Disease-resistant.
- 7) Compatible with planter size.
- 8) Drought-tolerant unless irrigation is provided.
- 9) Attractive foliage or form all seasons.
- m. Plant materials (shrubs, ground cover, etc.) shall be selected for their appropriateness to the site, drought tolerance, year-round greenery and coverage, staggered flowering periods, and avoidance of nuisance plants (Scotch broom, etc.).
- **Finding:** A Planting Plan Overall (Sheet L1400A), Planting Schedule (Sheet L1400B), and detailed Planting Plans (Sheets L1401-L1407) prepared by a professional landscape architect have been provided under Appendix E of this application. All trees that have been selected meet the characteristics provided in subsection 1-9 above. This standard is met.

F. Landscaping (trees) in new subdivision.

Finding: The proposed development is not a subdivision. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

G. Landscaping requirements in water resource areas (WRAs). Pursuant to CDC 32.110(E)(3) the requirements of this chapter relating to total site landscaping, landscaping buffers, landscaping around parking lots, and landscaping the parking lot interior may be waived or reduced in a WRA application without a variance being required.

Finding: Landscaping is not proposed in a water resource area. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

54.030 PLANTING STRIPS FOR MODIFIED AND NEW STREETS

All proposed changes in width in a public street right-of-way or any proposed street improvement shall, where feasible, include allowances for planting strips. Plans and specifications for planting such areas shall be integrated into the general plan of street improvements. This chapter requires any multi-family, commercial, or public facility which causes change in public right-of-way or street improvement to comply with the street tree planting plan and standards.

- **Finding:** As part of the proposed development, sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension of Brandon Place will include sidewalks on both sides, providing a pedestrian connection between Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. All proposed sidewalks will be at least six feet in width. Sidewalks on Dollar Street will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip with a width of at least six feet in width. The proposed sidewalk infill on Willamette Falls Drive east of the roundabout will be buffered by a landscape strip with a width of four and one-half-feet. The sidewalks along the western side of Brandon Place and on the eastern side of Brandon Place north of the school driveway will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip of at least six
 - 56 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

feet. The section of the sidewalk from the school driveway on Brandon Place south to Willamette Falls Drive will transition to a 10-foot wide curb-tight multi-use sidewalk, which will act as a transition area for bicycles and pedestrians traveling from the Willamette Falls Drive multi-use path. This standard is met.

54.040 INSTALLATION

A. All landscaping shall be installed according to accepted planting procedures.

B. The soil and plant materials shall be of good quality.

C. Landscaping shall be installed in accordance with the provisions of this code.

D. Certificates of occupancy shall not be issued unless the landscaping requirements have been met or other arrangements have been made and approved by the City such as the posting of a bond.

54.060 MAINTENANCE

A. The owner, tenant and their agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally responsible for the maintenance of all landscaping which shall be maintained in good condition so as to present a healthy, neat, and orderly appearance and shall be kept free from refuse and debris.

B. All plant growth in interior landscaped areas shall be controlled by pruning, trimming, or otherwise so that:

- 1. It will not interfere with the maintenance or repair of any public utility;
- 2. It will not restrict pedestrian or vehicular access; and
- 3. It will not constitute a traffic hazard because of reduced visibility.

Finding: The applicant acknowledges that the owner is responsible for the maintenance of the landscaping on site. This standard is met.

DIVISION 4. DESIGN REVIEW

Chapter 55 DESIGN REVIEW

55.020 CLASSES OF DESIGN REVIEW

B. Class II Design Review. Class II design review applies to all uses/activities except those uses/activities listed under Class I design review, and the exemptions of CDC 55.025. Class II design review applies to the proposed improvements listed in this section when the proposed improvement (e.g., new sidewalk) is part of a major commercial, office, industrial, public, or multi-family construction project (e.g., a new shopping center).

Finding: The proposed development is classified as a major public construction project; therefore, Class II design review is applicable.

55.100 APPROVAL STANDARDS – CLASS II DESIGN REVIEW

The approval authority shall make findings with respect to the following criteria when approving, approving with conditions, or denying a Class II design review application:

Finding: All landscaping installation will meet the requirements of this section. This standard is met.

A. The provisions of the following chapters shall be met:

- 1. Chapter 34 CDC, Accessory Structures, Accessory Dwelling Units, and Accessory Uses.
- 2. Chapter 38 CDC, Additional Yard Area Required; Exceptions to Yard Requirements; Storage in Yards; Projections into Yards.
- 3. Chapter 41 CDC, Building Height, Structures on Steep Lots, Exceptions.
- 4. Chapter 42 CDC, Clear Vision Areas
- 5. Chapter 44 CDC, Fences.
- 6. Chapter 46 CDC, Off-Street Parking, Loading and Reservoir Areas.
- 7. Chapter 48 CDC, Access, Egress and Circulation.
- 8. Chapter 52 CDC, Signs.
- 9. Chapter 54 CDC, Landscaping.
- **Finding:** The provisions of Chapter 34, 41, 42, 44, 46, 48, 52, and 54 have been addressed in this narrative as they have been deemed applicable. Chapter 38 is not applicable to the proposed development. As demonstrated in this application, the applicable CDC standards will be satisfied.

B. Relationship to the natural and physical environment.

- 1. The buildings and other site elements shall be designed and located so that all heritage trees, as defined in the municipal code, shall be saved. Diseased heritage trees, as determined by the City Arborist, may be removed at his/her direction.
- **Finding:** Heritage Trees have not been identified on the site. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 2. All heritage trees, as defined in the municipal code, all trees and clusters of trees ("cluster" is defined as three or more trees with overlapping driplines; however, native oaks need not have an overlapping dripline) that are considered significant by the City Arborist, either individually or in consultation with certified arborists or similarly qualified professionals, based on accepted arboricultural standards including consideration of their size, type, location, health, long term survivability, and/or numbers, shall be protected pursuant to the criteria of subsections (B)(2)(a) through (f) of this section. In cases where there is a difference of opinion on the significance of a tree or tree cluster, the City Arborist's findings shall prevail. It is important to acknowledge that all trees are not significant and, further, that this code section will not necessarily protect all trees deemed significant.
 - a. Non-residential and residential projects on Type I and II lands shall protect all heritage trees and all significant trees and tree clusters by limiting development in the protected area. The protected area includes the protected tree, its dripline, and an additional 10 feet beyond the dripline, as depicted in the figure below. Development of Type I and II lands shall require the careful layout of streets, driveways, building pads, lots, and utilities to avoid heritage trees and significant trees and tree clusters, and other natural resources pursuant to this code. The

method for delineating the protected trees or tree clusters ("dripline plus 10 feet") is explained in subsection (B)(2)(b) of this section. Exemptions of subsections (B)(2)(c), (e), and (f) of this section shall apply.

Finding: Type I, II, III and IV lands have been mapped on the site and have been shown on the Overall Site Analysis Land Types Plan (Sheet LU1.000) included under Appendix E. The gross site is 22.1 acres in size, with 2.8 acres of Type I lands and 0.9 acres of Type II lands. The net area of the site after right-of-way dedications is 21.4 acres. The total area of Type I and II lands mapped on the net site is 3.6 acres. The net developable area of the site excluding Type I and II lands is 17.8 acres. The Type I and II lands are primarily located along the eastern and southern property lines.

Heritage trees have not been identified on the site. A total of 42 significant trees on site have been identified, of which 19 will remain and 23 will be removed. Five significant trees will be removed from the Type I and II lands. These trees include a 20-inch DBH Red Alder and a 12-inch DBH Red Alder, which are in a small patch of Type I and II lands. These trees are required to be removed for site grading. Three significant trees are required to be removed to provide improvements to Willamette Falls Drive. These are a 30-inch DBH Big Leaf Maple, a 22-inch DBH Big Leaf Maple, and a 17-inch DBH Big Leaf Maple. The tree protection fencing area will include the protected tree, its dripline and an additional 10 feet of dripline. The District has preserved existing trees on site to the extent possible for the proposed development. Tree preservation has been concentrated particularly along Willamette Falls Drive and the eastern property line. This standard is met.

b. Non-residential and residential projects on non-Type I and II lands shall set aside up to 20 percent of the protected areas for significant trees and tree clusters, plus any heritage trees. Therefore, in the event that the City Arborist determines that a significant tree cluster exists at a development site, then up to 20 percent of the non-Type I and II lands shall be devoted to the protection of those trees by limiting development in the protected areas. The exact percentage is determined by establishing the driplines of the trees or tree clusters that are to be protected. In order to protect the roots which typically extend further, an additional 10-foot measurement beyond the dripline shall be added. The square footage of the area inside this "dripline plus 10 feet" measurement shall be the basis for calculating the percentage (see figure below). The City Arborist will identify which tree(s) are to be protected. Development of non-Type I and II lands shall also require the careful layout of streets, driveways, building pads, lots, and utilities to avoid significant trees, tree clusters, heritage trees, and other natural resources pursuant to this code. Exemptions of subsections (B)(2)(c), (e), and (f) of this section shall apply. Please note that in the event that more than 20 percent of the non-Type I and II lands comprise significant trees or tree clusters, the developer shall not be required to save the excess trees, but is encouraged to do so.

Finding: Type I, II, III and IV lands have been mapped on the site and have been shown on the Overall Site Analysis Land Types Plan (Sheet LU1.000) included under Appendix E. The gross site is 22.1 acres in size, with 2.8 acres of Type I lands and 0.9 acres of Type II lands. The net area of the site after right-of-way dedications is 21.4 acres. The total area of Type I and II lands mapped on the net site is 3.9 acres. The net developable area of the site excluding Type I and II lands is 17.8 acres. The Type I and II lands are primarily located along the eastern and southern property lines.

Heritage trees have not been identified on the site. A total of 42 significant trees on site have been identified, of which 19 will remain and 23 will be removed. A total of 45 percent of the significant trees on site will be maintained. A total of 57 percent of the tree canopy on site will be retained. Of the total trees on site, 48 percent will be retained. The tree protection fencing area will include the protected tree, its dripline and an additional 10 feet of dripline. The District has preserved existing trees on site to the extent possible for the proposed development. Tree preservation has been concentrated particularly along Willamette Falls Drive and the eastern property line. This standard is met.

- c. Where stubouts of streets occur on abutting properties, and the extension of those streets will mean the loss of significant trees, tree clusters, or heritage trees, it is understood that tree loss may be inevitable. In these cases, the objective shall be to minimize tree loss. These provisions shall also apply in those cases where access, per construction code standards, to a lot or parcel is blocked by a row or screen of significant trees or tree clusters.
- **Finding:** An extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive, consistent with the West Linn's 2016 Transportation System Plan is proposed to meet the City's access standards. A roundabout is proposed at the new intersection of Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place. The extension of Brandon Place and new roundabout will require the removal of trees. The proposed alignment of Brandon Place meets intersection spacing requirements on Willamette Falls Drive and street grade requirements of the City. The proposed extension is not located in an area of the site that is heavily forested. This standard is met.
 - d. For both non-residential and residential development, the layout shall achieve at least 70 percent of maximum density for the developable net area. The developable net area excludes all Type I and II lands and up to 20 percent of the remainder of the site for the purpose of protection of stands or clusters of trees as defined in subsection (B)(2) of this section.
- Finding: Type I, II, III and IV lands have been mapped on the site and have been shown on the Overall Site Analysis Land Types Plan (Sheet LU1.000) included under Appendix E. The gross site is 22.1 acres in size, with 2.8 acres of Type I lands and 0.9 acres of Type II lands. The net area of the site after right-of-way dedications is 21.4 acres. The total area of Type I and II lands mapped on the net site is 3.6 acres. The net developable area of the site excluding Type I and II lands is 17.8 acres. The Type I

and II lands are primarily located along the eastern and southern property lines. Of the net developable area, 15.5 acres will be developed, or 87 percent of the net developable area. This standard is met.

- e. For arterial and collector street projects, including Oregon Department of Transportation street improvements, the roads and graded areas shall avoid tree clusters where possible. Significant trees, tree clusters, and heritage tree loss may occur, however, but shall be minimized.
- **Finding:** The proposed development will include frontage and offsite improvements to and Willamette Falls Drive, an arterial street. An extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive, consistent with the West Linn's 2016 Transportation System Plan is proposed to meet the City's access standards. A roundabout is proposed at the new intersection of Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place. Sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed alignment of Brandon Place meets intersection spacing requirements on Willamette Falls Drive and street grade requirements of the City. The proposed extension is not located in an area of the site that is heavily forested. This standard is met.
 - f. If the protection of significant tree(s) or tree clusters is to occur in an area of grading that is necessary for the development of street grades, per City construction codes, which will result in an adjustment in the grade of over or under two feet, which will then threaten the health of the tree(s), the applicant will submit evidence to the Planning Director that all reasonable alternative grading plans have been considered and cannot work. The applicant will then submit a mitigation plan to the City Arborist to compensate for the removal of the tree(s) on an "inch by inch" basis (e.g., a 48-inch Douglas fir could be replaced by 12 trees, each four-inch). The mix of tree sizes and types shall be approved by the City Arborist.
- **Finding:** The proposed development will include frontage and offsite improvements to and Willamette Falls Drive, an existing arterial street. The realignment of this right-of-way is not feasible, as it is an existing arterial road. An extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive, consistent with the West Linn's 2016 Transportation System Plan is proposed to meet the City's access standards. A roundabout is proposed at the new intersection of Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place. Sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed alignment of Brandon Place meets intersection spacing requirements on Willamette Falls Drive and street grade requirements of the City.

The proposed development will require the removal of five trees located within type I and II lands. These trees include a 20-inch DBH Red Alder and a 12-inch DBH Red Alder. These trees are required to be removed for site grading. Three significant trees are required to be removed to provide improvements to Willamette Falls Drive. These are a 30-inch DBH Big Leaf Maple, a 22-inch DBH Big Leaf Maple, and a 17-inch

DBH Big Leaf Maple. The total mitigation required for the five trees is 101 inches. As shown on the proposed planting schedule, the proposed tree planting on the school site will exceed 101 inches. This standard is met.

3. The topography and natural drainage shall be preserved to the greatest degree possible.

- **Finding:** The topography and natural drainage will be preserved to the greatest degree possible. The site improvements were design to avoid natural drainages and steeper portions of the site. A Grading Plan and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20) has been submitted under Appendix E. This standard is met.
 - 4. The structures shall not be located in areas subject to slumping and sliding. The Comprehensive Plan Background Report's Hazard Map, or updated material as available and as deemed acceptable by the Planning Director, shall be the basis for preliminary determination.
- **Finding:** No large-scale active slope failures or significant erosion are mapped at the site or were observed during our site observations and explorations. A Geotechnical Report prepared by GeoDesign provides specific site grading, wall, and drainage design and construction recommendations for development in consideration of the existing steep slope areas at the site. The Geotechnical Report has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. This standard is met.
 - 5. There shall be adequate distance between on-site buildings and on-site and off-site buildings on adjoining properties to provide for adequate light and air circulation and for fire protection.
- **Finding:** The proposed school will not be located directly adjacent to off-site buildings on adjoining properties. The design of the school site will follow the natural topography of the site, which will provide a 10-foot vertical separation of the school site from Dollar Street and the surrounding neighborhood. The site's natural grade will provide natural noise, light, and visual buffering from the surrounding homes. Adequate spacing for light, air circulation and fire protection has been provided. This standard is met.

6. Architecture.

- a. The proposed structure(s) scale shall be compatible with the existing structure(s) on site and on adjoining sites. Contextual design is required. Contextual design means respecting and incorporating prominent architectural styles, building lines, roof forms, rhythm of windows, building scale and massing of surrounding buildings in the proposed structure. The materials and colors shall be complementary to the surrounding buildings.
- **Finding:** The proposed school will be located in a predominantly residential neighborhood. Key architectural features of the surrounding neighborhood are two-story homes with gabled roof forms, and a mix of wood siding, brick, and stone materials.

The proposed school will be two-stories and will be of a similar height to the surrounding residential homes. The building will sunken into the grade along Dollar Street to reduce the overall impact of the building massing on adjacent residential homes.

The orientation and massing of the building will fan along the hillside which will provide for views of the surrounding landscape from the interior of the building while breaking up the building massing to reduce the overall impact of the building on the site. The building utilizes both flat and pitched roof forms to provide a residential style to the building. The school building will utilize a mix of wood-like fiber cement panels, brick, and metal paneling. This standard is met.

- b. While there has been discussion in Chapter 24 CDC about transition, it is appropriate that new buildings should architecturally transition in terms of bulk and mass to work with, or fit, adjacent existing buildings. This transition can be accomplished by selecting designs that "step down" or "step up" from small to big structures and vice versa (see figure below). Transitions may also take the form of carrying building patterns and lines (e.g., parapets, windows, etc.) from the existing building to the new one.
- **Finding:** The proposed school building has been designed to be sunk into the grade along Dollar Street to reduce the overall height and visual impact of the building on adjacent homes. The building height along Dollar Street will be compatible with the height of the surrounding homes. Enhanced landscape buffering along Dollar Street will further reduce the overall visual impact of the building within the neighborhood. This standard is met.
 - c. Contrasting architecture shall only be permitted when the design is manifestly superior to adjacent architecture in terms of creativity, design, and workmanship, and/or it is adequately separated from other buildings by distance, screening, grade variations, or is part of a development site that is large enough to set its own style of architecture.
- **Finding:** The proposed school will be located in a predominantly residential neighborhood. Key architectural features of the surrounding neighborhood are two-story homes with gabled roof forms, and a mix of wood siding, brick, and stone materials. The two-story school has been designed to incorporate several of the elements of the surrounding residential neighborhood including a mix of wood siding and brick materials and gabled roof forms at the main entrances. Special consideration has been given to the massing and height of the building adjacent to the homes along Dollar Street to increase the compatibility of the building with the residential neighborhood. In addition, the school building and site improvements have been buffered from adjacent residential properties through distance, screening, and grade variations. The building will sunken into the grade along Dollar Street to reduce the overall impact of the building massing on adjacent residential homes. The 21acre site is large enough to utilize its own architectural style. This standard is met.

d. Human scale is a term that seeks to accommodate the users of the building and the notion that buildings should be designed around the human scale (i.e., their size and the average range of their perception). Human scale shall be accommodated in all designs by, for example, multi-light windows that are broken up into numerous panes, intimately scaled entryways, and visual breaks (exaggerated eaves, indentations, ledges, parapets, awnings, engaged columns, etc.) in the facades of buildings, both vertically and horizontally.

The human scale is enhanced by bringing the building and its main entrance up to the edge of the sidewalk. It creates a more dramatic and interesting streetscape and improves the "height and width" ratio referenced in this section.

- **Finding:** The design of the school building is influenced by the historic homestead character of the region, which is meant to bring both historical and human scale elements into the design. The school features several design elements that are meant to provide a human scale to the building and site. These elements include the use of multiple paned windows, intimately scaled covered entryways, visual breaks along the facades of the building, exaggerated eaves, indentations, and parapets. Exterior Elevations (Sheet LU3.03) and Exterior Materials (LU3.06) have been included under Appendix D. This standard is met.
 - The main front elevation of commercial and office buildings shall provide at least e. 60 percent windows or transparency at the pedestrian level to create more interesting streetscape and window shopping opportunities. One side elevation shall provide at least 30 percent transparency. Any additional side or rear elevation, which is visible from a collector road or greater classification, shall also have at least 30 percent transparency. Transparency on other elevations is optional. The transparency is measured in lineal fashion. For example, a 100-footlong building elevation shall have at least 60 feet (60 percent of 100 feet) in length of windows. The window height shall be, at minimum, three feet tall. The exception to transparency would be cases where demonstrated functional constraints or topography restrict that elevation from being used. When this exemption is applied to the main front elevation, the square footage of transparency that would ordinarily be required by the above formula shall be installed on the remaining elevations at pedestrian level in addition to any transparency required by a side elevation, and vice versa. The rear of the building is not required to include transparency. The transparency must be flush with the building elevation.
- **Finding:** The proposed school is not an office or commercial building; therefore, the requirements of this section are not directly applicable. The design of the school building will utilize the strategic placement of glazing and window elements to provide beneficial daylight within the school building, connection of interior spaces to the site and to emphasize transparency within the building.

- f. Variations in depth and roof line are encouraged for all elevations. To vary the otherwise blank wall of most rear elevations, continuous flat elevations of over 100 feet in length should be avoided by indents or variations in the wall. The use of decorative brick, masonry, or stone insets and/or designs is encouraged. Another way to vary or soften this elevation is through terrain variations such as an undulating grass area with trees to provide vertical relief.
- **Finding:** Variation has been provided by changes in roof form and massing of the building, material changes, projections and recessions, window patterns, and the natural grade of the site. Elevations over 100 feet in length have been avoided to the extent possible. Building Elevations (Sheet LU3.06) have been included under Appendix E. This standard is met.
 - g. Consideration of the micro-climate (e.g., sensitivity to wind, sun angles, shade, etc.) shall be made for building users, pedestrians, and transit users, including features like awnings.
- **Finding:** The school design will utilize window sunshades, inset playground areas, a sheltered central courtyard, canopy trees, covered bicycle parking areas and covered bus waiting areas which provide for a variety of micro-climate conditions on the site. This standard is met.
 - h. The vision statement identified a strong commitment to developing safe and attractive pedestrian environments with broad sidewalks, canopied with trees and awnings.
- **Finding:** The District is committed to providing a safe and attractive multi-modal transportation system on the site and in the surrounding area. The site will include separate parking areas for parents/visitors and school buses and staff. Parent loading zones and bus loading zones have been clearly identified and provided with sufficient room for vehicle maneuvering. Pedestrian pathways have been provided throughout the site, with minimal crossing of vehicle circulation areas. Canopied trees will be planted on site and covered building entryways and bus shelters will provide shelter for pedestrians. The District has provided a Safe-Routes to School improvement plan within the Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by DKS and Associates. This standard is met.
 - i. Sidewalk cafes, kiosks, vendors, and street furniture are encouraged. However, at least a four-foot-wide pedestrian accessway must be maintained per Chapter <u>53</u> CDC, Sidewalk Use.
- **Finding:** The school will not include sidewalk cafes, kiosks, vendors or street furniture. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 7. Transportation. The automobile shall be shifted from a dominant role, relative to other modes of transportation, by the following means:

a. Commercial and office development shall be oriented to the street. At least one public entrance shall be located facing an arterial street; or, if the project does not front on an arterial, facing a collector street; or, if the project does not front on a collector, facing the local street with highest traffic levels. Parking lots shall be placed behind or to the side of commercial and office development. When a large and/or multi-building development is occurring on a large undeveloped tract (three plus acres), it is acceptable to focus internally; however, at least 20 percent of the main adjacent right-of-way shall have buildings contiguous to it unless waived per subsection (B)(7)(c) of this section. These buildings shall be oriented to the adjacent street and include pedestrian-oriented transparencies on those elevations.

For individual buildings on smaller individual lots, at least 30 lineal feet or 50 percent of the building must be adjacent to the right-of-way unless waived per subsection (B)(7)(c) of this section. The elevations oriented to the right-of-way must incorporate pedestrian-oriented transparency.

- **Finding:** The proposed development is not a commercial or office use. The requirements of this section are not applicable. However, pedestrian and bicycle accessways are provided throughout the site, and sidewalk widths are increased in areas expected to experience larger volumes of pedestrian and bicycle traffic.
 - b. Multi-family projects shall be required to keep the parking at the side or rear of the buildings or behind the building line of the structure as it would appear from the right-of-way inside the multi-family project. For any garage which is located behind the building line of the structure, but still facing the front of the structure, architectural features such as patios, patio walls, trellis, porch roofs, overhangs, pergolas, etc., shall be used to downplay the visual impact of the garage, and to emphasize the rest of the house and front entry.

The parking may be positioned inside small courtyard areas around which the units are built. These courtyard spaces encourage socialization, defensible space, and can provide a central location for landscaping, particularly trees, which can provide an effective canopy and softening effect on the courtyard in only a few years. Vehicular access and driveways through these courtyard areas is permitted.

- Finding:
- The proposed development is not a multifamily use. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
- c. Commercial, office, and multi-family projects shall be built as close to the adjacent main right-of-way as practical to facilitate safe pedestrian and transit access. Reduced frontages by buildings on public rights-of-way may be allowed due to extreme topographic (e.g., slope, creek, wetlands, etc.) conditions or compelling functional limitations, not just inconveniences or design challenges.
- **Finding:** The school is not a commercial, office or multi-family development. The requirements of this section are not appliable. However, wide sidewalks are contemplated in the design to facilitate safe pedestrian and bicycle access.
 - d. Accessways, parking lots, and internal driveways shall accommodate pedestrian circulation and access by specially textured, colored, or clearly defined footpaths at least six feet wide. Paths shall be eight feet wide when abutting parking areas or travel lanes. Paths shall be separated from parking or travel lanes by either landscaping, planters, curbs, bollards, or raised surfaces. Sidewalks in front of storefronts on the arterials and main store entrances on the arterials identified in CDC 85.200(A)(3) shall be 12 feet wide to accommodate pedestrians, sidewalk sales, sidewalk cafes, etc. Sidewalks in front of storefronts and main store entrances in commercial/OBC zone development on local streets and collectors shall be eight feet wide.
- **Finding:** All proposed sidewalks adjacent to the proposed parking lot and access will be separated from parking and travel lanes through the use of curbs. Sidewalk widths have been increased to 12 feet in areas expecting high volume of pedestrian and bicycle traffic and 8 feet along vehicle parking areas. This standard is met.
 - e. Paths shall provide direct routes that pedestrians will use between buildings, adjacent rights-of-way, and adjacent commercial developments. They shall be clearly identified. They shall be laid out to attract use and to discourage people from cutting through parking lots and impacting environmentally sensitive areas.
- **Finding:** The proposed sidewalks provide direct routes for pedestrians between the new parking lot, adjacent streets, and the school and site facilities. Sidewalks have been shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.
 - f. At least one entrance to the building shall be on the main street, or as close as possible to the main street. The entrance shall be designed to identify itself as a main point of ingress/egress.
- **Finding:** The main building entrance is oriented towards Brandon Place, where primary vehicular access is proposed for parents and students. A second entrance will be oriented towards the east, where the bus loading area and staff access from Dollar Street is proposed. This standard is met.
 - g. Where transit service exists, or is expected to exist, there shall be a main entrance within a safe and reasonable distance of the transit stop. A pathway shall be provided to facilitate a direct connection.
- **Finding:** Transit service is not currently provided on Dollar Street or Willamette Falls Drive along the school site frontage. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - h. Projects shall bring at least part of the project adjacent to or near the main street right-of-way in order to enhance the height-to-width ratio along that particular

street. (The "height-to-width ratio" is an architectural term that emphasizes height or vertical dimension of buildings adjacent to streets. The higher and closer the building is, and the narrower the width of the street, the more attractive and intimate the streetscape becomes.) For every one foot in street width, the adjacent building ideally should be one to two feet higher. This ratio is considered ideal in framing and defining the streetscape.

Finding: School buildings within the R10 zone are allowed as a conditional use subject to the Conditional Use standards of Chapter 60 and the Government Building standards of CDC 41.040. Per the requirements of CDC 41.040, the school building has been set back from Brandon Place and Dollar Street. Given the residential nature of the surrounding neighborhood, special considerations to setbacks have been made to reduce the impact of the school site on the surrounding neighborhood. These impacts include the overall size and massing of the school, traffic and vehicle circulation, noise, and light generation.

The requirements of this section conflict with the requirements of CDC 41.040 and Chapter 60 and are therefore not applicable to the proposed development.

- i. These architectural standards shall apply to public facilities such as reservoirs, water towers, treatment plants, fire stations, pump stations, power transmission facilities, etc. It is recognized that many of these facilities, due to their functional requirements, cannot readily be configured to meet these architectural standards. However, attempts shall be made to make the design sympathetic to surrounding properties by landscaping, setbacks, buffers, and all reasonable architectural means.
- **Finding:** This application does not contemplate these types of public facilities. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed school.
 - j. Parking spaces at trailheads shall be located so as to preserve the view of, and access to, the trailhead entrance from the roadway. The entrance apron to the trailhead shall be marked: "No Parking," and include design features to foster trail recognition.
- **Finding:** This application does not contemplate trailheads. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed school.
- C. Compatibility between adjoining uses, buffering, and screening.
 - 1. In addition to the compatibility requirements contained in Chapter 24 CDC, buffering shall be provided between different types of land uses; for example, buffering between single-family homes and apartment blocks. However, no buffering is required between single-family homes and duplexes or single-family attached units. The following factors shall be considered in determining the adequacy of the type and extent of the buffer:

- a. The purpose of the buffer, for example to decrease noise levels, absorb air pollution, filter dust, or to provide a visual barrier.
- b. The size of the buffer required to achieve the purpose in terms of width and height.
- c. The direction(s) from which buffering is needed.
- d. The required density of the buffering. Whether the viewer is stationary or mobile.
- 2. On-site screening from view from adjoining properties of such things as service areas, storage areas, and parking lots shall be provided and the following factors will be considered in determining the adequacy of the type and extent of the screening:
 - a. What needs to be screened?
 - b. The direction from which it is needed.
 - c. How dense the screen needs to be.
 - d. Whether the viewer is stationary or mobile.
 - e. Whether the screening needs to be year-round.
- Finding: The District has considered both the noise impacts of the school site and visual impacts of the school on the surrounding neighborhood. The existing landscaping and topography of the site has been utilized to the extent possible to provide natural buffering. Tree retention on the site has been primarily focused along Willamette Falls Drive. The building has been sunk down into the site from Dollar Street, which creates a vertical buffer from the properties on Dollar Street. Enhanced landscaping has been provided along Dollar Street to provide additional visual buffering. Retaining walls have been utilized at the children's play area and the waste and recycling storage area to provide additional noise buffering on site. The proposed lighting on site has been located to prevent light trespass on adjacent properties. The District has considered the implications of the use on site and has buffered the school from the surrounding neighborhood in a method that is consistent with the requirements of this section while still providing an inviting community school. Landscaping and buffering have been shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A). The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20) This standard is met.
 - 3. Rooftop air cooling and heating systems and other mechanical equipment shall be screened from view from adjoining properties.
- **Finding:** Mechanical equipment will be screened from view from adjoining properties. The mechanical screens have been illustrated on the Exterior Elevations Plan (Sheet LU3.03). This standard is met.

D. Privacy and noise.

- 1. Structures which include residential dwelling units shall provide private outdoor areas for each ground floor unit which is screened from view from adjoining units.
- **Finding:** The school does not include residential dwelling units. This standard is not applicable.

- 2. Residential dwelling units shall be placed on the site in areas having minimal noise exposure to the extent possible. Natural-appearing sound barriers shall be used to lessen noise impacts where noise levels exceed the noise standards contained in West Linn Municipal Code Section 5.487.
- **Finding:** The school does not include residential dwelling units. This standard is not applicable.
 - 3. Structures or on-site activity areas which generate noise, lights, or glare shall be buffered from adjoining residential uses in accordance with the standards in subsection C of this section where applicable.
- Finding: The District has considered both the noise impacts of the school site and visual impacts of the school on the surrounding neighborhood. The existing landscaping and topography of the site has been utilized to the extent possible to provide natural buffering. Tree retention on the site has been primarily focused along Willamette Falls Drive. The building has been sunk down into the site from Dollar Street, which creates a vertical buffer from the properties on Dollar Street. Enhanced landscaping has been provided along Dollar Street to provide additional visual buffering. Retaining walls have been utilized at the children's play area and the waste and recycling storage area to provide additional noise buffering on site. The proposed lighting on site has been located to prevent light trespass on adjacent properties. The District has considered the implications of the use on site and has buffered the school from the surrounding neighborhood in a method that is consistent with the requirements of this section while still providing an inviting community school. Landscaping and buffering have been shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A). The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20). This standard is met.
 - 4. Businesses or activities that can reasonably be expected to generate noise in excess of the noise standards contained in West Linn Municipal Code Section 5.487 shall undertake and submit appropriate noise studies and mitigate as necessary to comply with the code. (See CDC 55.110(B)(11) and 55.120(M).)

If the decision-making authority reasonably believes a proposed use may generate noise exceeding the standards specified in the municipal code, then the authority may require the applicant to supply professional noise studies from time to time during the user's first year of operation to monitor compliance with City standards and permit requirements.

- **Finding:** The proposed school is not expected to generate noise in excess of the noise standards contained in West Linn Municipal Code Section 5.487. A Noise Study was conducted for the proposed school and has been included under Appendix D. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
- E. Private outdoor area. This section only applies to multi-family projects.

Finding: The proposed development is not a multi-family project. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

F. Shared outdoor recreation areas. This section only applies to multi-family projects and projects with 10 or more duplexes or single-family attached dwellings on lots under 4,000 square feet. In those cases, shared outdoor recreation areas are calculated on the duplexes or single-family attached dwellings only. It also applies to qualifying PUDs under the provisions of CDC 24.170.

Finding: The proposed development is not a multi-family project. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

G. Demarcation of public, semi-public, and private spaces. The structures and site improvements shall be designed so that public areas such as streets or public gathering places, semi-public areas, and private outdoor areas are clearly defined in order to establish persons having a right to be in the space, to provide for crime prevention, and to establish maintenance responsibility. These areas may be defined by:

- 1. A deck, patio, fence, low wall, hedge, or draping vine;
- 2. A trellis or arbor;
- 3. A change in level;
- 4. A change in the texture of the path material;
- 5. Sign; or
- 6. Landscaping.

Use of gates to demarcate the boundary between a public street and a private access driveway is prohibited.

Finding: The school is a semi-public use. The structures and site improvements have been designed so that public areas, semi-public areas and private areas are defined. This standard is met.

H. Public transit.

- 1. Provisions for public transit may be required where the site abuts an existing or planned public transit route. The required facilities shall be based on the following:
 - a. The location of other transit facilities in the area.
 - b. The size and type of the proposed development.
 - c. The rough proportionality between the impacts from the development and the required facility.
- 2. The required facilities shall be limited to such facilities as the following:
 - a. A waiting shelter with a bench surrounded by a three-sided covered structure, with transparency to allow easy surveillance of approaching buses.
 - b. A turnout area for loading and unloading designed per regional transit agency standards.

- c. Hard-surface paths connecting the development to the waiting and boarding areas.
- d. Regional transit agency standards shall, however, prevail if they supersede these standards.
- 3. The transit stop shall be located as close as possible to the main entrance to the shopping center, public or office building, or multi-family project. The entrance shall not be more than 200 feet from the transit stop with a clearly identified pedestrian link.
- 4. All commercial business centers (over three acres) and multi-family projects (over 40 units) may be required to provide for the relocation of transit stops to the front of the site if the existing stop is within 200 to 400 yards of the site and the exaction is roughly proportional to the impact of the development. The commercial or multi-family project may be required to provide new facilities in those cases where the nearest stop is over 400 yards away. The transit stop shall be built per subsection (H)(2) of this section.
- **Finding:** Transit service is not provided on the school frontage at Willamette Falls Drive or Dollar Street. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

I. Public facilities. An application may only be approved if adequate public facilities will be available to provide service to the property prior to occupancy.

1. Streets. Sufficient right-of-way and slope easement shall be dedicated to accommodate all abutting streets to be improved to the City's Improvement Standards and Specifications. The City Engineer shall determine the appropriate level of street and traffic control improvements to be required, including any off-site street and traffic control improvements, based upon the transportation analysis submitted. The City Engineer's determination of developer obligation, the extent of road improvement and City's share, if any, of improvements and the timing of improvements shall be made based upon the City's systems development charge ordinance and capital improvement program, and the rough proportionality between the impact of the development and the street improvements.

In determining the appropriate sizing of the street in commercial, office, multi-family, and public settings, the street should be the minimum necessary to accommodate anticipated traffic load and needs and should provide substantial accommodations for pedestrians and bicyclists. Road and driveway alignment should consider and mitigate impacts on adjacent properties and in neighborhoods in terms of increased traffic loads, noise, vibrations, and glare.

The realignment or redesign of roads shall consider how the proposal meets accepted engineering standards, enhances public safety, and favorably relates to adjacent lands and land uses. Consideration should also be given to selecting an alignment or design that minimizes or avoids hazard areas and loss of significant natural features (drainageways, wetlands, heavily forested areas, etc.) unless site mitigation can clearly produce a superior landscape in terms of shape, grades, and reforestation, and is fully consistent with applicable code restrictions regarding resource areas.

Streets shall be installed per Chapter 85 CDC standards. The City Engineer has the authority to require that street widths match adjacent street widths. Sidewalks shall be installed per CDC 85.200(A)(3) for commercial and office projects, and CDC 85.200(A)(16) and 92.010(H) for residential projects, and applicable provisions of this chapter. Where streets bisect or traverse water resource areas (WRAs) the street width shall be reduced to the appropriate "constrained" cross-section width indicated in the TSP or alternate configurations which are appropriate to site conditions, minimize WRA disturbance or are consistent with an adopted transportation system plan. The street design shall also be consistent with habitat friendly provisions of CDC 32.060(I).

Based upon the City Manager's or Manager's designee's determination, the applicant shall construct or cause to be constructed, or contribute a proportionate share of the costs, for all necessary off-site improvements identified by the transportation analysis commissioned to address CDC 55.125 that are required to mitigate impacts from the proposed development. Proportionate share of the costs shall be determined by the City Manager or Manager's designee, who shall assume that the proposed development provides improvements in rough proportion to identified impacts of the development.

Finding:

As part of the proposed development, sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. The District worked city staff to determine the alignment and configuration of the proposed extension of Brandon Place and roundabout on Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension will provide a needed secondary emergency access route to the neighborhood and is indicated in the City TSP. The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by DKS and Associates, notes that one intersection will operate below the city's standards, however city staff does not wish to pursue mitigation at this time. All other traffic related issues are addressed within the Traffic Impact Analysis and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates. The configuration of access points on the site has been designed to encourage out-of-neighborhood traffic using Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place to access the school from Brandon Place, with buses and staff access from Dollar. The configuration has been designed to minimize the traffic impact on Dollar Street and in the adjacent neighborhood.

The proposed extension of Brandon Place will include sidewalks on both sides, providing a pedestrian connection between Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. All proposed sidewalks will be at least six feet in width. Sidewalks on Dollar Street will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip with a width of at least six feet in width. The proposed sidewalk infill on Willamette Falls Drive east of the roundabout will be buffered by a landscape strip with a width of four feet. The sidewalks along the western side of Brandon Place and on the eastern side of Brandon Place north of the school driveway will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip of at least six feet. The section of the sidewalk from the school driveway on Brandon Place south to Willamette Falls Drive will transition to a 10-foot wide curb-tight multi-use sidewalk, which will act as a transition area for bicycles and pedestrians traveling from the Willamette Falls Drive multi-use path. This standard is met.

2. Storm detention and treatment and geologic hazards. Per the submittals required by CDC 55.130 and 92.010(E), all proposed storm detention and treatment facilities must comply with the standards for the improvement of public and private drainage systems located in the West Linn Public Works Design Standards, there will be no adverse off-site impacts caused by the development (including impacts from increased intensity of runoff downstream or constrictions causing ponding upstream), and the applicant must provide sufficient factual data to support the conclusions of the submitted plan.

Per the submittals required by CDC 55.130(E), the applicant must demonstrate that the proposed methods of rendering known or potential hazard sites safe for development, including proposed geotechnical remediation, are feasible and adequate to prevent landslides or other damage to property and safety. The review authority may impose conditions, including limits on type or intensity of land use, which it determines are necessary to mitigate known risks of landslides or property damage.

- **Finding:** A Preliminary Stormwater Report detailing the proposed storm treatment system for the school has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. The proposed stormwater system drains directly to the Tualatin River and therefore no stormwater detention shall be required per Public Works Design Standards section 2.0041. The majority of stormwater generated by onsite improvements will be captured in a piped system and routed to a grassy swale for water quality treatment. A Geotechnical Report prepared by GeoDesign has provided an analysis and recommendation for the proposed stormwater system on the site and has been submitted under Appendix D. This standard is met.
 - 3. Municipal water. A registered civil engineer shall prepare a plan for the provision of water which demonstrates to the City Engineer's satisfaction the availability of sufficient volume, capacity, and pressure to serve the proposed development's domestic, commercial, and industrial fire flows. All plans will then be reviewed by the City Engineer.
- **Finding:** An Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) prepared by a registered engineer in coordination with city engineering staff showing the proposed water connections has been submitted under Appendix E of this application. This standard is met.
 - 4. Sanitary sewers. A registered civil engineer shall prepare a sewerage collection system plan which demonstrates sufficient on-site capacity to serve the proposed development. The City Engineer shall determine whether the existing City system has sufficient capacity to serve the development.

5. Solid waste and recycling storage areas. Appropriately sized and located solid waste and recycling storage areas shall be provided. Metro standards shall be used.

Finding: An Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) prepared by a registered engineer in coordination with city engineering staff showing the proposed sanitary sewer connections has been submitted under Appendix E of this application. Solid waste and recycling storage will be provided in a screened enclosure as shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10). This standard is met.

J. Crime prevention and safety/defensible space.

- 1. Windows shall be located so that areas vulnerable to crime can be surveyed by the occupants.
- **Finding:** Crime prevention and natural surveillance of the site has been considered in the layout and design of the school building and site facilities. The location main office at the western building entrance will allow for natural surveillance of the site and those within the parking facilities. The plantings adjacent to the main office will be low to allow for views across the site. The proposed plant materials have been located in a manner that will not prohibit the surveillance of public and semi-public areas. Windows have been located to provide natural surveillance by staff at the eastern building entrance. This standard is met.

2. Interior laundry and service areas shall be located in a way that they can be observed by others.

Finding: The design does not include interior laundry and service areas, however, all service areas on site have been located so that they can be observed by others. The requirements of this section are not applicable to the proposed school.

3. Mailboxes, recycling, and solid waste facilities shall be located in lighted areas having vehicular or pedestrian traffic.

- **Finding:** The solid waste and recycling facilities are in the northwest corner of the school building in the service yard area. The area will be lighted, fully enclosed, and screened from view. This standard is met.
 - 4. The exterior lighting levels shall be selected and the angles shall be oriented towards areas vulnerable to crime.
 - 5. Light fixtures shall be provided in areas having heavy pedestrian or vehicular traffic and in potentially dangerous areas such as parking lots, stairs, ramps, and abrupt grade changes.
 - 6. Fixtures shall be placed at a height so that light patterns overlap at a height of seven feet which is sufficient to illuminate a person. All commercial, industrial, residential, and public facility projects undergoing design review shall use low or high pressure sodium bulbs and be able to demonstrate effective shielding so that the light is directed downwards rather than omni-directional. Omni-directional lights of an ornamental nature may be used in general commercial districts only.
 - 75 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

- **Finding:** The proposed parking lot lighting and pedestrian lighting coverage levels have been illustrated on the Lighting Coverage Plan (Sheet LU4.01) included under Appendix E of this application. The exterior lighting selected are consistent with the requirements of this section. The lines of sight haven been maintained as much as possible on site. This standard is met.
 - 7. Lines of sight shall be reasonably established so that the development site is visible to police and residents.
- **Finding:** As shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10), the primary entry for visitors to the site is from the west on Brandon Place. The driveway, pedestrian pathways entering the site and west parking lot have been located to be in the line of sight of the main school office, located at the main building entry. Service areas outside of the line of sight will be secured from outside entry. The long west driveway entering the site allows for visitors approaching the school to observe the building and parking lot areas. The location of staff areas and classrooms along the eastern site entrance will provide for natural surveillance of the site by building occupants. The eastern driveway allows for visitors approaching the school to observe the building and parking areas. The site frontage along Dollar Street and Brandon Place, as well as driveways and parking lots as proposed reasonably establish lines of site for police and residents. This standard is met.
 - 8. Security fences for utilities (e.g., power transformers, pump stations, pipeline control equipment, etc.) or wireless communication facilities may be up to eight feet tall in order to protect public safety. No variances are required regardless of location.
- **Finding:** Security fences for utilities are not proposed. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
- K. Provisions for persons with disabilities.
 - 1. The needs of a person with a disability shall be provided for. Accessible routes shall be provided between all buildings and accessible site facilities. The accessible route shall be the most practical direct route between accessible building entries, accessible site facilities, and the accessible entry to the site. An accessible route shall connect to the public right-of-way and to at least one on-site or adjacent transit stop (if the area is served by transit). All facilities shall conform to, or exceed, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards, including those included in the Uniform Building Code.
- **Finding:** A total of nine ADA stalls, including two van stalls have been provided on site. The west parking lot has been designed with three ADA parking stalls, including one van stall. The east parking lot has been designed with six ADA parking stalls, including one van stall. The ADA parking stalls have been located on the shortest possible accessible circulation route to an accessible entrance to the building. The proposed site improvements will include accessible routes connecting the site facilities including building entrances, the multi-use track and other site facilities. This standard is met.

- L. Signs.
 - 1. Based on considerations of crime prevention and the needs of emergency vehicles, a system of signs for identifying the location of each residential unit, store, or industry shall be established.
- **Finding:** The school is proposing a monument sign, located on Brandon Place and an on-wall sign which will be visible from Brandon Place and will allow for the identification of the building by emergency vehicles. This standard is met.
 - 2. The signs, graphics, and letter styles shall be designed to be compatible with surrounding development, to contribute to a sense of project identity, or, when appropriate, to reflect a sense of the history of the area and the architectural style.
- **Finding:** The proposed monument sign will be constructed of masonry brick, a material used on the main school building to provide for a project identity and style. The on-wall sign has been designed to be compatible with the school design with a minimalist metal letter style and no sign backing, which will create a relief and shadowing. The building signage has been illustrated on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (LU3.06). The on-wall sign has been shown on the Exterior Elevations (Sheet LU3.03). This standard is met.
 - 3. The sign graphics and letter styles shall announce, inform, and designate particular areas or uses as simply and clearly as possible.
- **Finding:** The sign graphics and letter styles will be simple and will provide the school name, address, and simple and clear announcements on the manual change copy area of the sign. This standard is met.

4. The signs shall not obscure vehicle driver's sight distance.

- **Finding:** As shown on the Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10), and the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A), the proposed monument sign on Brandon Place has been located outside of the clear vision triangle area and will not obscure the vehicle driver's sight distance. This standard is met.
 - 5. Signs indicating future use shall be installed on land dedicated for public facilities (e.g., parks, water reservoir, fire halls, etc.).

Finding: Signs indicating a future use are not applicable to the proposed development.

- 6. Signs and appropriate traffic control devices and markings shall be installed or painted in the driveway and parking lot areas to identify bicycle and pedestrian routes.
- **Finding:** Signs and appropriate traffic control devices and markings will be provided in the driveway and parking lot areas to identify bicycle and pedestrian routes, consistent with the requirements of this section. This standard is met.

M. Utilities. The developer shall make necessary arrangements with utility companies or other persons or corporations affected for the installation of underground lines and facilities. Electrical lines and other wires, including but not limited to communication, street lighting, and cable television, shall be placed underground, as practical. The design standards of Tables 1 and 2 above, and of subsection 5.487 of the West Linn Municipal Code relative to existing high ambient noise levels shall apply to this section.

Finding: The District will make the necessary arrangements with utility companies. This standard is met.

N. Wireless communication facilities (WCFs). (This section only applicable to WCFs.) WCFs as defined in Chapter 57 CDC may be required to go through Class I or Class II design review. The approval criteria for Class I design review is that the visual impact of the WCF shall be minimal to the extent allowed by Chapter 57 CDC. Stealth designs shall be sufficiently camouflaged so that they are not easily seen by passersby in the public right-of-way or from any adjoining residential unit. WCFs that are classified as Class II design review must respond to all of the approval criteria of this chapter.

Finding: The proposed development is not a wireless communication facility. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

O. Refuse and recycling standards.

- 1. All commercial, industrial and multi-family developments over five units requiring Class II design review shall comply with the standards set forth in these provisions. Modifications to these provisions may be permitted if the Planning Commission determines that the changes are consistent with the purpose of these provisions and the City receives written evidence from the local franchised solid waste and recycling firm that they are in agreement with the proposed modifications.
- **Finding:** While the school is a public use and not a commercial, industrial, or multi-family use, refuse and recycling areas have been provided on-site and the standards set forth in these provisions have been addressed as applicable.
 - 2. Compactors, containers, and drop boxes shall be located on a level Portland cement concrete pad, a minimum of four inches thick, at ground elevation or other location compatible with the local franchise collection firm's equipment at the time of construction. The pad shall be designed to discharge surface water runoff to avoid ponding.
- **Finding:** The solid waste and recycling facilities are in the northwest corner of the school building in the service yard. As shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.12), the containers will be located on heavy concrete pavement consistent with the requirements of this section. This standard is met.

3. Recycling and solid waste service areas.

- a. Recycling receptacles shall be designed and located to serve the collection requirements for the specific type of material.
- b. The recycling area shall be located in close proximity to the garbage container areas and be accessible to the local franchised collection firm's equipment.
- c. Recycling receptacles or shelters located outside a structure shall have lids and be covered by a roof constructed of water and insect-resistive material. The maintenance of enclosures, receptacles and shelters is the responsibility of the property owner.
- d. The location of the recycling area and method of storage shall be approved by the local fire marshal.
- e. Recycling and solid waste service areas shall be at ground level and/or otherwise accessible to the franchised solid waste and recycling collection firm.
- f. Recycling and solid waste service areas shall be used only for purposes of storing solid waste and recyclable materials and shall not be a general storage area to store personal belongings of tenants, lessees, property management or owners of the development or premises.
- g. Recyclable material service areas shall be maintained in a clean and safe condition.
- **Finding:** Recycling and solid waste service areas will be located near each other on the ground floor of the building within the service yard in the northwest corner of the building, as shown on the Level 01 Floor Plan (Sheet LU3.01). The recycling areas will be covered by a shelter, as shown on the Building Elevations (Sheet LU3.03). This standard is met.
 - 4. Special wastes or recyclable materials.
 - a. Environmentally hazardous wastes defined in ORS 466.005 shall be located, prepared, stored, maintained, collected, transported, and disposed in a manner acceptable to the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.
 - b. Containers used to store cooking oils, grease or animal renderings for recycling or disposal shall not be located in the principal recyclable materials or solid waste storage areas. These materials shall be stored in a separate storage area designed for such purpose.
- **Finding:** The school will not require any special waste material containers. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
 - 5. Screening and buffering.
 - a. Enclosures shall include a curbed landscape area at least three feet in width on the sides and rear. Landscaping shall include, at a minimum, a continuous hedge maintained at a height of 36 inches.

- b. Placement of enclosures adjacent to residentially zoned property and along street frontages is strongly discouraged. They shall be located so as to conceal them from public view to the maximum extent possible.
- c. All dumpsters and other trash containers shall be completely screened on all four sides with an enclosure that is comprised of a durable material such as masonry with a finish that is architecturally compatible with the project. Chain link fencing, with or without slats, will not be allowed.
- **Finding:** The service yard will be sunk down from Dollar Street and be enclosed and shielded from view with a retaining wall along the north and east and an ornamental gate to the west shown on the Building Elevations (Sheet LU3.03). Enhanced landscaping along Dollar Street as shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1404) will provide additional visual buffering. This standard is met.

6. Litter receptacles.

- a. Location. Litter receptacles may not encroach upon the minimum required walkway widths.
- b. Litter receptacles may not be located within public rights-of-way except as permitted through an agreement with the City in a manner acceptable to the City Attorney or his/her designee.
- c. Number. The number and location of proposed litter receptacles shall be based on the type and size of the proposed uses. However, at a minimum, for nonresidential uses, at least one external litter receptacle shall be provided for every 25 parking spaces for first 100 spaces, plus one receptacle for every additional 100 spaces.
- **Finding:** The school parking lot has 186 parking spaces; therefore, five litter receptacles are required. Litter receptacle locations will be determined by the District and will be placed to not encroach on the minimum walkway widths. This standard is met.

55.110 SITE ANALYSIS

The site analysis shall include:

A. A vicinity map showing the location of the property in relation to adjacent properties, roads, pedestrian and bike ways, transit stops and utility access.

B. A site analysis on a drawing at a suitable scale (in order of preference, one inch equals 10 feet to one inch equals 30 feet) which shows:

- 1. The property boundaries, dimensions, and gross area.
- 2. Contour lines at the following minimum intervals:
 - a. Two-foot intervals for slopes from zero to 25 percent; and
 - b. Five- or 10-foot intervals for slopes in excess of 25 percent.
- 3. Tables and maps identifying acreage, location and type of development constraints due to site characteristics such as slope, drainage and geologic hazards, including a slope

analysis which identifies portions of the site according to the land types (I, II, III and IV) defined in Chapter 02 CDC.

- 4. The location and width of adjoining streets.
- 5. The drainage patterns and drainage courses on the site and on adjacent lands.
- 6. Potential natural hazard areas including:
 - a. Floodplain areas pursuant to the site's applicable FEMA Flood Map panel;
 - b. Water resource areas as defined by Chapter 32 CDC;
 - c. Landslide areas designated by the Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan, Map 16; and
 - d. Landslide vulnerable analysis areas, designated by the Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan, Map 17.
- 7. Resource areas including:
 - a. Wetlands;
 - b. Riparian corridors;
 - c. Streams, including intermittent and ephemeral streams;
 - d. Habitat conservation areas; and
 - e. Large rock outcroppings.
- 8. Potential historic landmarks and registered archaeological sites. The existence of such sites on the property shall be verified from records maintained by the Community Development Department and other recognized sources.
- 9. Identification information including the name and address of the owner, developer, project designer, lineal scale and north arrow.
- 10. Identify Type I and II lands in map form. Provide a table which identifies square footage of Type I and II lands also as percentage of total site square footage.
- **Finding:** An Overall Site Analysis Plan (Sheet LU1.00) consistent with the requirements of this section has been submitted under Appendix E. A geological assessment of the subject site was performed by a licensed geotechnical engineer. A detailed Geotechnical Report prepared by Geodesign has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. The Geotechnical Report provides a site-specific analysis of the potential risk from seismic hazards referenced in the *Earthquake Hazards Area Map*. The site-specific analysis is found under Appendix F of the Geotechnical Report. Guidance has been provided within the report for the design of the building to ensure the safety and stability of the site. This standard is met.

55.120 SITE PLAN

The site plan shall be at the same scale as the site analysis (CDC 55.110) and shall show:

A. The applicant's entire property and the surrounding property to a distance sufficient to determine the relationship between the applicant's property and proposed development and adjacent property and development.

B. Boundary lines and dimensions for the perimeter of the property and the dimensions for all proposed lot or parcel lines.

C. Streams and stream corridors.

D. Identification information, including the name and address of the owner, developer, project designer, lineal scale and north arrow.

E. The location, dimensions, and names of all existing and proposed streets, public pathways, easements on adjacent properties and on the site, and all associated rights-of-way.

- F. The location, dimensions and setback distances of all:
 - 1. Existing and proposed structures, improvements, and utility facilities on site; and
 - 2. Existing structures and driveways on adjoining properties.
- G. The location and dimensions of:
 - 1. The entrances and exits to the site;
 - 2. The parking and circulation areas;
 - 3. Areas for waste disposal, recycling, loading, and delivery;
 - 4. Pedestrian and bicycle routes, including designated routes, through parking lots and to adjacent rights-of-way;
 - 5. On-site outdoor recreation spaces and common areas;
 - 6. All utilities, including stormwater detention and treatment; and
 - 7. Sign locations.

H. The location of areas to be landscaped.

Finding: An Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10) consistent with the requirements of this section has been provided under Appendix E. All proposed and existing easements to remain have been shown on Easement Map E-1 and Easement Map E-2, which have been provided under Appendix E. This standard is met.

55.125 TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS

Certain development proposals required that a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) be provided which may result in modifications to the site plan or conditions of approval to address or minimize any adverse impacts created by the proposal. The purpose, applicability and standards of this analysis are found in CDC 85.170(B)(2).

Finding: A Transportation Impact Analysis prepared by DKS and Associates and supplemental memo which was prepared by DKS and Associates to address specific traffic related concerns raised by members of the community have been submitted under Appendix D of this application. This standard is met.

55.130 GRADING AND DRAINAGE PLANS

For Type I, II and III lands (refer to definitions in Chapter 02 CDC), a registered civil engineer must prepare a grading plan and a storm detention and treatment plan pursuant to CDC 92.010(E), at a scale sufficient to evaluate all aspects of the proposal, and a statement that demonstrates:

A. The location and extent to which grading will take place indicating general contour lines, slope ratios, slope stabilization proposals, and location and height of retaining walls, if proposed.

B. All proposed storm detention and treatment facilities comply with the standards for the improvement of public and private drainage systems located in the West Linn Public Works Design Standards.

C. There is sufficient factual data to support the conclusions of the plan.

D. Per CDC 99.035, the Planning Director may require the information in subsections A, B and C of this section for Type IV lands if the information is needed to properly evaluate the proposed site plan.

E. For Type I, II and III lands (refer to definitions in Chapter 02 CDC), the applicant must provide a geologic report, with text, figures and attachments as needed to meet the industry standard of practice, prepared by a certified engineering geologist and/or a geotechnical professional engineer, that includes:

- 1. Site characteristics, geologic descriptions and a summary of the site investigation conducted;
- 2. Assessment of engineering geological conditions and factors;
- 3. Review of the City of West Linn's Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan and applicability to the site; and
- 4. Conclusions and recommendations focused on geologic constraints for the proposed land use or development activity, limitations and potential risks of development, recommendations for mitigation approaches and additional work needed at future development stages including further testing and monitoring.

F. Identification information, including the name and address of the owner, developer, project designer, and the project engineer.

Finding: A geological assessment of the subject site was performed by a licensed geotechnical engineer. A detailed Geotechnical Report prepared by Geodesign has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. The Geotechnical Report provides a site-specific analysis of the potential risk from seismic hazards referenced in the *Earthquake Hazards Area Map.* The site-specific analysis is found under Appendix F of the Geotechnical Report. Guidance has been provided within the report for the design of the building to ensure the safety and stability of the site. Grading and Drainage Plans (Sheets LU1.20-LU1.27) consistent with the requirements of this section have been submitted under Appendix E. This standard is met.

55.140 ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS

This section does not apply to single-family residential subdivisions or partitions, or up to two duplexes or single-family attached dwellings.

Architectural drawings shall be submitted showing:

- A. Building elevations and sections tied to curb elevation;
- B. Building materials: color and type; and
- C. The name of the architect or designer
- **Finding:** Architectural Drawings consistent with the requirements of this section have been submitted under Appendix E. This standard is met.

55.150 LANDSCAPE PLAN

This section does not apply to detached single-family residential subdivisions or partitions, or up to two duplexes or single-family attached dwellings.

- A. The landscape plan shall be prepared and shall show the following:
 - 1. Preliminary underground irrigation system, if proposed;
 - 2. The location and height of fences and other buffering of screening materials, if proposed;
 - 3. The location of terraces, decks, patios, shelters, and play areas, if proposed;
 - 4. The location, size, and species of the existing and proposed plant materials, if proposed; and
 - 5. Building and pavement outlines.
- B. The landscape plan shall be accompanied by:
 - 1. The erosion controls that will be used, if necessary;
 - 2. Planting list; and
 - 3. Supplemental information as required by the Planning Director or City Arborist.
- **Finding:** A landscape Materials Plan Overall (Sheet L1100), Materials Plans (Sheets LU1101-LU1107), Planting Plan Overall (Sheet L1400A), Planting Schedule (Sheet L1400B), and detailed Planting Plans (Sheets L1401-L1407) illustrating the proposed irrigation system; the location and height of fences, buffering and screening materials; the location of outdoor play and gathering areas; building and pavement outlines, replanting areas for erosion controls; and planting list have been provided under Appendix E of this application. This standard is met.

55.180 MAINTENANCE

All on-site improvements shall be the ongoing responsibility of the property owner or occupant.

Finding: The applicant acknowledges that all on-site improvements will be the ongoing responsibility of the property owner. This standard is met.

55.190 SHARED OPEN SPACE

Where the open space is designated on the plan as common open space, the following shall apply:

A. The open space area shall be shown on the final plan and recorded with the Planning Director.

- B. The open space shall be conveyed in accordance with one of the following methods:
 - 1. By dedication to the City as publicly owned and maintained as open space. Open space proposed for dedication to the City must be acceptable to it with regard to the size, shape, location, improvement, and budgetary and maintenance limitations.
 - 2. By leasing or conveying title (including beneficial ownership) to a corporation, home association, or other legal entity with the City retaining the development rights to the property. The terms of such lease or other instrument of conveyance must include provisions suitable to the City Attorney for guaranteeing the following:
 - 84 ATHEY CREEK MIDDLE SCHOOL | 3J CONSULTING, INC.

- a. The continued use of such land for intended purposes.
- b. Continuity of property maintenance.
- c. When appropriate, the availability of funds required for such maintenance.
- d. Adequate insurance protection.
- e. Recovery for loss sustained by casualty and condemnation, or otherwise.
- 3. By any method that achieves the objectives set forth in subsection (B)(2) of this section.
- **Finding:** The site does not have areas designated as common open space. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

DIVISION 7. DISCRETIONARY PROVISIONS

Chapter 60 CONDITIONAL USES

60.070 APPROVAL STANDARDS AND CONDITIONS

A. The Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application for a conditional use, except for a manufactured home subdivision in which case the approval standards and conditions shall be those specified in CDC 36.030, or to enlarge or alter a conditional use based on findings of fact with respect to each of the following criteria:

1. The site size and dimensions provide:

a. Adequate area for the needs of the proposed use; and

- **Finding:** The site is approximately 21.4 acres in size, with a net developable area of 17 acres. The West Linn-Wilsonville School District's 2019 Long Range Plan identifies the Dollar Street school site as an appropriate site to provide an increase in student capacity along with a track and field, appropriate parking, and site circulation facilities. The increase in capacity from the current Athey Creek site would be responsive to the projected growth in middle school students in the West Linn area for the next 10plus years. The site is of adequate area for the needs of the proposed use, as identified in the schools 2019 Long Range Plan.
 - b. Adequate area for aesthetic design treatment to mitigate any possible adverse effect from the use on surrounding properties and uses.
- **Finding:** The District has given special consideration the impact of the school building on the surrounding neighborhood, which is predominately residential. These impacts include the overall size and massing of the school, traffic, connectivity, noise, and light generation. Several mitigation treatments and design choices have been provided on the site to reduce the overall impact of the school mon the surrounding neighborhood.

The school building has been set back from Brandon Place and Dollar Street beyond the minimum yard requirements to provide additional buffering and enhanced landscaping. The District has considered both the noise impacts of the school site and visual impacts of the school on the surrounding neighborhood. The existing landscaping and topography of the site has been utilized to the extent possible to provide natural buffering. Tree retention on the site has been primarily focused along Willamette Falls Drive and along the eastern property line adjacent to neighboring homes.

Special consideration has been given to the massing and height of the building along Dollar Street. The building and track will be sunken into the grade along Dollar Street to increase the compatibility of the building with the residential neighborhood. Enhanced landscaping has been provided along the frontage to provide additional visual buffering. Retaining walls have been utilized at the children's play area and the waste and recycling storage area to provide additional noise buffering on site. The lighting on site has been located to prevent light trespass on adjacent properties as shown on the Light Coverage Plan (Sheet LU4.01). Landscaping and buffering have been shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A). The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20).

Key architectural features of the surrounding neighborhood are two-story homes with gabled roof forms, and a mix of wood siding, brick, and stone materials. The school building will be two-stories in height and will incorporate gabled roof forms and a mix of wood and brick materials. The orientation and massing of the building will fan along the hillside which will provide for views of the surrounding landscape from the interior of the building while breaking up the building massing to reduce the overall impact of the building on the site. The building utilizes both flat and pitched roof forms to provide a residential style to the building.

As a result of a coordinated effort between City Staff and expert guidance from DKS and Associates, the development will include right-of-way improvements to Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive, and an extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension of Brandon Place will provide a needed secondary emergency access route to the neighborhood. Sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive which will increase neighborhood connectivity. The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by DKS and Associates, notes that the intersection at Willamette Falls Drive and Ostman Road will operate below the City's standards, however city staff does not wish to pursue mitigation at this time. All other traffic related issues are addressed within the Traffic Impact Analysis and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates. The configuration of access points on the site has been designed to encourage out-of-neighborhood traffic using Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place to access the school from Brandon Place, with buses and staff access from Dollar. The configuration has been designed to minimize the traffic impact on Dollar Street and in the adjacent neighborhood.

On-site Pedestrian pathways will connect the main school building with site facilities and surrounding pedestrian infrastructure, including Fields Bridge Park. On-site pathway facilities have been designed to meet the needs of the school, while also providing a path for use by the surrounding community. This standard is met.

2. The characteristics of the site are suitable for the proposed use considering size, shape, location, topography, and natural features.

Finding: The 21.4-acre site is adequately sized and shaped to meet the needs of the proposed middle school. The site improvements will include a 110,972 square foot building, outdoor hardscape play areas, an athletic track and field, walking paths, and two parking areas. The new school facility will provide capacity for 850 students. The school will be located centrally within the community it serves. Access to the proposed school will be provided through Dollar Street and Brandon Place, both local classification streets.

Type I, II, III and IV lands have been mapped on the site and have been shown on the Overall Site Analysis Land Types Plan (Sheet LU1.000) included under Appendix E. The gross site is 22.1 acres in size, with 2.8 acres of Type I lands and 0.9 acres of Type II lands. The Type I and II lands are primarily located along the eastern and southern property lines. The existing topography and significant trees in these areas have been largely preserved in the proposed site design for the school. A Geotechnical Report prepared by GeoDesign provides specific site grading, wall, and drainage design and construction recommendations for development in consideration of the existing steep slope areas at the site.

The proposed conditional use includes two Class II Variance requests. A variance to CDC Chapter 46.070.B, which requires that all parking spaces be located within 200 feet of a building entrance or site facility and a variance to CDC Chapter 52.300 for the size of the on-wall sign. The proposed variances will not impact the functionality of the site as a school and all relevant functional standards of the West Linn CDC have been met, as demonstrated within this narrative.

3. The granting of the proposal will produce a facility that provides an overall benefit to the City.

Finding: The existing Athey Creek school building has learning space capacity for 669 students. As shown in the 2019 West Linn-Wilsonville Long Range Facility Plan included under Appendix D, the total enrollment at Athey Creek for the 2018/2019 school year was 702 students. The existing school building does not have capacity to meet the current enrollment numbers. The new school building will provide capacity for 850 students, which exceeds the current enrollment numbers.

The relocation of Athey Creek Middle School to the Dollar Street site will provide a school that is more centrally located to the school population, withing walking and cycling distance to a large portion of the community, all allowing for safer accessibility to City-resident students and parents. The existing Athey Creek Middle School site has no walking boundary due to the lack of Safe Routes to School in unincorporated Clackamas County.

The relocation of the school was approved by West Linn – Wilsonville voters as part of Measure #3-554, the 2019 West Linn-Wilsonville School District Capital Bond

Program. The school will have on-site facilities that are available for public use during non-school hours, including walking paths, playground, outdoor recreation facilities, and indoor recreation and meeting spaces. Some of these facilities have been included in direct response to community feedback. The facility is being designed with emergency generator power capacity to provide community support in the event of emergencies. The project will also include right-of-way improvements such as street paving of drive lanes and parking, traffic calming, landscaping, bicycle and pedestrian paths. Furthermore, system development fees associated with the project will provide the City with additional funding for further improvement and maintenance of public facilities. This standard is met.

4. Adequate public facilities will be available to provide service to the property at the time of occupancy.

Finding: The District worked with city staff to determine the alignment and configuration of the proposed extension of Brandon Place and roundabout on Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension will provide a needed secondary emergency access route to the neighborhood. The Traffic Impact Analysis prepared by DKS and Associates, notes that one intersection will operate below the city's standards, however city staff does not wish to pursue mitigation at this time. All other traffic related issues are addressed within the Traffic Impact Analysis and Supplemental Memo prepared by DKS and Associates. The configuration of access points on the site has been designed to encourage out-of-neighborhood traffic using Willamette Falls Drive and Brandon Place to access the school from Brandon Place, with buses and staff access from Dollar. The configuration has been designed to minimize the traffic impact on Dollar Street and in the adjacent neighborhood. An Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) prepared by a registered engineer in coordination with city engineering staff has been provided which demonstrates that the school site can be adequately served by public utilities. A Preliminary Stormwater Report detailing the proposed storm detention and treatment system for the new middle school has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. Storm water plans detailing the proposed storm detention and treatment system have been included in Appendix E. The proposed design complies with applicable code and design standards, and there will be no adverse off-site impacts, including impacts from increased intensity of runoff downstream or constrictions causing ponding. The data in the preliminary stormwater report provides sufficient factual data to support the conclusions of the plan. This standard is met.

5. The applicable requirements of the zone are met, except as modified by this chapter.

Finding: The proposed conditional use includes two Class II Variance requests. A variance to CDC Chapter 46.070.B, which requires that all parking spaces be located within 200 feet of a building entrance or site facility and a variance to CDC Chapter 52.300 for the size of the on-wall sign. The proposed variances will not impact the functionality of the site as a school and all relevant functional standards of the West Linn CDC have been met, as demonstrated within this narrative. The Class II Variance Criteria has been addressed within this narrative for each variance request.

6. The supplementary requirements set forth in Chapters 52 to 55 CDC and CDC 92.010(E) are met, if applicable.

7. Finding: The proposed conditional use includes two Class II Variance requests. A variance to CDC Chapter 46.070.B, which requires that all parking spaces be located within 200 feet of a building entrance or site facility and a variance to CDC Chapter 52.300 for the size of the on-wall sign. The proposed variances will not impact the functionality of the site as a school and all relevant functional standards of the West Linn CDC have been met, as demonstrated within this narrative. The supplementary requirements set forth in Chapters 52 to 55 CDC and CDC 92.010(E) have been addressed within this narrative. This standard is met.

8. The use will comply with the applicable policies of the Comprehensive Plan.

Finding: The following goals and policies have been identified as potentially applicable to the proposed use and are addressed below:

Goal 2 - Land Use Planning

<u>Policy 3</u> - Develop incentives to encourage superior design, preserve environmentally sensitive open space, and include recreational amenities.

Response: Recreational amenities, including hardscape play areas, an athletic track and field and walking paths have been provided on the site for school and community use. A total of 42 significant trees were identified on site, of which 19 will be retained. The habitat corridor along the eastern boundary will be preserved as open space. This policy is met.

<u>Policy 5</u> - New construction and remodeling shall be designed to be compatible with the existing neighborhood through appropriate design and scale

Response: Special consideration has been given to the massing and height of the building along Dollar Street. The building will be sunken into the grade along Dollar Street to increase the compatibility of the building with the residential neighborhood. Enhanced landscaping has been provided along the frontage to provide additional visual buffering. Retaining walls have been utilized at the children's play area and the waste and recycling storage area to provide additional noise buffering on site. The lighting on site has been located to prevent light trespass on adjacent properties as shown on the Light Coverage Plan (Sheet LU4.01). Landscaping and buffering have been shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A). The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20). Key architectural features of the surrounding neighborhood are two-story homes with gabled roof forms, and a mix of wood siding, brick, and stone materials. The school building will be two-stories in height and will incorporate gabled roof forms and a mix of wood and brick materials. The orientation and massing of the building will fan along the hillside which will provide for views of the surrounding landscape from the interior of the building while breaking up the building massing to reduce the overall impact of the building on the site. The building utilizes both flat and pitched roof forms to provide a residential style to the building. This policy is met.

<u>Policy 8</u> - Protect residentially zoned areas from the negative impacts of commercial, civic, and mixed-use development, and other potentially incompatible land uses.

Response: Public Schools are located within the community they serve. The relocation of Athey Creek Middle School to the Dollar Street site will provide a school that is more centrally located to the school population, withing walking distance to a large portion of the community, all allowing for safer accessibility to students and parents. The existing Athey Creek Middle School site has no walking boundary due to the lack of Safe Routes to School in unincorporated Clackamas County. The relocation of the school was approved by West Linn – Wilsonville voters as part of Measure #3-554, the 2019 West Linn-Wilsonville School District Capital Bond Program. The new school has been designed to be compatible with the existing neighborhood to the extent possible. Several mitigation efforts have been identified to reduce the impact of the school, as addressed above in CDC Chapter 60.070.A.1.b.

<u>Policy 9</u> - Foster land use planning that emphasizes livability and carrying capacity.

Response: The City participated in siting of future schools through staff conversations, safe-routes-to-school planning, and the Bond Summit. The District is committed to providing a safe and attractive multi-modal transportation system on the site and in the surrounding area. The design provides safe transportation options for buses, cars, bicycles, and pedestrians. Separate bus and parent drop-off areas provide adequate queuing and control of the site for the safety of all users. The new walking pathways on site connect into new and existing sidewalks along Dollar Street, Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive. The District will work to partner with the City on the Safe-Routes to School Program and associated improvements for the school. A Traffic Impact Analysis and Supplementary Memo with a Safe-Routes to School analysis has been included in Appendix D.

<u>Goal 11 – Public Facilities and Services</u> Section 7: Schools

Policy 1 - Encourage the School District to build schools on collectors or arterial streets and, where possible, along transit lines.

Response: The proposed school will be located along Willamette Falls Drive, an arterial street. General parent access to the school will be provided from Brandon Place, a local street. Staff and bus access to the school site will be provided from Dollar Street, a local street.

Policy 2 - Encourage the use of energy-responsive materials and processes in the design of schools where economically feasible.

Response: The design includes energy responsive materials and design including appropriate thermal rating of the building envelope systems, sunshades on south-

facing windows, and photovoltaic systems (solar power) to reduce energy use. Highefficiency mechanical, plumbing and lighting systems with modern digital controls will further contribute to reduced energy use.

Policy 3 - The City shall participate in the siting of future school facilities, per the currently approved Intergovernmental Agreement with the School District.

Response: The City and West Linn-Wilsonville School District participated in siting of future schools through staff conversations, safe-routes-to-school planning, and the Bond Summit. Confirmation of the success of the pre-election process was found in the joint letter in support of Measure #3-554 from the mayors of West Linn and Wilsonville, a first in West Linn – Wilsonville history. The City has also been indirectly informed of the siting through community emails, meetings, and local media coverage.

Policy 4 - School design, use, and parking will be responsive to and compatible with surrounding neighborhoods and existing land uses.

Response: Special consideration has been given to the massing and height of the building along Dollar Street. The building will be sunken into the grade along Dollar Street to increase the compatibility of the building with the residential neighborhood. Enhanced landscaping has been provided along the frontage to provide additional visual buffering. Retaining walls have been utilized at the children's play area and the waste and recycling storage area to provide additional noise buffering on site. The lighting on site has been located to prevent light trespass on adjacent properties as shown on the Light Coverage Plan (Sheet LU4.01). Landscaping and buffering have been shown on the Planting Plan (Sheet LU1400A). The proposed retaining walls have been shown on the Overall Grading and Drainage Plan (Sheet LU1.20). Key architectural features of the surrounding neighborhood are two-story homes with gabled roof forms, and a mix of wood siding, brick, and stone materials. The school building will be two-stories in height and will incorporate gabled roof forms and a mix of wood and brick materials. The orientation and massing of the building will fan along the hillside which will provide for views of the surrounding landscape from the interior of the building while breaking up the building massing to reduce the overall impact of the building on the site. The building utilizes both flat and pitched roof forms to provide a residential style to the building. This policy is met.

Policy 5 - Work cooperatively with the school district to develop a safe-routes to school program and incorporate related improvements into the transportation capital improvements program

Response: The relocation of Athey Creek Middle School to the Dollar Street site will provide a school that is more centrally located to the school population, withing walking distance to a large portion of the community, all allowing for safer accessibility to students and parents. The existing Athey Creek Middle School site has no walking boundary due to the lack of Safe Routes to School in unincorporated

Clackamas County. The Dollar Street location and school design provides safe transportation options for buses, cars, bicycles, and pedestrians. Separate bus and parent drop-off areas provide adequate queuing and control of the site for the safety of all users. The new walking pathways on site connect into new and existing sidewalks along Dollar Street, Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive. The District will work to partner with the City on the Safe-Routes to School Program and associated improvements for the school. A Traffic Impact Analysis and Supplementary Memo with a Safe-Routes to School analysis has been included in Appendix D. This goal is met.

B. An approved conditional use or enlargement or alteration of an existing conditional use shall be subject to the development review provisions set forth in Chapter 55 CDC.

Finding: The provisions of Chapter 55 of the CDC have been addressed in this narrative. This standard is met.

C. The Planning Commission may impose conditions on its approval of a conditional use which it finds are necessary to assure the use is compatible with other uses in the vicinity. These conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- 1. Limiting the hours, days, place, and manner of operation.
- 2. Requiring design features which minimize environmental impacts such as noise, vibration, air pollution, glare, odor, and dust.
- 3. Requiring additional setback areas, lot area, or lot depth, or width.
- 4. Limiting the building height, size or lot coverage, or location on the site.
- 5. Designating the size, number, location and design of vehicle access points.
- 6. Requiring street right-of-way to be dedicated and the street to be improved including all steps necessary to address future street improvements identified in the adopted Transportation System Plan.
- 7. Requiring participation in making the intersection improvement or improvements identified in the Transportation System Plan when a traffic analysis (compiled as an element of a conditional use application for the property) indicates the application should contribute toward.
- 8. Requiring landscaping, screening, drainage, and surfacing of parking and loading areas.
- 9. Limiting the number, size, location, height, and lighting of signs.
- 10. Limiting or setting standards for the location and intensity of outdoor lighting.
- 11. Requiring berming, screening, or landscaping and the establishment of standards for their installation and maintenance.
- 12. Requiring and designating the size, height, location, and materials for fences.
- 13. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees, soils, vegetation, watercourses, habitat areas, and drainage areas.
- **Finding:** The applicant acknowledges that the Planning Commission may impose conditions of approval on a conditional use, including those listed in subsections 1-13 above. The

applicant has conducted a robust community engagement program including six community meetings to understand the interests and concerns of the neighborhood and has endeavored to be responsive to feedback received. This standard is met.

D. Aggregate extraction uses shall also be subject to the provisions of ORS 541.605.

Finding: The proposed use is not an aggregate extraction use. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

E. The Historic Review Board shall review an application for a conditional use, or to enlarge a conditional use on a property designated as a historic resource, based on findings of fact that the use will

1. Preserve or improve a historic resource which would probably not be preserved or improved otherwise; and

2. Utilize existing structures rather than new structures.

Finding: The subject site is not designated as a historic resource. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

60.080 SITE PLAN AND MAP

A. All site plans and maps shall include the name, address, and telephone number of the applicant, the scale of the site plan, north arrow, and a vicinity map.

B. The applicant shall submit a site plan drawn to an appropriate scale (in order of preference, one inch equals 10 feet to one inch equals 30 feet) which contains the following information:

- 1. The subdivision name, block, and lot number or the section, township, range, and tax lot number.
- 2. The lot or parcel boundaries, dimensions, and gross area.
- 3. The applicant's property and the surrounding property to a distance sufficient to determine the relationship between the applicant's property and proposed development to the adjacent property and development.
- 4. The location, dimensions, and names of all existing and platted streets and other public ways and easements on adjacent property and on the site.
- 5. The location, dimensions, and setback distances of all:
 - a. Existing structures, improvements, utilities, and drainage facilities on adjoining properties;
 - b. Existing structures, improvements, utilities, and drainage facilities to remain on the site; and
 - c. Proposed structures or changes to existing structures, improvements, utilities, and drainage facilities.
- 6. The existing and proposed dimensions of:
 - a. The entrances and exits to the site;
 - b. The parking and circulation areas;
 - c. Loading and service areas for waste disposal, loading and delivery;

- d. Pedestrian and bicycle circulation area;
- e. On-site outdoor recreation spaces and common areas; and
- f. Above-ground utilities.
- 7. The location of areas to be landscaped and the proposed landscape plan.
- 8. The location of all trees having a six-inch caliper at a height of five feet.
- C. The applicant shall submit the site plan on a map showing two-foot contours up to 20 percent grade and 10-foot contours on grades above 20 percent.
- **Finding:** An Overall Site analysis Plan (Sheet LU1.00), an Overall Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10), an Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) and an Overall Grading Plan (Sheet LU1.20) consistent with the requirements of this section have been submitted under Appendix E. An application accepted as complete requires compliance with this provision. This standard is met.

60.100 ADDITIONAL CRITERIA FOR SCHOOLS AND OTHER GOVERNMENT FACILITIES

Schools and other government facilities that attract a regular and significant volume of users shall, to the greatest extent possible, be centrally located relative to the majority of the population that they will serve and be serviceable by sidewalks and bike routes/lanes. Police and fire stations shall meet these standards to the greatest extent possible but it is acknowledged that access to arterials remains a key locational determinant for those uses.

Finding: The proposed location of Athey Creek Middle School will be more centrally located to the population it serves than the existing location of Athey Creek Middle School, which is in unincorporated Clackamas County. The current location has no walking boundary due to the lack of pedestrian and bicycle routes and lanes. The new location will be accessible by sidewalks and bike routes. New right-of-way improvements including pedestrian and bicycle routes and lanes are included in the proposed design. This standard is met.

Chapter 75 VARIANCES AND SPECIAL WAIVERS 75.020 CLASSIFICATION OF VARIANCES

A. Class I Variance. Class I variances provide minor relief from certain code provisions where it can be demonstrated that the modification will not harm adjacent properties, and it conforms with any other code requirements. Class I variances are allowed for the following code provisions:

B. Class II Variance. Class II variances may be utilized when strict application of code requirements would be inconsistent with the general purpose of the CDC and would create a burden upon a property owner with no corresponding public benefit. A Class II variance will involve a significant change from the code requirements and may create adverse impacts on adjacent property or occupants. It includes any variance that is not classified as a Class I variance or special waiver.

1. Class II Variance Approval Criteria. The approval authority may impose appropriate conditions to ensure compliance with the criteria. The appropriate approval

authority shall approve a variance request if all the following criteria are met and corresponding findings of fact prepared.

- a. The variance is the minimum variance necessary to make reasonable use of the property. To make this determination, the following factors may be considered, together with any other relevant facts or circumstances:
 - 1) Whether the development is similar in size, intensity and type to developments on other properties in the City that have the same zoning designation.
 - 2) Physical characteristics of the property such as lot size or shape, topography, or the existence of natural resources.
 - 3) The potential for economic development of the subject property.
- b. The variance will not result in violation(s) of any other code standard, and the variance will meet the purposes of the regulation being modified.
- c. The need for the variance was not created by the applicant and/or owner requesting the variance.
- d. If more than one variance is requested, the cumulative effect of the variances results in a project that is consistent with the overall purpose of the zone.
- **Finding:** The applicant is requesting two class II variances for the proposed renovations. A variance to CDC Chapter 46.070.B which requires all parking stalls be located within 200 feet of a building entrance and a variance to CDC Chapter 52.300 which limits on-wall signs to 18 square feet in area.

Class II Variance to CDC Chapter 46.070.B

CDC Chapter 46.070.B requires that all parking spaces be located within 200 feet of a building entrance.

The school campus consists of a main school building with multiple entrances, recreation facilities, and outdoor learning spaces to serve the students and teachers. There are two parking areas on site. The proposed parking lots have been located as close as possible to the main entrance of the building, given the needs of a school use and fulfillment of other requirements of the CDC. The Site Plan (Sheet LU1.10) included in Appendix E illustrates the extent of parking within 200 feet of the entrance to the various destinations on the site. This development is similar in size, intensity, and type to Rosemont Ridge Middle School, the other middle school located in the City. Rosemont Ridge has a site area of 20.61 acres and a total student capacity of 713 students, as provided in the 2019 West Linn-Wilsonville Long Range Facility Plan. The variance does not cause a violation of other code standards and meets the purpose of the regulation being modified by placing parking stalls as close as practical to the entries. ADA parking has been located closest to the primary entrance on each side of the building. Specific details for each lot are provided below.

The west parking lot will primarily serve parents and visitors to the school. All parking stalls within the parking lot are located within 200 feet of the main covered entryway, or within 200 feet of the entryway to the band and choir rooms as measured from the

nearest point of each parking space. The west parking lot is bordered on three sides by a wide sidewalk and drop off lane to maximize safe and efficient student arrival and dismissal. The drop off lane is 450 feet long, facilitating 17-20 vehicles simultaneously. These features prevent designing parking stalls along the nearest edges of the parking lot. The design also preserves natural resources in the form of existing trees and shrubs that contribute to the natural buffer between the parking lot and Willamette Falls Drive, and in the form of proposed trees and shrubs that will create the natural buffer between the parking lot and Dollar Street.

The east parking lot will primarily serve as a bus loading zone and staff parking lot, with parking for special events on site associated with the recreation facilities. The majority of the parking stalls within the east parking lot are located within 200 feet of the entrance to the multi-use track and field, located on the south side of the field, or within 200 feet of the building entrance to the southern classroom wing. A total of three parking stalls in the east parking lot are not compliant with the maximum 200 foot spacing requirement of this section. These three parking stalls are located within 230 feet of the southern classroom wing, and 225 feet of the multi-use track and field entrance. Additionally, the east parking lot is proposed to be far from and lower than neighboring properties along Dollar Street to reduce the potential noise impact. The east parking lot is bordered on the north and west sides by a wide sidewalk and bus loading and unloading lane to facilitate safe and efficient student arrival and dismissal. The parking lot location was also influenced by anticipated pedestrian traffic, including students. The playground, sports field, greenhouse, and southern pathway can all be accessed without the need to cross a vehicle drive lane, which maximizes student and pedestrian safety. The design also preserves natural resources in the form of existing trees and shrubs that contribute to the natural buffer between the parking lot and Willamette Falls Drive, and in the form of proposed trees and shrubs that will create the natural buffer between the sports field, parking lot and Dollar Street.

The need for the proposed parking distance variance has not been created by the District, given the size and topography of the site and parking requirements unique to a school use. This variance is the minimum variance necessary for the reasonable and safe use of the property as a school, preservation of natural resources, buffering, and addressing community feedback regarding the development.

Class II Variance to CDC Chapter 52.300

CDC Chapter 52.300 limits on-wall building signs to a maximum area of 18 square feet.

The District is proposing one on-wall sign, located on the west face of the building. The on-wall sign will have a combined area of 110 square feet, which exceeds the maximum allowed square footage. The proposed wall sign has been illustrated on the Monument and Building Signage Plan (Sheet LU3.06.

The proposed on-wall sign will be located on the west face of the building at the primary building entrance for students, parents, and visitors. The access for visitors to the school from Brandon Place is approximately 466.6 feet from the west face of the building. The proposed sign variance to increase the size of the sign to 110

square feet is necessary for readability for vehicles and pedestrians traveling from Brandon Place. The total area of just the lettering will be 21 square-feet, with no backing material. An 18-square foot sign area is not readable from Brandon Place and would create a hardship for the applicant to identify the school building, which has unique architectural and site needs as a community building. This standard is met.

The proposed sign variance will not result in a violation of other standards of the Community Development Code. The need for the proposed sign variance has not been created by the District.

The cumulative effect of the two proposed Class II Variances will result in a project that is consistent with the overall purpose of the zone and the conditional use of the site as a school. This standard is met.

Chapter 85 GENERAL PROVISIONS

85.210 PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENTS – APPROVAL STANDARDS

A. The Director shall approve or deny a request for a property line adjustment based on the criteria stated below:

1. An additional lot or parcel shall not be created by the property line adjustment.

- **Finding:** As part of the proposed development, the District is proposing to consolidate the three tax lots that property is comprised of into a single tax lot. The proposed lot consolidation will not create an additional lot or parcel. This standard is met.
 - 2. The existing property shall not be reduced in size by the adjustments below the minimum lot or parcel size established by the approved zoning for that district. The property line adjustment shall not enlarge, increase or extend the non-conformity of a non-conforming lot or non-conforming structure.
- **Finding:** The site is in the R-10 residential zone. The minimum lot size is 10,000 square feet. The consolidation of the three tax lots will result in a gross lot area of 962,676 square feet, which exceeds the minimum requirement of the R-10 zone. This standard is met.

3. Property line adjustments shall be either:

- a. A straight line (see Figure 1 example);
- b. A line with maximum of two 45- to 90-degree turns (see Figure 2 example); or
- c. A maximum of three turns less than 45 degrees
- **Finding:** The proposed adjustment will consolidate the three lots owned by the school district into a single lot. The adjustment will not result in new property lines. This standard is met.
 - 4. The property line adjustment shall not create a lot or parcel that violates applicable site development regulations.

- **Finding:** The proposed lot consolidation will not result in a new lot or parcel that violates the site development regulations. This standard is met.
 - 5. The property line adjustment will not adversely affect existing easements or existing utilities unless an easement vacation is obtained, replacement easements are established, or any required utility relocations are paid for by the applicant.
- **Finding:** The proposed lot consolidation will adversely affect existing easements or existing utilities except where easement vacations or replacement easements are established in accordance with the development plans submitted for the site. This standard is met.
 - 6. Proposed property line adjustments that cannot meet these standards are subject to review under CDC 99.060(B)(2)(e).
- **Finding:** The proposed lot consolidation meets the standards of this section. The requirements of CDC 99.060(B)(2)(e) are not applicable.

7. Any appeal must be filed in accordance with CDC 99.240.

Finding: The applicant acknowledges that any appeal must be filed in accordance with CDC 99.240.

Chapter 92 REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

92.010 PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR ALL DEVELOPMENT

The following improvements shall be installed at the expense of the developer and meet all City codes and standards:

- A. Streets within subdivisions.
 - 1. All streets within a subdivision, including alleys, shall be graded for the full right-ofway width and improved to the City's permanent improvement standards and specifications which include sidewalks and bicycle lanes, unless the decision-making authority makes the following findings:
 - a. The right-of-way cannot be reasonably improved in a manner consistent with City road standards or City standards for the protection of wetlands and natural drainageways.
 - b. The right-of-way does not provide a link in a continuous pattern of connected local streets, or, if it does provide such a link, that an alternative street link already exists or the applicant has proposed an alternative street which provides the necessary connectivity, or the applicant has proven that there is no feasible location on the property for an alternative street providing the link.
 - 2. When the decision-making authority makes these findings, the decision-making authority may impose any of the following conditions of approval:
 - a. A condition that the applicant initiate vacation proceedings for all or part of the right-of-way.

b. A condition that the applicant build a trail, bicycle path, or other appropriate way. If the applicant initiates vacation proceedings pursuant to subsection (A)(2)(a) of this section, and the right-of-way cannot be vacated because of opposition from adjacent property owners, the City Council shall consider and decide whether to process a City-initiated street vacation pursuant to Chapter 271 ORS. Construction staging area shall be established and approved by the City Engineer. Clearing, grubbing, and grading for a development shall be confined to areas that have been granted approval in the land use approval process only. Clearing, grubbing, and grading outside of land use approved areas can only be approved through a land use approval modification and/or an approved Building Department grading permit for survey purposes. Catch basins shall be installed and connected to pipe lines leading to storm sewers or drainageways.

B. Extension of streets to subdivisions. The extension of subdivision streets to the intercepting paving line of existing streets with which subdivision streets intersect shall be graded for the full right-of-way width and improved to a minimum street structural section and width of 24 feet.

C. Local and minor collector streets within the rights-of-way abutting a subdivision shall be graded for the full right-of-way width and approved to the City's permanent improvement standards and specifications. The City Engineer shall review the need for street improvements and shall specify whether full street or partial street improvements shall be required. The City Engineer shall also specify the extent of storm drainage improvements required. The City Engineer shall be guided by the purpose of the City's systems development charge program in determining the extent of improvements which are the responsibility of the subdivider.

D. Monuments. Upon completion of the first pavement lift of all street improvements, monuments shall be installed and/or reestablished at every street intersection and all points of curvature and points of tangency of street centerlines with an iron survey control rod. Elevation benchmarks shall be established at each street intersection monument with a cap (in a monument box) with elevations to a U.S. Geological Survey datum that exceeds a distance of 800 feet from an existing benchmark.

Finding: The proposed school development is not a subdivision; however, it will include an extension of Brandon Place from Dollar Street to Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension is consistent with the 2016 West Linn Transportation System Plan and has been designed to meet the City's local street improvement standards and specification. This standard is met.

E. Storm detention and treatment. For Type I, II and III lands (refer to definitions in Chapter 02 CDC), a registered civil engineer must prepare a storm detention and treatment plan, at a scale sufficient to evaluate all aspects of the proposal, and a statement that demonstrates:

1. The location and extent to which grading will take place indicating general contour lines, slope ratios, slope stabilization proposals, and location and height of retaining walls, if proposed.

- 2. All proposed storm detention and treatment facilities comply with the standards for the improvement of public and private drainage systems located in the West Linn Public Works Design Standards.
- 3. There will be no adverse off-site impacts, including impacts from increased intensity of runoff downstream or constrictions causing ponding upstream.
- 4. There is sufficient factual data to support the conclusions of the plan.
- 5. Per CDC 99.035, the Planning Director may require the information in subsections (E)(1), (2), (3) and (4) of this section for Type IV lands if the information is needed to properly evaluate the proposed site plan.
- **Finding:** A Preliminary Stormwater Report detailing the proposed storm detention and treatment system for the new middle school has been submitted under Appendix D of this application. Storm water plans detailing the proposed storm treatment system have been included in Appendix E. The proposed design complies with applicable code and design standards, and there will be no adverse off-site impacts, including impacts from increased intensity of runoff downstream or constrictions causing ponding. The data in the preliminary stormwater report provides sufficient factual data to support the conclusions of the plan. This standard is met.

F. Sanitary sewers. Sanitary sewers shall be installed to City standards to serve the subdivision and to connect the subdivision to existing mains.

- 1. If the area outside the subdivision to be directly served by the sewer line has reached a state of development to justify sewer installation at the time, the Planning Commission may recommend to the City Council construction as an assessment project with such arrangement with the subdivider as is desirable to assure financing his or her share of the construction.
- 2. If the installation is not made as an assessment project, the City may reimburse the subdivider an amount estimated to be a proportionate share of the cost for each connection made to the sewer by property owners outside of the subdivision for a period of 10 years from the time of installation of the sewers. The actual amount shall be determined by the City Administrator considering current construction costs.
- **Finding:** The school is serviceable by an existing sanitary sewer line located along the eastern boundary of the property. The proposed sanitary connection has been shown on the Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) and the detailed Utility Plans (Sheets LU1.31-LU1.37). The proposed sanitary sewer connection will be installed to City standards. This standard is met.

G. Water system. Water lines with valves and fire hydrants providing service to each building site in the subdivision and connecting the subdivision to City mains shall be installed. Prior to starting building construction, the design shall take into account provisions for extension beyond the subdivision and to adequately grid the City system. Hydrant spacing is to be based on accessible area served according to the City Engineer's recommendations and City standards. If required water mains will directly serve property outside the subdivision, the City

may reimburse the developer an amount estimated to be the proportionate share of the cost for each connection made to the water mains by property owners outside the subdivision for a period of 10 years from the time of installation of the mains. If oversizing of water mains is required to areas outside the subdivision as a general improvement, but to which no new connections can be identified, the City may reimburse the developer that proportionate share of the cost for oversizing. The actual amount and reimbursement method shall be as determined by the City Administrator considering current or actual construction costs.

Finding: The school is serviceable by an existing water line located in Dollar Street. The proposed water connection has been shown on the Overall Utility Plan (Sheet LU1.30) and the detailed Utility Plans (Sheets LU1.31-LU1.37). The proposed water line will be installed to City standards. This standard is met.

H. Sidewalks.

1. Sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of a public street and in any special pedestrian way within the subdivision, except that in the case of primary or secondary arterials, or special type industrial districts, or special site conditions, the Planning Commission may approve a subdivision without sidewalks if alternate pedestrian routes are available.

In the case of the double-frontage lots, provision of sidewalks along the frontage not used for access shall be the responsibility of the developer. Providing front and side yard sidewalks shall be the responsibility of the land owner at the time a request for a building permit is received. Additionally, deed restrictions and CC&Rs shall reflect that sidewalks are to be installed prior to occupancy and it is the responsibility of the lot or homeowner to provide the sidewalk, except as required above for doublefrontage lots.

- 2. On local streets serving only single-family dwellings, sidewalks may be constructed during home construction, but a letter of credit shall be required from the developer to ensure construction of all missing sidewalk segments within four years of final plat approval pursuant to CDC 91.010(A)(2).
- 3. The sidewalks shall measure at least six feet in width and be separated from the curb by a six-foot minimum width planter strip. Reductions in widths to preserve trees or other topographic features, inadequate right-of-way, or constraints, may be permitted if approved by the City Engineer in consultation with the Planning Director.
- 4. Sidewalks should be buffered from the roadway on high volume arterials or collectors by landscape strip or berm of three and one-half-foot minimum width.
- 5. The City Engineer may allow the installation of sidewalks on one side of any street only if the City Engineer finds that the presence of any of the factors listed below justifies such waiver:
 - a. The street has, or is projected to have, very low volume traffic density;
 - b. The street is a dead-end street;
 - c. The housing along the street is very low density; or

- d. The street contains exceptional topographic conditions such as steep slopes, unstable soils, or other similar conditions making the location of a sidewalk undesirable.
- **Finding:** As part of the proposed development, sidewalks will be installed along the property frontage on Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed extension of Brandon Place will include sidewalks on both sides, providing a pedestrian connection between Dollar Street and Willamette Falls Drive. All proposed sidewalks will be at least six feet in width. Sidewalks on Dollar Street will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip with a width of at least six feet in width. The proposed sidewalk infill on Willamette Falls Drive east of the roundabout will be buffered by a landscape strip with a width of four feet. The sidewalks along the western side of Brandon Place and on the eastern side of Brandon Place north of the school driveway will be buffered from the roadway by a landscape strip of at least six feet. The section of the sidewalk from the school driveway on Brandon Place south to Willamette Falls Drive will transition to a 10-foot wide curb-tight multi-use sidewalk, which will act as a transition area for bicycles and pedestrians traveling from the Willamette Falls Drive multi-use path. This standard is met.

I. Bicycle routes. If appropriate to the extension of a system of bicycle routes, existing or planned, the Planning Commission may require the installation of separate bicycle lanes within streets and separate bicycle paths.

Finding: The proposed development will a new sidewalk and separated bike path along Willamette Falls Drive. The proposed bicycle and pedestrian improvements have been shown on the Site Plan (Sheet LU1.11-LU1.17) and have been detailed in the Traffic Impact Analysis Report prepared by DKS and Associates and included under Appendix D of this application. The District acknowledges that the Planning Commission may require additional bicycle route improvements as a condition of approval. This standard is met.

J. Street name signs. All street name signs and traffic control devices for the initial signing of the new development shall be installed by the City with sign and installation costs paid by the developer.

Finding: While the proposed development is not a subdivision, the District acknowledges that all street name signs, and traffic control devices will be installed by the City at the cost of the District. This standard is met.

K. Dead-end street signs. Signs indicating "future roadway" shall be installed at the end of all discontinued streets. Signs shall be installed by the City per City standards, with sign and installation costs paid by the developer.

Finding: The proposed development will not include dead-end streets. The requirements of this section are not applicable.
L. Signs indicating future use shall be installed on land dedicated for public facilities (e.g., parks, water reservoir, fire halls, etc.). Sign and installation costs shall be paid by the developer.

Finding: The proposed development does not include land dedicated for future public facilities. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

M. Street lights. Street lights shall be installed and shall be served from an underground source of supply. The street lighting shall meet IES lighting standards. The street lights shall be the shoe-box style light (flat lens) with a 30-foot bronze pole in residential (non-intersection) areas. The street light shall be the cobra head style (drop lens) with an approximate 50-foot (sized for intersection width) bronze pole. The developer shall submit to the City Engineer for approval of any alternate residential, commercial, and industrial lighting, and alternate lighting fixture design. The developer and/or homeowners association is required to pay for all expenses related to street light energy and maintenance costs until annexed into the City.

Finding: All proposed street lights will be a shoe-box style light with a 30-foot bronze pole and will be installed and served from an underground source of supply. This standard is met.

N. Utilities. The developer shall make necessary arrangements with utility companies or other persons or corporations affected for the installation of underground lines and facilities. Electrical lines and other wires, including but not limited to communication, street lighting, and cable television, shall be placed underground.

O. Curb cuts and driveways. Curb cuts and driveway installations are not required of the subdivider at the time of street construction, but, if installed, shall be according to City standards. Proper curb cuts and hard-surfaced driveways shall be required at the time buildings are constructed.

Finding: The proposed parking lots will require curb cuts and driveways. The access will be provided according to City Standards. This standard is met.

P. Street trees. Street trees shall be provided by the City Parks and Recreation Department in accordance with standards as adopted by the City in the Municipal Code. The fee charged the subdivider for providing and maintaining these trees shall be set by resolution of the City Council.

Finding: While the proposed development is not a subdivision, the District acknowledges that street trees may be required. Street trees will be provided along the frontage of Dollar Street, along both sides of Brandon Place and along Willamette Falls Drive where road improvements are proposed. The proposed street trees will be provided in accordance with City standards.

Finding: The District will make all necessary arrangements with utility companies or other persons affected for the installation of underground lines and facilities. This standard is met.

Q. Joint mailbox facilities shall be provided in all residential subdivisions, with each joint mailbox serving at least two, but no more than eight, dwelling units. Joint mailbox structures shall be placed in the street right-of-way adjacent to roadway curbs. Proposed locations of joint mailboxes shall be designated on a copy of the tentative plan of the subdivision, and shall be approved as part of the tentative plan approval. In addition, sketch plans for the joint mailbox structures to be used shall be submitted and approved by the City Engineer prior to final plat approval.

Finding: The proposed development does not require joint mailbox facilities. The applicant will coordinate with the Post Master to determine the appropriate location for the school mailbox. The requirements of this section are not applicable.

Chapter 96 STREET IMPROVEMENT CONSTRUCTION 96.010 CONSTRUCTION REQUIRED

- A. New construction.
 - 1. Building permits shall not be issued for the construction of any new building or structure, or for the remodeling of any existing building or structure, which results in an increase in size or includes a change in use, including building permits for single-family dwellings but excepting building permits for alteration or addition to an existing single-family dwelling, unless the applicant for said building permit agrees to construct street improvements as required by the land use decision authorizing the construction activity. The placement of new curbs and the drainage facilities required shall be determined by the City Manager or the Manager's designee.
 - 2. If the building permit did not require a prior land use decision, the applicant shall construct street improvements which shall include curbs, sidewalks, drainage facilities, and pavement widening to meet new curbs, along all City streets which abut the property described in the building permits.
 - 3. An applicant for a building permit may apply for a waiver of street improvements and the option to make a payment in lieu of construction. The option is available if the City Manager or the Manager's designee determines the transportation system plan does not include the street improvement for which the waiver is requested.
 - 4. When an applicant applies for and is granted a waiver of street improvements under subsection (A)(3) of this section, the applicant shall pay an in-lieu fee equal to the estimated cost, accepted by the City Engineer, of the otherwise required street improvements. As a basis for this determination, the City Engineer shall consider the cost of similar improvements in recent development projects and may require up to three estimates from the applicant. The in-lieu fee shall be used for in kind or related improvements.
- B. Remodeling of an existing building.
- C. Replacement of an existing building.

D. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, in cases where the issuance of the building permit pertains to the construction or reconstruction of a building or structure within a large development owned by the same owner or owners, the City Council may, in its sole discretion, authorize the installation of street improvements of equivalent cost on another portion of the total development area.

Finding: The District is proposing street improvements to Dollar Street, Brandon Place and Willamette Falls Drive. The applicant acknowledges that a development agreement with the City may be required for the proposed improvements. This standard is met.

96.020 STANDARDS

Street improvements shall be installed according to the City standards and shall be completed prior to the issuance of any occupancy permit for the new or remodeled structure or building. In unimproved areas of the City, the City Engineer may grant a time extension of the provisions of this section; provided, that the applicant provides sufficient security in amount and quantity satisfactory to the City Attorney to assure payment of such improvement costs.

Finding: All proposed street improvements will be installed according to City Standards and will be completed prior to occupancy. This standard is met.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The mission of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District 2019 Bond is to provide a high-quality safe learning environment at Athey Creek Middle School. The new school has been thoughtfully designed, with collaboration from members of the community.

The District has given special consideration to the overall impact of the school on the surrounding neighborhood. The new school has been designed and sited to minimize and mitigate identified impacts to the extent possible while providing for the operational needs of the school. The site circulation has been designed strategically to separate parent drop-off traffic and staff and bus drop-off traffic, and minimize off-site traffic impacts.

Based upon the analysis and findings described above for the Type III Conditional Use Application, Design Review Application, Class II Variance Application and Lot Consolidation Application, Athey Creek Middle School meets the requirements as described in the West Linn Community Development Code. The District respectfully requests approval from the City's Planning Department and Planning Commission.



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW APPLICATION

For Office Use Only				
STAFF CONTACT	PROJECT NO(S).		PRE-APPLICATION NO.	
Non-Refundable Fee(s)	REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT(S)	TOTAL	<u> </u>	
Type of Review (Please check al	l that apply):			
 Annexation (ANX) Appeal and Review (AP) Conditional Use (CUP) Design Review (DR) Easement Vacation Extraterritorial Ext. of Utilities Final Plat or Plan (FP) Flood Management Area Hillside Protection & Erosion Contri Home Occupation, Pre-Application, S additional application forms, available 	Sidewalk Use, Sign Review Permit, and	ructures Water Resource Ar Water Resource Ar Willamette & Tua Zone Change	rea Protection/Single Lot (WAP) rea Protection/Wetland (WAP) latin River Greenway (WRG)	
Site Location/Address:		Assessor's Map No	.: 21334C 31E34DC	
945 Dollar Street		Tax Lot(s): 600 1900 a	and 1001	
		Total Land Area: 2	2.11 acres	
	District proposes to construct a new a Type III Conditional Use Permit, De			
Applicant Name: West Linn-Wils (please print)	onville School District	Phone: 503-67	3-7988	
Address: 2755 SW Borland Roa		Email: douglas	r@wlwv.k12.or.us	
City State Zip: Tualatin, OR 9706	2			
Owner Name (required): West Lir	In-Wilsonville School District	Phone: 503-67	73-7988	
(please print) Address: 2755 SW Borland Road		Email: douglas	r@wlwv.k12.or.us	
City State Zip: Tualatin, OR 9706	2			
Consultant Name: 3J Consulting	, Inc.	Phone: 503-94	46-9365 x211	
(please print) Address: 9600 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 100		Email: mercede	es.serra@3j-consulting.con	
City State Zip: Beaverton, OR 970	108		- • •	
2. The owner/applicant or their re	undable (excluding deposit). Any ov presentative should be present at a appeal. No permit will be in effect	Il public hearings.	-	

4. One complete hard-copy set of application materials must be submitted with this application.

One complete digital set of application materials must also be submitted electronically in PDF format.

If large sets of plans are required in application please submit one set.

The undersigned property owner(s) hereby authorizes the filing of this application, and authorizes on site review by authorized staff. I hereby agree to comply with all code requirements applicable to my application. Acceptance of this application does not infer a complete submittal. All amendments to the Community Development Code and to other regulations adopted after the application is approved shall be enforced where applicable. Approved applications and subsequent development is not vested under the provisions in place at the time of the initial application.

Applicant's signature

Owner's signature (required)

Date

City of West Linn PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCE MEETING SUMMARY NOTES November 18, 2020

SUBJECT:	Proposal to build new Athey Creek Middle School at 840 and 945 Dollar Street.
FILE:	PA-20-15
ATTENDEES:	 APPLICANT: West Linn – Wilsonville School District Keith Liden WWSD, Angela Caffrey WWSD, Remo Douglas WWSD, Matt Manzer KPFF, Mark Wharry KPFF, Mercedes Serra 3J Consulting, Rebecca Grant IBI Architecture, Ian Holzworth IBI Architecture, Kate Barbaria IBI Architecture STAFF: Chris Myers Associate Planner, Darren Wyss Interim Planning Manager, Jennifer Arnold Associate Planner, Lynn Schroder Administrator, Erich Lais Assistant City Engineer PUBLIC: Jim Byaosai, Dana Clarke, Kathie Halicki, Shannen Knight, John McCabe, Elizabeth Rocchia

The following is a summary of the meeting discussion provided to you from staff meeting notes. Additional information may be provided to address any "follow-up" items identified during the meeting. <u>These comments are</u> <u>PRELIMINARY in nature</u>. Please contact the Planning Department with any questions regarding approval criteria, submittal requirements, or any other planning-related items. Please note disclaimer statement below.

Site Information

Site Address:	840 and 945 Dollar Street	
Tax Lot No.:	21E34C 600, 21E34DC 900 and 1001	
Zoning:	Single Family Residential Detached, R-10	
Neighborhood:	Willamette	
Applicable Code:	CDC Chapters:	
	11: Single-Family Residential	
	27: Flood Management	
	28: Willamette and Tualatin River Protection	
	32: Water Resource Area Protection	
	41: Building Height, Structures on Steep Lots, Exceptions	
	42: Clear Vision Areas	
	44: Fences	
	46: Off-Street Parking, Loading, and Reservoir Areas	
	48: Access, Egress, and Circulation	
	52: Signs	
	54: Landscaping	
	55: Design Review	
	60: Conditional Uses	
	75: Variances and Special Waivers	
	92: Required Improvements	
	96: Street Improvements Construction	
	99: Procedures for Decision Making: Quasi-Judicial	

Project Details: The applicant proposes construction of a new middle school at 840 and 945 Dollar Street.

Public Comments: Public comments received during the pre-application meeting focused on several

issues. The first is storm water and how this will be handled. Mark Wharry of KPFF explained that due to the proximity to the river, storm water will need to be collected and treated. The School District will follow all City of West Linn codes and guidelines for this process.

It was also asked if Clackamas County has been involved in the process due to the potential that Fields Bridge on Willamette Falls Drive will be compromised. It was explained that the County will be consulted once an application has been turned in.

One further question focused on the required neighborhood association meeting and the corresponding notice. Specifically the timing for the pre-application and the neighborhood association meeting.

Discussion: Discussion for this proposed application focused on the applicable chapters of the Community Development Code listed under Site Information in this report.

Engineering Division Comments: Assistant City Engineer, Erich Lais, discussed the utility and infrastructure needs that the School District will have based upon the proposed project. Discussion was focused on potential water line locations, potential sewer line locations, and storm water needs such as retention and treatment. Further discussion was had regarding the need for street improvements along Willamette Falls Drive and Dollar Street. And what type of improvements would be required.

Process: The proposal is for a quasi-judicial Conditional Use Permit, which is a Planning Commission decision. For the proposal, address the submittal requirements and standards for decision making in the Community Development Code (CDC) chapters 11, 27, 28, 32, 41, 42, 44, 46, 48, 52, 54, 55, 60, 75, 92, 96, and 99.

N/A is not an acceptable response to the approval criteria. The submittal requirements may be waived, but the applicant must first identify the specific submittal requirement and request, in letter form, that it be waived by the Planning Manager and must identify the specific grounds for that waiver.

Once the application and deposit/fee are submitted, the City has 30 days to determine if the application is complete or not. If the application is not complete, the applicant has 180 days to make it complete or provide written notice to staff that no other information will be provided.

Once the submittal is declared complete, staff will send out public notice of the anticipated Planning Manager's decision date at least 20 days before it occurs. A sign posted on the site. The Planning Manager's decision may be appealed to City Council by the applicant or anyone with standing.

Pre-application notes are void after 18 months. After 18 months with no application approved or in process, a new pre-application conference is required.

Typical land use applications can take 6-10 months from beginning to end.

DISCLAIMER: This summary discussion covers issues identified to date. It does not imply that these are the only issues. The burden of proof is on the applicant to demonstrate that all approval criteria have been met. These notes do not constitute an endorsement of the proposed application *or provide any assurance of potential outcomes*. Staff responses are based on limited material presented at this pre-application meeting. New issues, requirements, etc. could emerge as the application is developed. *A new pre-application conference would have to be scheduled one that period lapses and these notes would no longer be valid. Any changes to the CDC standards may require a different design or submittal.*

Pre-application Conference PA 20-15 Athey Creek Middle School

Community Development Code applicable chapters:

Chapter 11: Single-Family Residential Detached, R-10

- 11.060-7 Conditional Use Permit
- 11.080 Dimensional Requirements

Chapter 27: Flood Management Area

- 27.020 Applicability
- 27.050 Application
- 27.060 Approval Criteria
- 27.070 Construction Materials and Methods
- 27.090 Non-Residential Construction

Chapter 28: Willamette and Tualatin River Protection

- 28.030 Applicability
- 28.040 Exemption/Uses Permitted Outright
- 28.090 Submittal Requirements: Application
- 28.110 Approval Criteria

Chapter 32: Water Resource Area Protection

- 32.050 Application
- 32.060 Approval Criteria (Standard Process) Table 32-2
- 32.090 Mitigation Plan

Chapter 41: Building Height, Structures on Steep Lots, Exceptions

- 41.005 Determining Height of Building
- 41.020 Height Exceptions
- 41.040 Places of Worship or Government Buildings

Chapter 42: Clear Vision Areas

- 42.020 Clear Vision Areas Required, Uses Prohibited
- 42.030 Exceptions
- 42.050 Computation; Accessway Less than 24 Feet in Width

Chapter 44: Fences

- 44.020 Sight-Obscuring Fence; Setback and Height Limitations
- 44.040 Landscaping
- 44.050 Standards for Construction

Chapter 46: Off-Street Parking, Loading and Reservoir Areas

• 46.020 Applicability and General Provisions

- 46.040 Approval Standards
- 46.070 Maximum Distance Allowed Between Parking Area and Use
- 46.080 Computation of Required Parking Spaces and Loading Area
- 46.090 Minimum Off-Street Parking Space Requirements

Chapter 48: Access, Egress, and Circulation

- 48.020 Applicability and General Provisions
- 48.025 Access Control
- 48.040 Minimum Vehicle Requirements for Non-Residential Uses
- 48.050 One-Way Vehicular Access Points

Chapter 52: Signs

- 52.210 Approval Standards
- 52.300 Permanent Sign Standards

Chapter 54: Landscaping

- 54.020 Approval Criteria
- 54.030 Planting Strips for Modified and New Streets
- 54.40 Installation

Chapter 55: Design Review

- 55.020 Classes of Design Review
- 55.030 Administration and Approval Process
- 55.070 Submittal Requirements

Chapter 60: Conditional Uses

- 60.030 Administration and Approval Process
- 60.100 Additional Criteria for Schools and Other Government Facilities

Chapter 75: Variances and Special Waivers

- 75.020 Classification of Variances
- 75.030 Administration and Approval Process

Chapter 92: Required Improvements

- 92.010 Public Improvements for All Development
- 92.030 Improvement Procedures

Chapter 96: Street Improvements Construction

- 96.010 Construction Required
- 96.020 Standards

Chapter 99: Procedures for Decision Making: Quasi-Judicial

99.038 Neighborhood Contact Required for Certain Applications

- 99.060 Approval Authority
- 99.080 Notice
- 99.125 Staged or Phased Development
- 99.325 Extension of Approval

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING

STATE OF OREGON

SS

)

County of Clackamas)

I, Elsa Bierwagen, being duly sworn, state that I represent the party initiating interest in West Linn-Wilsonville Dollar Street affecting the land located at 945 Dollar Street and that pursuant to Community development Code Section 99, did on the 27th day of October caused to have mailed, to each of the persons on the attached list, a notice of a meeting to discuss the proposed development of the aforementioned property.

I further state that said notices were enclosed in plainly addressed envelopes to said persons and were deposited on the date indicated above in the United States Post Office with postage prepaid thereon.

This <u>27th</u> day of <u>October</u> 2020.

Signature

Subscribed and sworn to, or affirmed, before me this _____ day of _____ day of , 2020.

OFFICIAL STAMP AUDREY L JONES NOTARY PUBLIC - OREGON COMMISSION NO. 990916 MY COMMISSION EXPIRES SEPTEMBER 03, 2023

andus

Notary Public for the State of Orego
County of Washington
My Commission Expires: September 3, 2023

New Middle School at Dollar Street Neighborhood Meeting Request

Dear Ms. Halicki,

3J Consulting acts on behalf of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District regarding a proposal for the New Middle school at the Dollar Street site. The new middle school is part of the 2019 Capital Bond Program which was approved by West Linn-Wilsonville voters in November 2019. The school property is located at 945 Dollar Street. The property can be legally identified as tax lots 21E34DC00900 and 21E34C00600. The site is zoned R-10 or Single Family Residential. The location of the proposed project is shown on the attached map.

3J CONSULTING 9600 SW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100

BEAVERTON, OREGON 97008

WWW.3JCONSULTING.COM

PH: (503) 946.9365

Before finalizing an application to the City's Planning Department for the proposed improvements, we would like to discuss this proposal with the members of the Willamette Neighborhood Association and with property owners residing within 500 feet of the property.

The purpose of this meeting is to provide a forum for surrounding property owners and residents to review the proposal, provide feedback, and ask questions. While one community meeting is required by the City, three have been held to date, and a total of five are expected.

We are writing today to formally request a meeting with the neighborhood association. The City's code requires us to inquire as to whether you have a preferred date and time. If after 20 days from the date of this letter, we have not heard from you with a preferred meeting date, we will schedule a meeting, in accordance with the City's notification requirements.

Please note this will be an informational meeting based upon preliminary development plans and these plans may change before the application is submitted to the City. If the proposed meeting is acceptable, we would ask that you please respond to this letter with an email to mercedes.serra@3j-consulting.com. If you have any questions, feel free to call at 503-946-9365x211.

Sincerely,

Mercedes Serra Senior Urban Designer 3J Consulting, Inc.

Copy: Julia Simpson, Willamette NA Vice President Mary Baumgardner, Willamette NA Secretary Elizabeth Rocchia, Willamette NA Treasurer





Vicinity Map





New Middle School at Dollar Street Neighborhood Meeting Request

Dear Ms. Baumgardner,

3J Consulting acts on behalf of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District regarding a proposal for the New Middle school at the Dollar Street site. The new middle school is part of the 2019 Capital Bond Program which was approved by West Linn-Wilsonville voters in November 2019. The school property is located at 945 Dollar Street. The property can be legally identified as tax lots 21E34DC00900 and 21E34C00600. The site is zoned R-10 or Single Family Residential. The location of the proposed project is shown on the attached map.

3J CONSULTING 9600 SW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100

BEAVERTON, OREGON 97008

WWW.3JCONSULTING.COM

PH: (503) 946.9365

Before finalizing an application to the City's Planning Department for the proposed improvements, we would like to discuss this proposal with the members of the Willamette Neighborhood Association and with property owners residing within 500 feet of the property.

The purpose of this meeting is to provide a forum for surrounding property owners and residents to review the proposal, provide feedback, and ask questions. While one community meeting is required by the City, three have been held to date, and a total of five are expected.

We are writing today to formally request a meeting with the neighborhood association. The City's code requires us to inquire as to whether you have a preferred date and time. If after 20 days from the date of this letter, we have not heard from you with a preferred meeting date, we will schedule a meeting, in accordance with the City's notification requirements.

Please note this will be an informational meeting based upon preliminary development plans and these plans may change before the application is submitted to the City. If the proposed meeting is acceptable, we would ask that you please respond to this letter with an email to mercedes.serra@3j-consulting.com. If you have any questions, feel free to call at 503-946-9365x211.

Sincerely,

Mercedes Serra Senior Urban Designer 3J Consulting, Inc.

Copy: Kathie Halicki, Willamette NA President Julia Simpson, Willamette NA Vice President Elizabeth Rocchia, Willamette NA Treasurer





Vicinity Map





New Middle School at Dollar Street Neighborhood Meeting Request

Dear Ms. Rocchia,

3J Consulting acts on behalf of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District regarding a proposal for the New Middle school at the Dollar Street site. The new middle school is part of the 2019 Capital Bond Program which was approved by West Linn-Wilsonville voters in November 2019. The school property is located at 945 Dollar Street. The property can be legally identified as tax lots 21E34DC00900 and 21E34C00600. The site is zoned R-10 or Single Family Residential. The location of the proposed project is shown on the attached map.

3J CONSULTING 9600 SW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100

BEAVERTON, OREGON 97008

WWW.3JCONSULTING.COM

PH: (503) 946.9365

Before finalizing an application to the City's Planning Department for the proposed improvements, we would like to discuss this proposal with the members of the Willamette Neighborhood Association and with property owners residing within 500 feet of the property.

The purpose of this meeting is to provide a forum for surrounding property owners and residents to review the proposal, provide feedback, and ask questions. While one community meeting is required by the City, three have been held to date, and a total of five are expected.

We are writing today to formally request a meeting with the neighborhood association. The City's code requires us to inquire as to whether you have a preferred date and time. If after 20 days from the date of this letter, we have not heard from you with a preferred meeting date, we will schedule a meeting, in accordance with the City's notification requirements.

Please note this will be an informational meeting based upon preliminary development plans and these plans may change before the application is submitted to the City. If the proposed meeting is acceptable, we would ask that you please respond to this letter with an email to mercedes.serra@3j-consulting.com. If you have any questions, feel free to call at 503-946-9365x211.

Sincerely,

Mercedes Serra Senior Urban Designer 3J Consulting, Inc.

Copy: Kathie Halicki, Willamette NA President Julia Simpson, Willamette NA Vice President Mary Baumgardner, Willamette NA Secretary





Vicinity Map



New Middle School at Dollar Street **Neighborhood Meeting Request**

Dear Ms. Simpson,

3] Consulting acts on behalf of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District regarding a proposal for the New Middle school at the Dollar Street site. The new middle school is part of the 2019 Capital Bond Program which was approved by West Linn-Wilsonville voters in November 2019. The school property is located at 945 Dollar Street. The property can be legally identified as tax lots 21E34DC00900 and 21E34C00600. The site is zoned R-10 or Single Family Residential. The location of the proposed project is shown on the attached map.

Before finalizing an application to the City's Planning Department for the proposed improvements, we would like to discuss this proposal with the members of the Willamette Neighborhood Association and with property owners residing within 500 feet of the property.

The purpose of this meeting is to provide a forum for surrounding property owners and residents to review the proposal, provide feedback, and ask questions. While one community meeting is required by the City, three have been held to date, and a total of five are expected.

We are writing today to formally request a meeting with the neighborhood association. The City's code requires us to inquire as to whether you have a preferred date and time. If after 20 days from the date of this letter, we have not heard from you with a preferred meeting date, we will schedule a meeting, in accordance with the City's notification requirements.

Please note this will be an informational meeting based upon preliminary development plans and these plans may change before the application is submitted to the City. If the proposed meeting is acceptable, we would ask that you please respond to this letter with an email to mercedes.serra@3jconsulting.com. If you have any questions, feel free to call at 503-946-9365x211.

Sincerely,

Mercedes Serra Senior Urban Designer 3] Consulting, Inc.

Copy: Kathie Halicki, Willamette NA President Mary Baumgardner, Willamette NA Secretary Elizabeth Rocchia, Willamette NA Treasurer



3 J CONSULTING 9600 SW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100

BEAVERTON, OREGON 97008

WWW.3JCONSULTING.COM

PH: (503) 946.9365



Vicinity Map



SENDER: COM 7016 2710 000	
 Complete items 1, 2, and 3. Print your name and address on the reverse so that we can return the card to you. Attach this card to the back of the mailplece, or on the front if space permits. Article Addressed to: Kathie Halicki Willamette NA 2307 Falcon Dr. West Linn, OR 97608 MMMS 	A. Signature X Kather Halicles Agent B. Received by (Printed Name) Kathic Halicle D. Is delivery address different from item 1? Yes If YES, enter delivery address below: No
9590 9402 3361 7227 3315 56 2. Article Number (Transfer from service label) 7016 2710 0000 4192 2877	3. Service Type □ Aduit Signature □ Aduit Signature Restricted Delivery □ Registered Mail™ □ Aduit Signature Restricted Delivery □ Registered Mail™ □ Certified Mail Restricted Delivery □ Return Receipt for Merchandise □ Collect on Delivery Restricted Delivery □ Signature Confirmation™ □ Insured Mail Restricted Delivery □ Signature Confirmation™ □ Delivery □ Delivery □ Delivery □ Signature Confirmation™ □ Delivery □ Delivery □ Delivery □ Delive

•





7016 2728 0000 4197	DETUDA SECTOR
SENDER: COMPLETE THIS SECTION	COMPLETE THIS SECTION ON DELIVERY
 Complete items 1, 2, and 3. Print your name and address on the reverse so that we can return the card to you. Attach this card to the back of the mailplece, or on the front if space permits. 	A. Signature X M M C Agent B. Received by (Printed Name) C. Date of Delivery C. Date of Delivery
1. Article Addressed to:	D. Is delivery address different from item 1?
Elizabeth Rocchia 957 Willamette Falls Dr. West Linn, OR 97 605 97068	
9590 9402 3361 7227 3315 25 2. Article Number (Transfer from service label) 3. HORONO TRIPACHO DOD 4192 2846	3. Service Type □ Priority Mail Express® □ Aduit Signature □ Registered Mail™ □ Aduit Signature Restricted Delivery □ Registered Mail Restricted Delivery □ Certified Mail® □ Refutm Receipt for □ Collect on Delivery □ Signature Confirmation □ Insured Mail □ Signature Confirmation □ Insured Mail Delivery Signature Confirmation □ Insured SS00; □ Signature Confirmation
PS Form 3811, July 2015 PSN 7530-02-000-9053	Dómestic Return Receipt

October 26, 2020

Athey Creek Middle School at Dollar Street Neighborhood Meeting

Dear Neighbors,

3J Consulting acts on behalf of the West Linn-Wilsonville School District regarding a proposal for the new middle school at Dollar Street. The new middle school is part of the 2019 Capital Bond Program which was approved by West Linn-Wilsonville voters in November 2019. The school property is located at 945 Dollar Street. The property can be legally identified as tax lots 21E34DC00900 and 21E34C00600. The site is zoned R-10 or Single Family Residential. The location of the proposed project is shown on the attached map.

3J CONSULTING 9600 SW NIMBUS AVENUE, SUITE 100

BEAVERTON, OREGON 97008

WWW.3JCONSULTING.COM

PH: (503) 946.9365

Before finalizing an application to the City's Planning Department for the proposed project, we would like to discuss this proposal with the members of the Willamette Neighborhood Associations and with property owners residing within 500 feet of the property. This is a special meeting hosted by the Willamette Neighborhood Association and will be the only item on the agenda for the evening.

You are invited to attend a VIRTUAL zoom meeting on: Wednesday, November 18, 2020 at 7:00pm The meeting will be held via a web-based meeting platform facilitated by the Willamette Neighborhood Association

The purpose of these meetings is to provide a forum for surrounding property owners and residents to review the proposal and identify issues so they can be given proper consideration. We invite you to join us, review the preliminary plans, and share any special information you may have about the property. The project team will try to answer questions related to how the project meets the relevant development standards consistent with West Linn's land use regulations. Please note that this will be an informational meeting based upon preliminary development plans and that these plans may change before the application is submitted to the City.

The ZOOM link will be provided in the Mail Chimp or on the City's website under the 11/18 Willamette Neighborhood Association Special Meeting. **If you would like to attend this web-based meeting, we would invite you to visit the City's website https://westlinnoregon.gov/Willamette.** We look forward to discussing the proposal with you. If you have questions on how to participate in the proposed meeting, please contact us at mercedes.serra@3j-consulting or (503) 946-9365x211.

Sincerely,

Mercedes Serra Senior Urban Designer 3J Consulting, Inc.





Vicinity Map



21E34C 00100 Michael Hellweg 405 Miken Ln West Linn, OR 97068-9112

21E34CA00100 Caroline Attanasio 761 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4055

21E34CA00400 Alan Harvey Rosenus 20621 Lomita Ave Saratoga, CA 95070-6023

21E34CA00700 William & Lisa Prentice 758 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4054

21E34CA01000 Lee Schaber 2230 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4051

21E34CA01500 James & Robin Day 2225 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4050

21E34CA01800 Donald & Diana Kunstel 2255 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4053

21E34CA02100 Kyle & Julianne Haskin 2195 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056

21E34CA02400 Elizabeth & Adam Ballner 2225 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056

21E34CA02700 Susan Groh 2275 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4057 21E34C 00200 Susie Mae Douglas-Matlock 420 Miken Ln West Linn, OR 97068-9112

21E34CA00200 David & Joyce Deyoung 759 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4055

21E34CA00500 Travis & Caroline Eddy 751 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4055

21E34CA00800 Kenneth Cooper 754 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4054

21E34CA01100 Debra Meyers 2220 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4051

21E34CA01600 Zachary & Kelly Nye 2235 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4053

21E34CA01900 Kenneth Wong 2265 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4053

21E34CA02200 P Shevlinsa II 2205 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056

21E34CA02500 Emanuela Anca 2245 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056

21E34CA03500 Douglas & Olesya Denney 2230 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056 21E34C 00300-00500 City Of West Linn 22500 Salamo Rd #600 West Linn, OR 97068-8306

21E34CA00300 Christopher Williams 757 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4055

21E34CA00600 Michael & Julie Donovan 762 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4054

21E34CA00900 Wu Yang 2250 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4052

21E34CA01400 Ronald Klimeck-Jones 2215 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4050

21E34CA01700 Xiao Jun 2245 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4053

21E34CA02000 K & D Haag 2275 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34CA02300 Dennis Allen 2215 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056

21E34CA02600 Dennis & Victoria Vysotskiy 2255 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4057

21E34CA03600 James & Carol Markovics 2220 Brandon Pl West Linn, OR 97068-4056 31E03AB02218 Rosalin & Richard Brooke 1047 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34CB00700 Coombes 442 SW Alderwood Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9102

21E34CC00500 Brandon Paxton 23750 SW Elderberry Ln West Linn, OR 97068-9111

21E34DB02329 Rickey Holderbaum 2160 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4030

21E34DB02332 Garrett Winiecki 2130 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4030

21E34DB03200 Samuel Ray Bugarsky 2180 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4045

21E34DB03500 Andrew & Kathryn Walker 2132 Johnyne Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4049

21E34DB03800 Gregg & Dina Stults 2137 Johnyne Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4049

21E34DB04100 Bernd Scholz 763 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4046

21E34DB04400 Amy Mead 771 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 9706821E34CA03900 Cindy Vandemarr 65 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-9115

21E34CB00800 Lesley Arle 444 SW Alderwood Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9102

21E34DB02301 R Krippaehne 2125 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34DB02330 William & Laura Stallard II 2150 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4030

21E34DB03000 Janet Smith 2200 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4045

21E34DB03300 Margaret Schecter 2170 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4058

21E34DB03600 Ekaete Ime Udoh 2142 Johnyne Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4049

21E34DB03900 Erik Miller 2133 Johnyne Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4049

21E34DB04200 Sandra Barton 767 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34DC00700 Gary & Marcia Saunders 940 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4026 21E34CB00600 Frederic Ciccotelli 449 SW Alderwood Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9102

21E34CB00900 Lonnie & Mevelyn Kesterson 446 SW Alderwood Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9102

21E34DB02302 Dennis Bresnahan Po Box 2401 Wilsonville, OR 97070-2401

21E34DB02331 Earl Molander 2140 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4030

21E34DB03100 Wallace & Barbara Fulbright 2190 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4045

21E34DB03400 Katherine Stepp 772 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4048

21E34DB03700 Karen Jarrett 2147 Johnyne Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4049

21E34DB04000 Timothy & Dana Edvalson 766 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34DB04300 Martha Robinson 4234 247th St Little Neck, NY 11363-1641

21E34DC00800 Charles Orourke 950 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4005 21E34DC00801 Daniel & Diane Garrett 960 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4005

21E34DC01003 Daniel Peter Smith 1032 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34DC01006 Bradley Kehm 1048 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01009 Familtrust Watt 1064 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01012 Derek Ryan Sandell 1076 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01015 Angela & Maximillian Morgan 1092 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01018 Daniel & Kasandra Anderson 1846 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01021 Pat Gregg 1849 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01024 Darrin & Micki Vanderberg 1813 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01027 Paul Moredock 1785 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4682 21E34DC01001 West Linn-Wils Sch Dist #3 22210 SW Stafford Rd Tualatin, OR 97062-7738

21E34DC01004 Cornelia Taylor 1036 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01007 Steve & Carol Elliott 1052 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01010 Aaron Todde & Shauna Overman 1068 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01013 Youxiang Cheng 16889 Wight Ln Lake Oswego, OR 97035-4521

21E34DC01016 Nicholas & Brittney Salisbury 1098 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01019 Stacie & Jason Erdahl 1850 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01022 Christopher & Lindsay Kane 1837 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01025 Rose & Peter Titterington 1801 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01032 & 05300 Jeffrey Jones 2025 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4073 21E34DC01002 Troy & Leslie Soenen 1028 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01005 Jake & Caroline Allbright 1044 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01008 Mary Ulinski 1056 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01011 Richard Baker 1072 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01014 Jill Mallery 1084 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01017 Joi & William Ball 1834 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01020 Michael and Mary Baumgardner 1855 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01023 Benjamin & Melissa Kirkup 1825 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4683

21E34DC01026 John & Dawn Mieras 1797 Joseph Fields St West Linn, OR 97068-4682

21E34DC01033 Amy & Dino Lenarduzzi 1053 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400 21E34DC01034 Elise Kunde 1065 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01037 Nakita & Danny Hui 1079 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01040 Kurt Shusterich 1093 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01043 Kuo-Hsin Huang 1088 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01046 Chen Jung Tsai 1074 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01049 Doughlas Keil 1062 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

31E03AB02219 Dean & Jennifer Clark 1043 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01300 Dirk & Debra Hicks 1045 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4007

21E34DC01505 Shirley Harkleroad 1970 Ostman Rd West Linn, OR 97068-4320

21E34DC01800 Timothy & Stacey Spengler 805 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042 21E34DC01035 Huanfeng Zhu 1071 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01038 Michael Matthew Taylor 1085 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01041 Matthew Hemsley 1097 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01044 Peter & Lynette Mihalik 1082 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01047 Xiaogang Du 21 Nightshade Irvine, CA 92603-0640

21E34DC01050 Property Owner 1058 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01200 Cheryl & Fred Hall 1007 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4007

21E34DC01400 Michael Hironimus 1095 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-

21E34DC01600 & 01601 Brady Thurman Goss 1960 Ostman Rd West Linn, OR 97068-4320

21E34DC01900 Wade & Bogdana Clarke 811 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 9706821E34DC01036 Jeffrey & Sara Pisan 1075 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01039 Tyrone Kohler 1089 Epperly Way West Linn, OR 97068-5400

21E34DC01042 Kathleen Atkins 1096 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01045 Roshan Fernando 1078 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01048 John & Carly Bermensolo 1066 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01051 Edward Mackin 1054 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

21E34DC01201 Jeff Kraus 1025 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4007

21E34DC01502-01504 Rosemarie Elze 16181 S Moore Rd Oregon City, OR 97045-8377

21E34DC01700 Michael & Kelsey Loverro 801 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC02000 William Markt 20490 S Sweetbriar Rd West Linn, OR 97068-9339 21E34DC02100 Charles & Teresa Wessling 851 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC02400 Bradley Stewart 455 Twilight Trl West Linn, OR 97068-9357

21E34DC02700 Matthew Uelmen 830 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC03400 Reita Campbell 2120 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4030

21E34DC03700 Tara Menon 781 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4046

21E34DC04200 Jorge & Lindsay Torralba 2048 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072

21E34DC04500 Eric & Nancy Christenson 3008 Hunter Ct West Linn, OR 97068-2276

21E34DC04800 Brian Lee & Carrie Brewer 2032 Ostman Rd West Linn, OR 97068-4012

21E34DC05100 Craig Morgan 2007 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4073

21E34DC05500 Jeffrey & Megan Cox 2087 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 9706821E34DC02200 Ronald & Janet Mobley 854 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC02500 Charles Herring 840 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC03200 Jason & Aubre Wessling 806 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC03500 Pamela & Rex Bybee 770 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4047

21E34DC03800 Gregg & Anita Havemann 2100 River Heights Cir West Linn, OR 97068-4028

21E34DC04300 Dana Myers 2036 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072

21E34DC04600 Michael & Nicole Rusk 2001 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4073

21E34DC04900 Roger & Jeannie Woehl 2054 Ostman Rd West Linn, OR 97068-4012

21E34DC05200 Deborah Fernando 2013 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4073

21E34DC05700 Carly & James Bykoski 2074 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072 21E34DC02300 Kristine Albright 850 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC02600 Barry Desbiens 836 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC03300 F Morgan & Janet Wheeler 800 Nicole Ct West Linn, OR 97068-4042

21E34DC03600 Deborah Maria 773 Nicole Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4046

21E34DC04000 Philip Jr & Anne Culbertson 2206 Michael Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4032

21E34DC04400 Jack Warren Snook 2024 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072

21E34DC04700 Ryan & Maegan Tedmus 1088 Dollar St West Linn, OR 97068-4071

21E34DC05000 Ryan Mathew Wirtz 2076 Ostman Rd West Linn, OR 97068-4012

21E34DC05400 Wade & Hannah Hall 2071 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4073

21E34DC05800 Todd & Stacey Mickey 2062 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072 21E34DC05900 William & Diane Mulligan 2050 Fields Dr West Linn, OR 97068-4072

31E03AB01600 Carol Dejardin Po Box 193 West Linn, OR 97068-0193

31E03AB02220 Andre & Leslie Abraham 1035 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

31E03AB02216 Hyo Be An 1055 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

Julia Simpson, Vice President Willamette NA 1671 Killarney Dr West Linn, OR 97068 31E03AB01400 Andy and Elizabeth Rocchia 957 Willamette Falls Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9101

31E03AB01700 Mark Tabor 951 Willamette Falls Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9101

31E03AB02214 Holly Brown 1063 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

31E03AB02217 Michael & Darcy Hansen 1051 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401 31E03AB01500 Maureen Ann Bonfiglio 955 Willamette Falls Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9101

31E03AB01800 Jeffrey & Victoria Hood 949 Willamette Falls Dr West Linn, OR 97068-9101

31E03AB02215 Marcus & Ellen Price 1059 Meek Way West Linn, OR 97068-5401

Kathie Halicki, President Willamette NA 2307 Falcon Dr. West Linn, OR 97068

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING

STATE OF OREGON

SS

)

)

County of Clackamas

I, John Howorth, being duly sworn, state that I represent the party initiating interest in <u>Type III Conditional</u> <u>Use Permit</u> affecting the land located <u>at 945 Dollar Street (Parcel Numbers 21E34C00600, 21E34DC00900</u> <u>and 21E34DC01001</u>) and that pursuant to Community development Code Section 99, did on the <u>27th</u> day of <u>October</u> personally post notice indicating that the site may be proposed for a <u>Conditional Use Permit</u> application.

Six signs were posted along the frontage of the property along Willamette Falls Drive across from the west entrance to Fields Bridge Community Park; across from the east entrance to Fields Bridge Community Park; at the east end of the property nearest the crosswalk; and along Dollar Street across from the intersection of Brandon Place, River Heights Circle (west), and River Heights Circle (east).

(Location of sign on property)

This <u>27th</u> day of <u>October</u> 2020.

Signature

Subscribed and sworn to, or affirmed, before me this 27^{+11} day of October 2020.

OFFICIAL STAMP AUDREY L JONES NOTARY PUBLIC - OREGON COMMISSION NO. 990916 MY COMMISSION EXPIRES SEPTEMBER 03, 2023 Notary Public for the State of <u>Dreyon</u> County of <u>Washington</u> My Commission Expires: <u>September 3, 2023</u>

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING NOTICE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT

MEETING INFORMATION: WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 18 AT 7:00PM VIRTUAL COMMUNITY MEETING TO ATTEND, PLEASE VISIT HTTPS://WESTLINNOREGON.GOV/WILLAMETTE

OR CONTACT: MERCEDES SERRA MERCEDES.SERRA@3J-CONSULTING.COM PHONE NUMBER: 503-946-9365 X211

Willamette Neighborhood Assoc. Special Meeting ZOOM 11/18/2020

Proposed building of Athey Creek Middle School on Dollar St.

Kathie brought the meeting to order at 7:00

The reading of the updates were waived until a later date.

This meeting was informational meeting as per Mercedes letter dated Sept. 29, 2020.

The documents (PDF and Google Drive) that were to be used in presentation, did not arrive until 4:04 on 11/18. We asked that they be supplied to us on or before the 9th of Nov.

The district had a pre-app meeting with the city on Nov. 18th at 10:00 am, leaving us just 7 hours to go through the information given by the city. There were no notes from the city due to small window of time. The email for the city went down on the 18th and did not come back up until the 23rd, so the public was not able to see information.

We had 98 ZOOM attendees.

Presentation = Dollar St. School (Athey Creek) is to be built to hold 850 students plus staff. There are 2 entrances to the school, one off Dollar (for staff and buses) and one off Brandon Lane (parent drop off and visitors). The staff entrance is at grade for the second floor while the visitor entrance is at grade for the first floor. Brandon Place is cut through the property to link up Dollar St. and Willamette Falls Dr. and is mandated by the city. There is to be a track with stadium lighting, at the top/flat part of the property (across Dollar St. from residents), but lower than Dollar St. The district will restrict lighting after 10:00pm.

Construction is to start in summer of 2021 and conclude by opening day in Sept. of 2023. Geo will be on site when construction is occurring.

The district is suggesting a round-about on Willamette Falls Dr. at the bridge. Clackamas County is the owner of the bridge and has not been made aware. Round-about would include both directions of Willamette Falls Dr., Brandon Place, Fields Bridge Park.

The school is to be 2 story and be built into the side of the hill. The outside construction will consist of dark brick, sheet metal trim in green and brown, storefront windows and "wood" siding. Most of the trees would be removed (with the exception of perhaps the perimeter).

Traffic count was done in May 2019 (prior to COVID-19 Impacts). AM peak hour trips for 850 students In = 152 Out = 127 total of 279 (student, staff and buses).

Safe routes to school walking boundary = 1 mile wide sidewalk with separated bicycle facilities on WFD to be built along school frontage. Many residents thought that the traffic and walking numbers were not in the ball park, especially since tolling was not taken into account and neither was poor weather. Kids will not walk in the rain/cold.

Will submit application in late Jan. mid Feb. for this project.

May request another Willamette Neighborhood Assoc. meeting.

Verbal Questions & Answers

- 1). Any compensation for diminished value of home? NO
- 2). Does anybody on the School Council or on this project, live in this neighborhood?
- 3). Why don't you just expand at current Athey Creek campus?
- 4). frustration with I-205 tolling, round-about
- 4). Ostman not in compliance

5). Currently there are 9 fields at Athey Creek, why move school to property that can only have 1

6). Adjustment of round-about = too much slope, to close to bridge, must have city wide vote to encroach on Fields Bridge Park. (No impact to bridge for round-about)

7). Speed bumps on Dollar

8). Need to take the access off of Brandon Place and put it on WFD, otherwise that negates the benefit of Brandon Place, twice a day.

9). Flo Analitics states no need for this school for 10 years,

10). Issues with traffic (both on WFD and on Dollar) insufficient parking -especially for large events

11). Gate to stay closed on Dollar, but emergency vehicles can use

12). Likes design walks the property daily. Would like to be able to continue walking property.

13). Poor location for round-about not enough acreage, no good vision, safety issue.

14). Concerns with parents using Meek Way (Arbor Cove) to drop off/pick up students. Serious impact, people doing 35mph already.

15) Parking in neighborhood = fence along track to the edge of visitor parking. Slope may also deter.

16). Concerned that parents will use Fields Dr. to drop off/pick up students. Increase bus route in Safe Routes to school. Kids won't walk in poor weather.

17). Obligated to get rid of perimeter trees overhanging WFD

18). Is the decision already made? Negotiable? Are we just going through the motions?

19). How are questions to be answered? On the district website.

20). Safety issues = 2 rivers, no lighting on WFD, need flashing light/signal for students to cross WFD

Kathie adjourned the meeting at 9:32 pm

www.wlwv.k12.or.us/Domain/1963 click on link to survey then click on link to questions

steve.faust@3J-consulting.com

Questions & Comments from the chat of the meeting:

- 1). District has already spent more than \$1.2 million, to date, on this project.
- 2). Such a shameless waste of money... this whole thing is fiscally irresponsible
- 3). The parking lot will be more than 200 ft. from the building

4). Are speed bumps allowed?

5). Middle schools in the district are down 81 students this year. Next year it will down an additional 106 students.

6). Primary schools are more than 1,200 under capacity.

Yes, the district enrollment is down this year...but this is due to COVID. Mr. McCabe's enrollment numbers did not provide this important context. Our district is down in enrolment this year, due to COVID, similar to every public school district in Oregon.

Kathy, it was down 126 students for 2019/20year, you need to tell the truth tonight.

"Our high school enrollment numbers and middle school enrollment numbers remain relatively stable to last year". The proceeding statement was provided by Kathy Ludwig. Problem is the middle school enrollment is down 81 students. We must hear the truth, and we are not tonight.

The kids that live within 1 mile is less than 100 students.

7). And yet the district proceeds with shoving this down our throats... what is their motive?

8). The motive is so that the Capital Projects employees will have jobs, even though we have plenty of capacity at the schools.

9) Why will leaning trees along WFD be removed? Is the street being widened?

10). Mr. Faust mentioned 20 responses after the last meeting – was that from the post-meeting survey or does it also include the concerns that were expressed in all of the Q & A during the meeting? I thought I remember about 70 questions during that meeting.

70 questions is correct

We are in the process of adding questions from the live session at the last meeting to the Q&A document available on the website. An updated document should be ready in the few weeks.

11). "We will do a study and get feedback" however regardless of the results and the feedback the project will go on. This is unfortunately about minimizing fallout.

12). So there is absolutely nothing that will stop this insanity? What about a lawsuit?

13). The traffic measurements made will be meaningless if I-205 eventually gets tolls, forcing both morning and afternoon traffic to turn Willamette Falls Drive into a near parking lot (along with parents, cars, and multiple buses, pedestrians, and kids on bikes). Plus, air quality in the morning and afternoon will be unhealthy on a regular basis with all the traffic. This is not good short/medium/long term planning for West Linn.

14). Are you aware that tolling is not in the distant future, but will start in 2023? No. How many of you (those working on this project) took the tolling survey? None responded. How much was the projected

increase in traffic come 2023? It needs to be expanded vastly more than just increased papulation as the tolling going in on 205 that is going to greatly increase traffic on WFD.

15). Did the traffic study take into effect, likely 205 tolls that will turn WFD into a major bypass?

16). In the Oct. 20th meeting we were informed that Art/Tech would be closed. This year sophomores are not allowed to attend. There is no reason for present Athey Creek to become Art/Tech.

17). Will people's comments on the online forum be provided *verbatim* to the public and for the record?

18). Will you be giving additional updated information from the last meeting or is the information the same?

19). Will the school be visible from Willamette Falls Dr. or will there be trees and vegetation planted to replace the trees being cut down?

20).What is the purpose of Brandon connecting to Dollar St.?

According to WL Planning the city has mandated that Brandon Pl. be put through.

Because Dollar St. is an illegal cul-de-sac.

This occurred when Dollars St. was vacated with the construction of Fields Creek Bridge. This is what makes this application different than the 1990's application when Dollar St. was not vacated. The large cul-de-sac that is now Dollar St. will make emergencies difficult if not impossible.

The school district didn't object to the vacating of Dollar Street which was done Fields Creek Bridge was built..

So the City of West Linn closed off Dollar Street against code and installed a stop sign that does not meet standards? So I guess we cannot expect them to do the right thing by not approving the permit to build a school...?

We are aware that Dollar St. is illegal and the district wants to make it worse?

21). Will solar collectors be used? Huge amount of roof surface.

22).Where are the 100+ cars going to park during school conferences, and larger events?

23) Concerned about the event parking impact on the River Heights Neighborhood. Where are all the cars going to park?

In your neighborhood and Arbor Cove. If the path is developed it will end up with parents parking cars in Arbor Cove neighborhood to access the school. If the path is improved from Arbor Cove, it will absolutely increase drop off/pick up traffic and overflow parking from the school. I would prefer not to see it improved/encouraged. Remember that the Arbor Cove path is very steep. I am 64 and it is not an easy walk up. It is not a practical path.

When WLHS was expended, the parking was not expanded sufficiently. The district came to a temporary "solution" to parking issue by getting permission for students to park on the bridges that go over 205. In the next 2-5 years those bridges will go away and parking will be back to where it started. Yes, this bond has added parking to school but it is for stadium use, so is still insufficient.

24). Where are the preferred event parking areas? There is not enough room in the visitor lot.

25). For those of us who live adjacent to Dollar St., this is obviously going to impact property values in a negative way. Will there be money set aside to compensate homeowners for diminished property values? No

26). Athey Creed Middle School currently has 9 fields. What is the thought process on why this proposed location will only have 1 field? At the last meeting, I believe you mentioned that students would be using Fields Bridge Park for sports activities. How does this impact the neighborhood use of the park if it is basically an extension of the school grounds?

27). Security question = most schools have just one unlocked primary entrance, but this design seems to have 2 primary entrances. How will security be handled?

28). Noise from school event will be intolerable. Was that even taken into consideration?

29). What plans do they have in case of either emergency lockdown/or emergency evacuation for the school and adjacent neighborhoods? Eg. When both kids and residents need to evacuate? What would be an active shooter emergency response plan? Has TVFR had an opportunity to review these plans?

30). When is the proposed breaking ground day?

31). Such a pretty design, but no regard for the neighbors. Not nearly enough parking for events. I can't even imagine how we will get into River Heights during construction. Will the Brandon PI. connector be something the general public can use?

32). What a total disregard the district has for the citizens!!

33). What is the plan to help mitigate sound/noise/light and exhaust pollution that will increase for the residents of surrounding neighborhoods? Including 205 noise? The current trees provide sound buffer and absorb pollution.

34). The photometric map does not take into account the fog and mist we have during all and winter nights which amplifies and carries the light beyond the expected radius.

35). What is Rosemont's walking boundary student papulation? What percentage of kids that can walk, walk regularly?

36). The last meeting had an adjustment for walk/bike. 29% is incredibly optimistic.

37). What is the setback distance between the north edge of the proposed athletic field facility and the nearest residential property line? What criteria was used to determine that this setback distance is acceptable (please reference specific West Linn CDC code number). Do site constraints prohibit a greater setback distance? The 20 ft. setback that the architects reference from WL CDC is the dimension from a residence to the property line of that residence for a front or rear yard. This is very different situation than an athletic field. How does the architect team justify using this setback distance for the athletic field?

38). 150 kids currently live within walking radius. There is **NO** way 29% of the kids will walk/bike. Yep, they need to plan for ZERO. The walk/bike percentage at 29% is way too high. Completely unrealistic. Are they saying that 29% of 850 students would walk to school? That is 247 students!! What do they consider waking distance for $6^{th} - 8^{th}$ graders? Do we even have 250 students living within the walking distance? In Oct. 20th meeting the 29% is based on only 450 students that will attend the Middle School here.

39). Isn't there a district mandated 1 mile no-bus zone? Couldn't that be where the data is from? Only 157 kids currently live within walking bounds, so that is nowhere near the estimate 250 that they assumed.

40). I never saw ANY evidence of a traffic study! Imagine 153 cars on WFD in the morning, all trying to drop off the kid. Gridlock! We live on Brandon Place and are terrified of the potential traffic and parking on our street. (We don' want the same situation the WL High School has). During rush hour, there will likely have diversion starting at Brandon Pl, and going through to Dollar/WFD. I noticed that Dollar/WFD was not included in the traffic area study. What happens when the tolling on I-205 begins and the traffic on WFD increases tremendously? Afternoon peak queue is mostly irrelevant. What is the queue for morning peak? How can a traffic study be complete without the street that the only other exit of the area? The public connection road to Brandon Pl. will significantly decrease safety for children in the neighborhood, and will have devastating impacts on traffic and home values. Have traffic studies been conducted specifically for Dollar and Brandon Pl.? The huge traffic impact to the failed intersection at Ostman & WFD has to be addressed. This is not a benefit to the West Linn Community.

41). What is the feasibility of re-evaluating the need for an 840 student school as we will NEVER go back to the way we were after COVID.

42). Wonderful design. Biggest issue is the roundabout. Why have it when there is little cross road traffic, primarily R & L turn movements. There is no room for the roundabout, there are vision impacts due to grade and the bridge. A center turn lane is much safer. So the queue goes halfway across the bridge. Is it structurally able to have cars, busses, and trucks sitting on it for long periods of time? Willamette Falls Dr. is not wide enough by the bridge to handle a roundabout, and the speed of cars coming down towards the potential roundabout will be too fast, as most of them are now.

43) Will you be reviewing and taking into consideration an independent traffic study, not paid for by the district?

44). I don't think the district is in touch with the community. Example: we have buses in the neighborhood providing lunches to students. Really, in this neighborhood... and at what cost with bus drivers and bus costs? Doesn't make sense.

45). How will a roundabout be placed onto the edge of the bridge? Bridge modifications are very costly. Can a roundabout be put there without impacting the bridge structure?

46). Will the district be building a sidewalk along WFD? How is it safe to walk now? Wait until the City adds sidewalks? What about lighting on WFD and crosswalks from the school across WFD? (Needs to be signal) In the meantime what is the traffic mitigation plan? There is not even a continuous sidewalk on Ostman. How will kids from Arbor Cove and Willamette area theoretically enter?

47). What is the distance of Safe Route to School? No scale on map. Would students have walked on day like today? (Cold, rainy). Can the School District provide scenarios for kids waking/biking to school from various points of waking boundary to pressure test the system and identify any gaps? Eg. No lights, no sidewalks, no crosswalks. Will the Safer Routes to School be completed by fall 2023? If not, what is the interim plan for students to safely walk or for additional car traffic for walking boundary residents? Are there ped entrances besides the roadway (Brandon Pl.)? That is a long way around to walk. It appears that there are not enough pedestrian access points fir walking/biking students to encourage walkability. Save the money...Kids will not walk.

48) We will have to live through 2 years of construction!!

49). When do you expect to submit your application?

50). There is usually 2-3 months after the pre – application conference before the required meeting with the affected neighborhood. Why the rush? Why isn't there a meeting before the design is submitted? It seems the district was more interested in engaging the school community early on, than the affected neighborhood. So many "Community Meetings!"

51). The district plans for a growth of an additional 200 students. What neighborhoods will they come from and how will that impact transportation and traffic? (Long Range Planning Report assumes minimal

growth N=23 students in the next 10 years for Willamette, so this increase will NOT walk). The Long Range Plan was off by 424 students last year, now it is 1000 students below plan.

52). What's the LED rating?

53). All parties engaged and employed on this project, including School Board members, should disclose any/all real or potential vested professional interest in housing developments, particularly Stafford/Borland Housing Developments.

54). We have all asked these questions... the District is marching on... "listening," is just a "check the box" activity on the project plan. It is indeed a "check the box" exercise.

55). The first NA meeting was mostly Q & A with very few As.

56). We need speed bumps on Dollar.

57) When drivers get stuck in traffic on Dollar they will find another route. I am very concerned about rush hour drivers diverting from WFD onto Brandon PI. and then driving up Dollar St. to avoid the backup. It seems that additional slowing devices should be incorporated into the design –perhaps speed bumps on Dollar St: speed bumps on Brandon PI. and additional stop signs on Dollar St. between Brandon PI. and Ostman. First responders don't like speed bumps.

58). Other than planting a few additional trees, what specifically has changed given all the community input saying the school is not needed?

59). Just reckless spending

59). By the time the City process begins, the plans are set unless it can be shown they do not meet code. When you say you submit the application to the city, is it the city council who will ultimately approve or not approve the final plan? When exactly will this decision by the city be made? The city council would decide an appeal. This will get kicked to the City Council after the Planning Commission's decision, and then perhaps to LUBA. Do the WL City Commissioners need to approve the district's and WL Planning Commission recommendations? It seems that efforts should be focused on the city council. It is clear that the process is just another box checked. It is more than that since 39% that attend Willamette, and many of those live on the other side of the freeway, and cannot walk to Dollar Street. The number who live near the school is less than 100. Not a neighborhood school

59). This is another Sunset Primary situation.

60) You are deflecting and not provided substantive feedback and actively hearing the concerns.

61) You mentioned minimizing parent traffic on Dollar. What about minimizing or discouraging public traffic on Dollar? If there is means put in to dissuade parents from dropping off kids on Dollar, which seems good to reduce traffic on Dollar. But how can 30% of kids walk to school when you aren't putting in pedestrian entrances because we also want to avoid incentivizing kid drop offs on Dollar St.

62). According to Andrew Tull of 3j Consulting, the Athey Creek site is being saved for all of the houses that will be built in the Stafford Hamlet. OMG I hope not. That does help explain the district's motive for shoving this down our throats...

63) My questions of the district were not answered.

64) This is not an appropriate site for a school of this size, the project should have been paused early on when the district was presented with so much opposition, But, the district just keep moving forward.

65). Other than the building contractors, who really benefits from this school project? It is, Andrew Tull with 3j, he has been an officer with the Home Builders Assoc. The belief everybody will want to live near 205 to get around. To make way for development at Stafford in the distant future. Who will make mega bucks if current ACMS is converted to housing? I guess me for one, as I live in Stafford, but I have no desire to sell until I die. But there are some that want to sell their land, but it is not supposed to occur until after 2030. Home Builders want it now.

66). Too many open enrollment students in the district. Last year 400 students.

67) First they destroy Historic Willamette charm and now this, so sad.

68) The district should just lease new space, it's just 70 students (Art/Tech) now. There are several vacant office properties because of economic downturn and COVID, including World of Speed. What a perfect place for Art/Tech. orientated 3rd high school.

69).They could convert one of the many under enrollment primaries, such as Bolton or Cedar Oak at less than 50% capacity. So many other options that the district seems hell-ben on NOT considering... A remodel of a primary is much cheaper, since nobody really wants to go to Art/Tech as it is now 70 students. They just need to build a new Art/Tech school some place, like where most of the Art/Tech students are from, Wilsonville.

There is more money in new construction. Interesting that he is using "cost" of building in the future, but not the excessive cost to build THIS school on this property!!!

How is this property best suited for the population that it serves? 60% live outside the Willamette area and the growth expected is outside the area as well.

70). If they slow down the traffic that we are already frustrated with, how is this going to help us?

71)The bond was passed and they are required to do this project due to the bond. That is why they are shoving it down our throats and why we should not have approved the bon. They are now legally required to try to do the project. That is why it doesn't matter what we say. They will push this through. It has to be stopped by Planning Commission and City Council, and then LUBA, higher court. That is the only way it will not happen. But we have to have all the correct legal reasons to make it not get pushed through by the higher courts. It was rather despicable how it was placed on the ballot... started off with "necessary electrical upgrades.. blah blah blah...Dollar Wood School. The bond did specifically have the Dollar School in it. It was the bulk of the bond at over \$80M. They can give the money back to bond holder and forget the whole thing. Problem is they issued the bonds at 5% to get a \$10M dollar premium. I listened to the school board meetings leading u to them putting the bond together. They basically said they needed to figure out a way to spend \$200M to renew the bond. If they renewed the bond for less money, the it would be hard to pass in the future, To justify the \$200M, they needed a big project, like the Dollar School. But not all of the bond has been issued, so even though they asked for many things, but they are also building items that were not listed. I asked the district what would happen if they couldn't build. Could bond money be refunded? He said no. They would spend it somewhere else, so this was all a ploy to get money. I was shocked that is how we manage budgets, spend and Bonds existing and added to our property taxes, and no I'm not against taxes, just appreciate proper governance and budget management. These school board members should be sued for fiscal irresponsibility!! They have 3 years t use the bond funds or send it back to the bond holders (federal law). There are so many other ways that public dollars could bring more "good" to our community. The district did not want to give up the \$3/\$1000 of assessed value for CIP as previous Bonds expire. District didn't want taxpayers to get to paying less and then have to come back when there was a real need for more schools.

72). It seems, that as a first concrete step, the focus should be on getting things changed through the City Council. There are less expensive and disruptive alternatives that can much better meet the needs of WL.

73). Perhaps suing is an option, but there is an election for 3 positions in May 2021. Choose people who will listen.

74). If Brandon PI. extension is required by code for emergency access, have you considered gating the entrance from Brandon so that public traffic isn't allowed, but it is still accessible for emergency vehicles? So a gate would work?

75). What is sidewalk infill?

76). There are 185 proposed parking spaces in this Athey Creek plan. That is not enough for back to school nights as Athey now fills in Stafford and Athey parking for back to school nights.

77). Parents will drop off on River Heights Circle, and the kids will walk to the staff parking lot, then traffic will go down River Heights to Brandon PL

78). The school district already sold it to developer, who didn't build in time and lost \$500.K...the district collected \$500.K and kept the land. The River Heights developer was offered the land at the time they built River Heights and TURNED IT DOWN because it was TOO EXPENSIVE to build on. But they could sell it again, right? Yes, but it's not easily buildable land, it is expensive to make it buildable which is one of the issues. It is true they could sell it and houses could be built. Or they could build a smaller school, like an outpost of CREST. They could sell it, or we as citizens could fundraise to buy the land as a park for the city, similar to how Savanna Oaks Park was saved. Yes, they could sell it. The developer who put money down was going to build but housing went south so he had to back out. It was my understanding that he has the first chance to buy, if they do decide to sell. Yes, I think we would all have an easier time to support an outdoor school. They did sell it to Renaissance Homes as the lack of population growth showed no need for the land. But in 2008 he defaulted on the purchase and the value of the land crashed. So the board was holding the land until the market would really recover. The developer planned a densely developed neighborhood, and then had to give up the property in 2008 when he was hit by recession and declared bankruptcy. The neighborhood he proposed would probably have caused more traffic issues than a school. It wasn't going to be high density, just go to River's Edge at Blankenship (those are not high density) The best use of the property is a nice park. Everybody walks through the woods first, then through Fields Bridge Park. Walking up and down Dollar St. is now done. METRO can also buy the land. They have purchased 2 parcels within 1,000 ft. of this site, one being more than 40 acres in just the past 3 years. If you go to the METRO site to see the land purchases. Just contact the METRO representatives to get it started, I have. This only works if the district is willing to sell, which they are not.

79). How do we get a special election to call out the misleading language of the bond which has led us here? All bonds are written to pass, it is incumbent on each of us to do our due diligence before voting. Great question, is that even possible? They used the listserv, which should not be done, to mislead the voters. It should never be done again. Look at all the elections to recall officials, repeal legislation, ect.

80). I don't think that anyone on this call is against education/children... and the info shared about taxes is deeply disturbing. It would be great if we could save in property taxes, get together, buy this property from the district and save as a shared natural space. This property needs to be a park.

81). When will the district provide a comprehensive side by side comparison of facilities provided at the current Athey Creek School and those at the proposed new middle school? This has been requested numerous times through various avenues and has not yet been provided.

82) Having the required meeting with WNA just 9 hrs. following the pre-application conference required by the city is deliberately circumventing the public process intended by City code..

83). How many students at 3rd high school to open in 2023? They say 300 – 500, but Art/Tech is closing after next year and right now they only have 70 students. The truth is the 3rd high school s for homes being built in Stafford, even though it will be more than 10 years from now. They say look at all of the development at Frog Pond. After the Street of Dreams last year, no additional building has taken place in Frog Pond. People are afraid to move to Wilsonville and have to go to one primary that is more than 250

students below capacity as the test scores for that primary school on average are below 50% of standard.

84). Q & A Neighborhood meeting (WNA) please, rather than just a listen webinar. Thank you.